DotFETs: MOSFETs strained by a Single SiGe Dot in a Low-Temperature ELA Technology

PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Technische Universiteit Delft, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus Prof. ir. K. C. A. M. Luyben, voorzitter van het College voor Promoties, in het openbaar te verdedigen

op 20 oktober 2011 om 10:00 uur

door

Cleber BIASOTTO

Master of Science in Electrical Engineering State University of Campinas, Campinas, São Paulo, Brazilië geboren te Campinas, São Paulo, Brazilië Dit proefschrift is goedgekeurd door de promotor: Prof. dr. L. K. Nanver

Samenstelling promotiecommissie:

Rector Magnificus, voorzitter

Prof. dr. L. K. Nanver, Technische Universiteit Delft, promotor

Prof. dr. ir. J. W. Slotboom, Technische Universiteit Delft

Prof. dr. Ir. R. Dekker, Technische Universiteit Delft

Prof. dr. D. Grützmacher, Forschungszentrum Jülich, Germany

Prof. dr. Y. Zhuang, Wright State University, Ohio, U.S.A.

Prof. dr. J.A. Diniz, Universidade de Campinas, Brazil

Dr. ir. V. Jovanović, Technische Universiteit Delft

Cleber Biasotto,

DotFETs: MOSFETs strained by a Single SiGe Dot in a Low-Temperature ELA Technology,

Ph.D. Thesis Delft University of Technology,

with summary in Dutch.

The research described in this PhD thesis has been financially supported by the FP6 European Commission Framework Programme Six under the project "Disposable Dot Field Effect Transistor for High Speed Si Integrated Circuits (D-DotFET)".

Keywords: CMOS, MISFETs, strained silicon, silicon-germanium dots, excimer laser annealing, ultrashallow junctions, low-temperature gate-stack, DotFET, D-DotFET.

ISBN: 978-90-8570-425-6

Copyright © 2011 by Cleber Biasotto

All rights reserved. No part of the material protected by this copyright notice may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any other means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or by any other information storage and retrieval system, without the prior permission of the author.

Dedico este trabalho a minha esposa Andréa e minha filha Stephanie

Contents

1	Intro	oduction	1				
	1.1	CMOS downscaling and performance enhancement					
		1.1.1 Basic theoretical considerations	14				
	1.2	Ultrashallow soure/drain fabrication	23				
		1.2.1 Rapid thermal annealing	24				
		1.2.2 Laser annealing	25				
		1.2.3 Shalow junction evaluation techniques	26				
	1.3	Strained channel engineering	27				
	1.4	SiGe dot fabrication and properties	31				
		1.4.1 SiGe dot growth	32				
	1.4.2 Analysis of strain						
	1.5	The Disposable DotFET concept	41				
		1.5.1 Industrially compatible D-DotFET process flow	41				
	1.5.2 Device simulations						
	1.6	Outline of the thesis	47				
2	Excimer laser annealing for self-aligned n^+p junctions						
	2.1	Dimes excimer laser system	50				
	2.2	2.2 Reflective mask for laser anneling					
	2.3	2.3 Low energy implantation and laser anneling					
	2.4	4 Junction morphology and doping profile					
	2.5	Integrity of Al reflective mask					
	2.6	Self-aligned n ⁺ p junction					
		2.6.1 Self-aligned n^+p junction fabrication	65				
		2.6.2 Electrical device characterization	71				
	2.7	7 Conclusions					

v

Meta	al-Insulator-Semiconductor capacitors parameters			
3.1	Extraction of MIS capacitor parameters			
3.2	The fabricated high-k dielectrics	81		
	3.2.1 ICP SiO _x N _y	84		
	3.2.2 ALD Al_2O_3	85		
3.3	Electrical capacitor characteristics	86		
	3.3.1 Single-gate dielectrics	86		
	3.3.2 Double-gate dielectrics	89		
	3.3.3 Current-Voltage characteristics	93		
	3.3.4 Summary of MIS capacitor properties	93		
3.4	Conclusions	94		
MISFET devices				
4.1	Extraction of MOSFET parameters	97		
4.2	n-MISFET ring-gate test structures	101		
4.3	Electrical test device characterization	110		
4.4	Fabrication of n- and p-MISFETs	117		
4.5	Electrical device characterization	121		
4.6	Laser irradiation overlap			
4.7	Conclusions			
DotFET devices				
5.1	The DotFET fabrication process	143		
	5.1.1 Seed holes patterning	145		
	5.1.2 SiGe dots and strained silicon	149		
	5.1.3 Gate stack, source and drain surface preparation	153		
	5.1.4 Titanium nitride/aluminium metal-gate	157		
	5.1.5 Low energy implantation and laser annealing for shallow source/drain doping	160		
	5.1.6 Contacts and metallization	162		
52	Electrical device characterization	164		
53	D-DotFET devices	174		
5.4	Self heating simulations: D-DotFET versus SOI-FET	177		
	Meta 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 MISI 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 DotF 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4	 Metal-Insulator-Semiconductor capacitors parameters 3.1 Extraction of MIS capacitor parameters 3.2 The fabricated high-k dielectrics 3.2.1 ICP SiO_xN_y 3.2.2 ALD Al₂O₃ 3.3 Electrical capacitor characteristics 3.3.1 Single-gate dielectrics 3.3.2 Double-gate dielectrics 3.3.3 Current-Voltage characteristics 3.3.4 Summary of MIS capacitor properties 3.4 Conclusions MISFET devices 4.1 Extraction of MOSFET parameters 4.2 n-MISFET ring-gate test structures 4.3 Electrical test device characterization 4.4 Fabrication of n- and p-MISFETs 4.5 Electrical device characterization 4.6 Laser irradiation overlap 4.7 Conclusions DotFET devices 5.1 The DotFET fabrication process 5.1.1 Seed holes patterning 5.1.2 SiGe dots and strained silicon 5.1.3 Gate stack, source and drain surface preparation 5.1.4 Titanium nitride/aluminium metal-gate 5.1.5 Low energy implantation and laser annealing for shallow source/drain doping 5.1.6 Contacts and metallization 5.2 Electrical device characterization 5.3 D-DotFET devices 5.4 Self heating simulations: D-DotFET versus SOI-FET 		

5.5 Conclusions	178
Conclusions and recommendations	180
References	186
List of symbols and abbreviations	202
Summary	208
Samenvatting	214
List of publications	222
Acknowledgements	226
About the author	230
	 5.5 Conclusions Conclusions and recommendations References List of symbols and abbreviations Summary Samenvatting List of publications Acknowledgements About the author

Chapter 1

Introduction

The work that is the basis of this thesis was performed in the context of the European Sixth Framework Program FP6 project "Disposable Dot Field Effect Transistor for High Speed Si Integrated Circuits", referred to as the D-DotFET project. This was a very challenging project that started in October 2005 with the goal of realizing strain-enhanced mobility in CMOS (Complementary-Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor) transistors by transferring strain from a self-assembled germanium dot to the channel of a transistor fabricated above the dot. If the strain transfer from the dot to the channel could be fixed by other materials early in the processing, the dot could then be removed at the beginning of the device processing. The idea was thus to dispose of the Ge dot underneath the channel after the gate processing so that the gate-stack could serve to stabilize the channel-bridge and maintain the strain induced in the channel silicon by the Ge dot. A sketch of what the final structure could look like is given in Figure1.1.

1

To make the D-DotFET concept attractive for CMOS production, research was performed in several areas to assure that the stringent requirements on uniformity, reproducibility and reliability could feasibly be met. Firstly, the skill of growing silicon germanium (SiGe) dots with the necessarily high Ge content, uniformity and reproducibility was brought to a high level of perfection [1-2]. Secondly, the strain of both bare and overgrown dots was extensively analyzed both experimentally and theoretically [3-9]. Thirdly, the strain that could be transferred to the channel of a Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field Effect transistor (MOSFET) was evaluated in terms of mobility enhancement via device simulations [10-16], and lastly, the actual integration of dots was specially tailored to this application. The latter is the topic of this thesis.

With respect to strain transfer, the advantage of using a SiGe dot was scalability to as low as 10 nm gate dimensions, which is not obvious for currently used methods, some of which are discussed in the following Sections. Moreover, the D-DotFET structure itself offers several advantages for the electrostatic and electrothermal behaviour of MOS devices. For example, Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) devices with fully-depleted channel are a solution for short-channel effects but the insulating oxide beneath the device introduces a thermal management issue. This problem is solved in Silicon-on-Nothing (SON) devices because the insulating region is then only found under the gate while the source/drain regions are still anchored to the thermally conductive bulk silicon. A schematic cross sections comparing a standard n-MOSFET, a SOI n-MOSFET, and a SON n-MOSFET are shown in Figure 1.2. The D-DotFET resembles the SON transistor with of but the added advantage strainenhanced device gain and speed. Thus the D-DotFET combines four aspired features: strain enhanced performance, scalability to future ~ 10 nm generations, suppression of short-channel effects, and good heat dissipation.

The enormous success of present-day strain-enhancement schemes in industry lends itself to the fact that these schemes could be almost directly implemented in running CMOS processes. Hence, in the first year of the D-DotFET project in Delft the work was concentrated on establishing an industry compatible flowchart. This work also received active support from the project partner STMicroelectronics, where the SON process was invented and in development. The resulting process flows, which will be described in Section 1.5.1 of this chapter, are also very closely related to the SON flow. They take advantage from the fact that the SiGe dot is removed early in the process so that the thermal budget of the standard CMOS process can be implemented after dot removal. Then the substrate with the strained channel can be treated almost as a normal substrate and the standard process-steps, including ones at high-temperature, could be transferred directly to the dot situation.

The contributions to the D-DotFET project that are described in this thesis were carried out after the project had already been running for one year. As it happened, in the second year of the project the original D-DotFET team left Dimes (Delft Institute of Microsystems and Nanoelectronics), and the job of realizing a MOS transistor on the SiGe dots was transferred to the Silicon Device Integration group within which this thesis work was performed. After serious evaluation, it became clear that the Dimes cleanrooms were not equipped to set up a state-of-the-art CMOS process. On the other hand, the available expertise and equipment was suitable for running a more advanced process, where excimer laser annealing could be implemented to replace the standard rapid thermal annealing and a metal gate could replace the standard polysilicon gate. The biggest issue was the patterning of ~ 100 nm gate features, which was not possible with the Dimes waferstepper but instead had to be performed by e-beaming by the project partner Forschungszentrum Jülich (FZ Jülich). This was a both time-and cost-consuming step. Therefore, to avoid as many nanoscale lithography steps as possible, geometry with large source-drain contacting areas was devised so that only one step, the ~ 100 nm gate definition itself, needed to be e-beamed.



Figure 1.1: Schematic cross sections of possible DotFET structures for a SiGe dot grown (a) by MBE (Molecular Beam Epitaxy) in seedholes etched directly in the Si and (b) by LPCVD (Low Pressure Chemical Vapor Deposition) in seedholes formed by etching windows in oxide. In both cases the gate is placed in the middle of the dot where the strain is high. The dot can be removed at some stage of the processing.

Another very critical step in the D-DotFET processing is the removal of the dot. Since the goal was in first instance to verify the strain-enhanced gain induced by the dot, it was decided to significantly simplify the transistor processing by retaining the dot throughout. Therefore, a "DotFET" rather than a "D-DotFET" was fabricated as shown in Figure 1.3. This meant that after the dot formation only low-temperature processing steps could be implemented in order to avoid intermixing of Si and Ge and consequent strain relaxation. This was realized in a n-MOSFET process where the temperature was kept below 400 °C after epitaxy by using low-temperature gate dielectrics and a metal gate self-aligned to implanted and laser annealed source/drain regions. This processing scheme is in itself an interesting research topic in view of the drive towards future CMOS generations with high-k dielectrics and metal gates that require similar low-temperature processing. Therefore, the two most important results of this thesis are the demonstration of the applicability of (1) SiGe dots as stressor material and (2) full-melt high-power laser annealing as a technique for lowering the source/drain series resistance in a manner self-aligned to the gate.

In the following sections of this introduction the background knowledge for understanding downscaling and strain-enhanced MOS performance along with the use of stressor materials and techniques is given. Moreover, a description is given of the work performed by the other D-DotFET project partners. Globally, the work within the project was divided as follows:

- Forschungszentrum (FZ Jülich Germany): epitaxial Si/SiGe and dot growth by MBE and CVD (Chemical Vapor Deposition), ebeaming for transistior processing;
- Leibniz Institute for Solid State and Materials Research (IFW Dresden Germany): template assisted SiGe dot growth;
- Johannes Kepler University (Linz Austria): epitaxial Si/SiGe and dot growth by MBE and SiGe dot material analysis;
- University of Milano (Bicocca Italy): modeling of stress in SiGe dots;
- Technical University Wien (Austria): strained device simulations;
- **STMicroelectronics** (Grenoble France): technology advisor, experts in SON processing;
- **Delft University of Technology** (Dimes, The Netherlands): process flowcharts, mask design, device fabrication and electric characterization.



Figure 1.2: Schematic cross sections comparing the final structures of (a) a standard n-MOSFET, (b) a SOI n-MOSFET, and (c) a SON n-MOSFET.



Figure 1.3: Schematic cross sections of the (a) DotFET and (b) D-DotFET structures.

1.1 CMOS downscaling and performance enhancement

The basic structure of conventional n-MOSFET and p-MOSFET devices is given in Figure 1.4, and both p-channel and n-channel MOSFETs in a complementary circuit is given in Figure 1.5 [17]. The CMOS is a technology used for a wide variety of analog and digital circuits. Shallow Trench Isolation (STI) is generally used on new CMOS process technology to isolate the devices in substitution of Local Oxidation of Silicon (LOCOS). The Figure 1.5 shows the cross-section of the CMOS technology where the p-channel and n-channel MOS are fabricated on the same substrate.



Figure 1.4: Schematic diagram of an n-MOSFET (a) and p-MOSFET (b).



Figure 1.5: Cross-section of the CMOS technology where the p-channel and n-channel MOS are fabricated on the same substrate. Shallow-trench isolation is used on new CMOS process technology to isolate the devices.

The International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS), developed by the semiconductor industry, clearly reflects the strong desire of the industry to continue CMOS scaling in the future, preferably according to Moore's Law, that in 1965 predicted that the number of transistors on a chip would double about every two years [18]. This trend is for example seen in Figure 1.6 where the evolution is displayed for Intel® processors and the associated technology node.



Figure 1.6: The evolution of the Intel® processors and the associated technology node as an example of the trend set by Moore's Law [19].

Until today, devices scaling is still the most important way to achieve higher performance, although the technological difficulties are becoming extremely challenging. For example, the ITRS 2009 roadmap predicted a physical gate length of 15 nm in 2015 and contact junction depth (Xj) of 19.8 nm as shown in Table 1.1.

Year of production	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Physical gate length (nm)	27	24	22	20	18	17	15
Physical EOT (nm)	1	0.95	0.88	0.75	0.65	0.55	0.53
Contact Xj (nm)	35.2	32	29	26.7	24.7	22	19.8
Drain extension Xj (nm)	13	12	10.5	10	9.5	8.7	8

Table 1.1: CMOS device parameters quoted in the International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors 2009 [20].

However, to satisfy the ITRS specifications and continue the CMOS device scaling, it has been obvious that new materials and technologies must be introduced. This is summarized in Figure 1.7, in which the challenges for planar technology are indicated [21]. The following quotes from the ITRS 2009 roadmap also underline this picture with focus on the two main challenges that are treated in this thesis, strain-enhanced performance and ultrashallow S/D fabrication:

"Channel strain engineering to increase mobility was introduced to manufacturing several years ago and is an integral part of MOSFET transistor scaling now and in the future. Continued improvement in strain engineering and application to new device structures is identified as an Front End Processes difficult challenge." "The introduction of new materials is also expected to impose added challenges to the methods used to dope and activate silicon. Series resistance is critical in the near term and needs to be addressed to achieve the goals through 2015. ... In addition to the scaling imposed need for producing very shallow highly activated junctions, the limited thermal stability of most high- κ materials is expected to place new boundaries on thermal budgets associated with dopant activation. In a worst-case scenario, the introduction of these materials could have a significant impact on the overall CMOS process architecture."



Figure 1.7: Challenges for planar MOSFET technology [21].

1.1.1 Basic theoretical considerations

The basic structure of conventional n-MOSFET and p-MOSFET devices (Figure 1.4), show the gate length (L), the dielectric oxide thickness (t_{ox}) and the contact junction depth (X_j). Under the gate, the silicon substrate is implanted for adjusting threshold voltage (V_{Th}). The gate electrode is made of highly-doped polysilicon, separated from the silicon substrate by a thin layer of Silicon dioxide (SiO₂) formed by thermal oxidation. Sidewall spacers are formed on side walls of the gate structure. The gate oxide, gate electrode and sidewall spacers all together serve as a hard-mask for self-aligned source and drain implantation.

Typical current-voltage (I-V) characteristics of n-MOSFETs are shown in Figures 1.8 and 1.9. The I-V characteristics of p-MOSFETs are a mirror-negative of the I-V n-MOSFET curve. Basically three regions can be identified (Figure 1.8) [22-26]:

- weak inversion or also called the subthreshold region: in this region the gate voltage (V_{GS}) is lower than V_{Th} . The V_{Th} is the gate voltage at which the inversion layer is formed. A weak inversion current can be observed for $V_{GS} < V_{Th}$ and $V_{GS}=V_{DS}=0$, where V_{DS} is the drain voltage;
- linear or triode region: in this region an inversion channel is formed and a current flows from source to drain.. In this case V_{GS} > V_{Th} and V_{DS} < V_{GS} V_{Th}, and the transistor works as a resistor. The source-drain current can be written as:

$$I_{D} = \mu C_{ox} \frac{W}{L} \bigg[(V_{GS} - V_{Th}) V_{DS} - \frac{1}{2} V_{DS}^{2} \bigg], \qquad (1.1)$$

where μ , C_{ox} , W and L are the mobility of the charge carriers (electrons for n-MOSFETs), the gate-oxide capacitance, the channel width and channel length, respectively.

The threshold voltage is defined as:

$$V_{Th} = V_{FB} + 2\psi_F + \frac{\sqrt{4q\varepsilon_{Si}\psi_F N_a}}{C_{ox}}, \qquad (1.2)$$

where V_{FB} is the flat-band voltage, ψ_F the difference between the intrinsic level and Fermi level, ε_{Si} the dielectric constant of silicon, and N_a the dopant density in the channel.

• saturation region: the drain current is controlled by the gate voltage almost totally. The transition between the triode and saturation region is determined by the condition $V_{DS} = V_{GS} - V_{Th}$. In this case $V_{GS} > V_{Th}$ and $V_{DS} > V_{GS} - V_{Th}$. The source-drain current can be written as:

$$I_{D} = \frac{\mu C_{ox}}{2} \frac{W}{L} \left(V_{GS} - V_{Th} \right)^{2}.$$
 (1.3)

When the transistor is working in the weak inversion region is possible calculate the subtreshold swing *S*, which is defined as a voltage required to increase or reduce the drain current by one decade. It can be expressed as:

$$S = \left(\frac{\partial \log(I_{DS})}{\partial V_{GS}}\right)^{-1} = \frac{\partial V_{GS}}{\partial \log(I_{DS})}$$
(1.4)

where I_{DS} is the drain current.

The transconductance (g_m) quantifies the drain current variation with a gate-source voltage variation, keeping the drain-source voltage constant and can be written as:

$$gm = \frac{\partial I_{DS}}{\partial V_{GS}}\Big|_{V_{DS}}$$
(1.5)

With the transcondutance value it is possible calculate the effective mobility:

$$\mu = \frac{LAgm}{WC_{\alpha x}V_{DS}} \tag{1.6}$$

where A is the gate area.

The transcondutance and mobility are important electrical parameters in evaluating the performance of MOS transistors.



Figure 1.8: Output characteristics, I_{DS} versus V_{DS} , of an n-MOSFET.



Figure 1.9: Transfer characteristics, I_{DS} versus V_{GS} , versus of a n-MOSFET.

The shrinking of lateral dimensions is invariably followed by vertical downscaling, requiring ever more shallow junctions, a particularly challenging task for source and drain junctions in highly-scaled CMOS. The ITRS roadmap calls for junction depths below 20 nm from 2013 onwards

while, at the same time, the source/drain series resistances must be kept low enough to effectively limit the voltage loss across these regions [20]. To achieve this, the increase in series resistance resulting from reduced junction depth must be counteracted by increasing the doping level in the source and drain regions. Doping technology together with new annealing techniques is necessary to provide solutions for the advanced device technology. Highly activated ultrashallow junctions (USJ), and abrupt dopants profiles are expected in order to minimize the short channel effect (SCE) which can decrease the threshold voltage and mobility of carriers. The SCE can be observed when the channel length of the transistor is of the same order of magnitude as the depletion-layer widths in the channel region. The situation of short channel is characterized when the amount of charges controlled by gate is the same order that the charges on source and drain depletion region. The main SCE are:

- **drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL) and punch through**: when the drain voltage increases, the electric field of the drain can penetrate to the source area reducing the potential energy barrier of the source-channel junction. The punch through effect is associated to the current flow at the bulk (substrate) region and DIBL attributed to the surface current.
- **hot electrons**: this effect is related to high electric field, mainly in the drain region. This high electric field induces high energy electrons (hot electrons) by impact ionization which can be injected and

trapped in the oxide gate rising the oxide charge and increasing the threshold voltage.

To minimize the SCE, the capacitance C_{ox} should be increased for better gate-control of the channel and the junction depth should be decreased. Other requirements for future technologies also need to be considered such as the parasitic series resistance of the transistor, which must be minimized as shown in Figure 1.10. Basically, the parasitic series resistance consists of the [27,28]:

- *R_{co}*: contact resistance between the metal contact and implanted source/drain regions;
- *R*_{sh}: resistance determined by the sheet resistance (*Rs*) of the source/drain regions. This resistance can be influenced by changing the junction depth and/or concentration of dopants;
- *R_{sp}*: Spreading resistance, which is strongly dependent on the lateral doping abruptness of the source/drain extension;
- *R_{ol}*: overlap resistance in the overlap region between the gate and the source/drain;
- R_{ch} : channel resistance between the source and drain of the transistor.

For future CMOS technology nodes the objective is to reduce the contact and overlap resistivity [29].



Figure 1.10: Cross-section of the MOS transistor illustrating the parasitic series components.

For the scaling of MOSFET devices down to sub 45 nm dimensions, new materials and device concepts are under consideration:

silicon dioxide has been used for decades as a gate dielectric, but for thin gate dielectrics (< 1 nm) the tunneling leakage of thermal SiO₂ becomes excessive. New materials are therefore being sought with high dielectric constants (high-k), good quality interfaces with Si, thermal and chemical stability, in order to maintain the downscaling of the capacitance while avoiding the tunneling effect. Silicon oxynitride (SiO_xN_y) films may extend the limit on oxide thickness a little further. It has been shown that SiO_xN_y can be beneficial for reduction of the leakage current, reliability enhancement, and suppression of boron penetration [30-33]. A gate dielectric with higher dielectric constant (higher than SiO₂) can, at the same

thickness, achieve a smaller equivalent oxide thickness (EOT). Table 1.2 gives a list of alternatives gate dielectrics and relevant properties. The capacitance of a metal-insulator-semiconductor (MIS) structure can be written as:

$$C_{ox} = \frac{\varepsilon_o \varepsilon_{ox} A}{t_{ox}}$$
(1.7)

where ε_{ox} the corresponding dielectric constant and ε_o the permittivity of free space (F/cm);

- ultrashallow junctions are required for the source and drain extensions in order to suppress the Short Channel Effects. In this thesis, excimer laser annealing (ELA) of implanted ions is studied for the formation of USJ. This option will discussed in the next section
- reduction of power dissipation;
- improvement of lithography processing;
- etc.

Material	Dielectric Constant (k)	Band gap E _G (eV)	Conduction band offset (∆ <i>Ec</i>) (eV)
SiO ₂	3.9	8.9	3.2
Si ₃ N ₄	7.0	5.1	2
Al ₂ O ₃	9.0	8.7	2.8
HfO ₂	25	5.7	1.5
ZrO ₂	25	7.8	1.4
La ₂ O ₃	30	4.3	2.3
Ta ₂ O ₅	26	4.5	1-1.5

Table 1.2: Properties of high-k dielectric alternatives to SiO₂ [34].

Next to the high-*k* gate dielectrics, new metal gate electrodes, materials with low-*k* for interconnections [35] and also new substrates have been used in order to improve performance of the circuits. During the past years strained Si Metal-Insulator-Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor (MISFET) devices technology have emerged, and they are also studied on alternative substrates such as Ge and GaAs.

Future downscaling of CMOS technology depends on the ability to suppress SCEs, which is becoming more difficult in standard bulk devices due to the increase of tunneling at the drain junction as the doping concentration in the body is increased. One answer to the challenge of SCEs is expected to be fully-depleted structures, such as ultra-thin-Body Siliconon-Insulator (UTB SOI) devices and FinFETs, which inherently have superior electrostatic integrity as compared to bulk devices. A variant of SOI technology is the silicon-on-nothing process in which a layer of SiGe is sandwiched between the Si substrate and the Si channel, and is later removed by selective etching from the region underneath the channel, thereby realizing a local SOI structure. This was illustrated in Figure 1.2.

1.2 Ultrashallow source/drain fabrication

In order to meet the junction depth requirements advanced annealing techniques are being developed. These techniques should be able to create shallow or ultrashallow junction with high activation of dopants, free of defects, minimum diffusion (low thermal budget), lateral doping abruptness and low sheet resistance. The requirements for source and drain extensions are expected to be in the order of 10 nm and sheet resistance expected to increase from 660 Ω /square to 1060 Ω /square from the year 2009 to 2015. The limit for the lateral abruptness of the junction is expected to decrease from 2.8 nm/dec. to 1.5 nm/dec. during the same years. To achieve these requirements, different methods have been used for dopants activation.

The laser annealing technique has been studied at Delft Institute of Microsystems and Nanoelectronics – Delft University of Technology (TUDelft) which proved is a technique very attractive for many applications as:

- ultrashallow junctions and contacts formation. Both p⁺n and n⁺p near-ideal diodes were fabricated and evaluated in order to apply this technology in bipolar transistor and FET devices [36,37];
- Junction Field Effect Transistors (JFETs) [38];
- Silicon-on-Glass (SOG) bipolar transistors with laser annealed Schottky collector [39-42];
- varactor diodes [37];
- SiGe heterojunction bipolar transistors [43].

1.2.1 Rapid thermal annealing

Rapid Thermal Processing (RTP) is a method which heat the silicon wafer rapidly to an elevated temperature (up to 1000 °C) and cooling to perform the activation of dopants in few seconds and with ramp rate typically 20-250 °C/sec [44,45]. This process can be also used for oxidation [46], silicide formation [47] and deposition [45]. The RTP equipments often use banks of tungsten-halogen lamps to provide a convenient heating to the silicon wafer and the radiant energy that the Si wafers is receiving from the lamps is controlled by a pyrometer. This system can be used for spike annealing in order to obtain shallow junction, where the temperature of silicon wafer is ramped to high values and after reach the desired temperature level the system is then cooled immediately [45]. In the RTP diffusion effects and low activation of dopants are present [48]. To avoid these problems new technologies need to be explored and developed.

1.2.2 Laser annealing

As mentioned previously the diffusion effect and low activation of dopants are presents in the RTP system. To improve these effects, a new system with faster ramp rate is necessary. The laser annealing system can offer a faster ramp rate, faster cooling rates and reduce thermal budget. The studies of laser radiation on solids and the effects date back to 1971 [49]. Many different types of laser annealing systems have been used for dopants activation post lower energy implants [50].

During the laser irradiation the solid is bombarded by a beam of photons focused on a sample. These photons will interact with the electrons of the sample transferring energy to the lattice and this energy will heat the sample locally. The wavelength of the light determines how the energy will be absorbed in the solid or in our case in the silicon. ELA has the shortest annealing times and practically eliminates any Transient Enhanced Diffusion (TED) effects of the dopants and also offers benefits such as precise control of the junction depth, good abruptness of dopant profile and high dopant activation [51-56]. The depth of junctions processed by ELA can be precisely controlled by the amorphizing ion implantation since the amorphous silicon has a lower melting temperature than the crystalline one and the energy density of the laser light can be adjusted to only melt the top amorphous region, making the junction depth aligned to the edge of the silicon amorphized by ion implantation. Thus, lowering of the vertical implantation range can serve as a simple mean for the further reduction of junction depth.

1.2.3 Shallow junction evaluation techniques

Four-point resistance measurements

Four-point probe is simple system which is used to measure the resistivity of a thin film or diffusion layer. By passing a current through the outside probes and measuring the voltage through the inner probes allows measurement of the substrate resistivity [57]. In this thesis it is used to measure the sheet resistance on a semiconductor substrate after low energy implantation and activation of dopants by laser. A CDE Resmap meter was used to measure the sheet resistance of the p-type samples, with starting resistivity of 2-5 Ω cm and implanted at low energies (5 keV). To be able measure ultrashallow junctions a probe with low contact force needs to be use to avoid the penetration of the needles through the formed junction.

Secondary ion mass spectroscopy

Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry (SIMS) is a technique used to analyze the composition of thin films and solid surfaces. The bombardment of a sample surface with a primary ion beam causes the sputtering of the surface specimen and collecting and analyzing the ejected secondary ions. These secondary ions are analyzed by a mass spectrometer. This technique

provides information about the elemental, isotopic and molecular composition of atomic layers [58].

Transmission electron microscopy

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) is a technique whereby a beam of electrons is transmitted through the sample, which makes it possible to visualize the cross section of the samples. This technique is capable of imaging at higher resolution (atomic resolution). The samples are specially prepared to thicknesses which allow electrons to transmit through [59]. TEM images were used to evaluate the source and drain junctions in p and n-MOS transistors as well as the gate channel.

1.3 Strained channel engineering

The influence of mechanical strain on carrier transport in silicon has been utilized since the 90 nm node to enhance mobility in CMOS devices [60]. As can be deduced from equations 1.5 and 1.6 this enhanced mobility will increase the current gain and speed of the devices. Experimental results have shown the electron mobility for n-MOSFET devices of approximately 70% high than unstrained Si (Figure 1.11) and the application of this technique, which can create electron mobility benefits from the reduction in longitudinal effective mass, which happens inside the silicon channel once it is subjected to uniaxial and/or biaxial strain. The uniaxially strained channel employed in current CMOS technology requires a certain amount of effective area at the source and drain regions to transfer mechanical force to

the channel, the processing of which will become more and more difficult as the devices are scaled down. The biaxial tensile strain is another technology for enhancing both electron and hole mobility. Usually the biaxial tensile strain can be obtained by epitaxially growing relaxed SiGe layers underneath the channel region. This layer is susceptible to misfit dislocations [61,62] which depend on the Ge content and thickness that can propagate during the processing into the silicon channel and can cause device malfunction.



Figure 1.11: Effective Mobility of n-MOSFET devices with strained Si [63].


Figure 1.12: Strained Si MOSFET structures. (a) strained Si on SiGe "virtual substrate", (b) strained Si by embedded SiGe, (c) strained Si on SiGe/buried oxide layer, (d) strained Si on buried oxide layer, (e) strained Si by silicon nitride cap layer and (f) strained silicon by reverse embedded SiGe (e-SiGe) structure [64-67].

Strained Si channel improves the carrier mobility of MOSFETs [64] and different structures have been shown during the past years as strained Si on SiGe "virtual substrates" [68,69], strained Si by embedded SiGe, strained Si on SiGe/buried oxide layer, strained Si on buried oxide layer, strained Si by silicon nitride cap layer and strained silicon by reverse embedded SiGe structure (see Figure 1.12) [64-67]. On strained Si/SiGe MOSFET devices, the 4.2% lattice mismatch between Si and Ge induce strain on Si layer (used on the channel) when grown on relaxed SiGe [66]. The SiGe relaxed layer needs to be grown with low defect density to obtain a good strained Si layer and improve mobility.



Figure 1.13: Main steps of the IBM reversed e-SiGe device fabrication process [70].

The IBM, in 2006, reported a technology similar to the DotFET that utilizes local SiGe stressor (see Figure 1.12 (f)) [70]. Afterwards, the Section 1.5.2 will show a comparison between both IBM and DotFET technologies. In the IBM process, the source and drain areas are created by selective epitaxial growth to create a strained Si channel. The IBM processing can be seen in Figure 1.13. The TEM image in Figure 1.14 shows the IBM reverse e-SiGe n-MOSFET.



Figure 1.14: Cross section TEM images of the IBM reverse e-SiGe n-MOSFET [70].

1.4 SiGe dot fabrication and properties

The SiGe dots used for the DotFET fabrication were grown in a selfassembling Stranski-Krastanow (S-K) [4] mode that allows singlecrystalline dots of SiGe to grow in three-dimensions on predefined seedholes. Under appropriate conditions this growth is defect free and can easily be scaled down. The 3D growth of the SiGe allows a higher Ge content inside the dot before the onset of crystal dislocations as compared to the growth of 2D SiGe layers of similar thickness. The smaller the SiGe dots the higher the Ge content that can be maintained without defect formation and consequently a higher strain can be exerted on any Si layer

Introduction

grown over the dot. The dots can be grown in a controllable way by either MBE on a silicon substrate with a regular seedhole pattern of submicron periodicity etched into the Si, or by chemical-vapor deposition (CVD) where the dot location is controlled by opening seedholes through an oxide layer to the Si substrate. For the devices described in this thesis, the growth by MBE was investigated in detail in order to determine the optimum growth conditions and seedhole-patterns for achieving a dot-size and strain level suitable for constructing a MOSFET over the center of the dot structure where the biaxial tensile strain could be exploited for channel mobility enhancement. An example of such a structure is shown in Figure 1.1 along with the situation that could be envisioned in the case of a selective CVD process.

1.4.1 SiGe dot growth

For a uniform and reproducible SiGe dot growth, excellent results were achieved by a location-controlled growth method where large, regular arrays of seedholes are patterned on an otherwise flat Si substrate [1,2]. In the case of growth by MBE, suitable seedholes can be fabricated by etching holes directly in the Si. In the present work, both i-line optical lithography and ebeam lithography (EBL) were used to pattern such holes in (100) Si wafers. The results obtained by patterning with optical lithography will be discussed in Chapter 6 along with the double patterning and spacer technology used to obtain the submicron size and pitch needed for successful dot growth. In the case of e-beam lithography a very good control of the seedhole positions and size is obtained and the resulting dots are extremely regular as seen in Figures 1.15 and 1.16.



Figure 1.15: Image of typical of e-beam lithography seedholes taken by Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM). The holes are 45nm in depth. Image from Forschungszentrum Jüllich.

The growing of the dots above the seedholes is performed as follows: first a Si buffer layer is deposited which smoothes the surface and transforms the circular pit into one that is square based [61,71]. The dots are then grown at 720 °C from a pure Ge source and they initially take on the form of prepyramids, but with a larger Ge volume they transform into truncated pyramids, then complete pyramids, transition domes and finally domes as shown in Figure 1.17 [71]. With a further supply of Ge, they evolve into barn and superdome shapes but at this stage dislocations start to appear. The present DotFET fabrication required a dot size that could accommodate a gate of length ~ 100 nm. For this purpose the most suitable seedhole arrays were the ones with a periodicity of 800 nm that rendered a maximum dot diameter in the range of 230 nm. EBL patterning of this configuration was used for the device fabrication, while analysis of the dot properties was also performed on samples processed with optical lithography.



Figure 1.16: An array of SiGe dots imaged by AFM (a) and a linescan along the [110] direction (b). The dots are grown by MBE at 720°C on a Si surface prepatterned with seedholes defined by EBL. Data from Forschungszentrum Jülich and Johannes Kepler University Linz.



Figure 1.17: SiGe dots grown by MBE at 700°C from a pure Ge source. They initially take on the form of prepyramids (a), but with a larger Ge volume they transform into truncated pyramids, then complete pyramids, transition domes and finally domes (f) [71]. Data from University of Milano Bicocca.

It is moreover possible to grow very small sub-100-nm dots by patterning very dense seedhole arrays, which has been demonstrated in several cases by using either EBL, nano-imprint lithography (NIL) or interference lithography (IL) as shown in Figures 1.18, 1.19 and 1.20, respectively. Here also the very good pattern control of such fine lithography technology translates into very uniform dot arrays.



Figure 1.18: AFM image of an array of SiGe dots grown by MBE on a prepatterned substrate (a) (c) and a height measurement over the sample (b) (d). The inset in top-left corner shows the seed holes before the growth [71, 72]. AFM data from Johannes Kepler University Linz.



Figure 1.19: AFM image of ordered SiGe island arrays grown on NIL patterned Si substrate. Data from Forschungszentrum.



Figure 1.20: Ordered CVD-grown Ge islands on IL patterned Si(100) substrates. Deposition temperature 700°C; Si buffer 11 nm thick; Ge nominal thickness ~1.2 nm. Data from Forschungszentrum Jüllich.

1.4.2 Analysis of strain

The SiGe dots were analyzed with respect to their shape, Ge content and strain. The latter is also examined in layers that were used to cap the dots. In particular, X-ray diffractometry (XRD) was performed on the arrays of SiGe dots grown on substrates patterned by optical lithography and capped with 50-nm-thick silicon layer that was grown *in-situ* after the dot formation. From these measurements the Ge content and the strain in the top silicon layer could be determined. To account for the influence of later process steps related to device fabrication, some samples were additionally capped with a 55-nm-thick layer of silicon nitride deposited by plasma-enhanced (PE) CVD. From the inspection of the measured XRD reciprocal space maps around a (224) Bragg reflection already a rough approximation of the strain and composition can be made. To improve the accuracy, a procedure was developed where the Ge content distributions of the uncapped and capped islands were modeled as an input for finite-element-method (FEM) simulations using the data on the shape of these structures from the AFM measurements. The resulting displacements from the FEM simulations were then used as an input for calculations of the scattered x-ray intensity distribution [9, 73]. This procedure was repeated until a satisfactory agreement between experimental x-ray data and the calculations was achieved. The scattered x-ray intensities for the uncapped samples correspond to a Ge content ranging from 14 % to 47 % for dome-shaped islands and from 36 % to 46 % for barns [9]. The fitting of the simulation data, an example of which is given in Figure 1.21, shows that the center of the silicon capping layer is under a tensile strain of about 0.8 % without and 0.7 % with a 55 nm thick nitride capping layer [9,73].



Figure 1.21: XRD measurements fitted to FEM simulations for a SiGe dot capped with 50 nm of Si and 55 nm of SiN_x [9]. Experimental data is the colored plot and simulation white contours. Data from Johannes Kepler University Linz.

Measurements also performed Micro-Raman were using spectroscopy on samples with SiGe dots grown at 620°C and capped with Si layers with a thickness of either 5, 10, 20 or 40 nm [8]. In order to characterize the strain of such an array of nanoscale SiGe dots overgrown with silicon, a resonant Raman system was setup with which the penetration depth of light in nanostructures is significantly reduced, from about 1 µm to sub-10-nm values. Moreover, the efficiency of the system is enhanced up to 100 times with respect to systems using out of resonance excitations, significantly increasing the signal-to-noise ratio and thus enabling the characterization of a small scattering volume in the Si cap layer. After the subtraction of a reference spectrum from the spectrum of the sample under test and assuming the same linear relationship between the frequency shift and a value of the strain component ε_{xx} as in the case of a flat (001) surface, the averaging over an area of about 1 μ m² yields detectable strain levels for a Si thickness of up to 20 nm as shown in Figure 1.22 (a). To gain more insight into the properties of a realistically shaped dot structure, the results of the Raman spectra are compared with 3D strain-maps generated by FEM. As seen in Figure 1.22 (b), this analysis confirms that the expected strain level in the centre of the Si capping layer is above 0.5 % for a layer thickness below 40 nm. The good correlation between the strain levels obtained from both the XRD and Raman analysis are an indication of the validity of the analysis methods and corroborate the potential of the 3D SiGe growth as a source of strain for mobility enhancement [8].



Figure 1.22: In-plane strain obtained by assuming a linear relationship between frequency shift and in-plane strain component (a). In-plane strain as a function of depth for different thicknesses of Si grown over a SiGe dot obtained by fitting the FEM results to the measured Raman spectra (b) [8].

1.5 The Disposable DotFET concept

1.5.1 Industrially compatible D-DotFET process flow

For the fabrication of the Disposable DotFET, where standard CMOS steps, including high temperature steps, are to be maintained during the processing after the SiGe dot growth, the dot needs to be removed early in the process to prevent outdiffusion of Ge from the dot. In this case, before the dot removal, the strain that the dot exerts on the Si channel must be transferred to a layer stack deposited over it, typically a layer of silicon nitride or polysilicon as indicated in Figure 1.23. It can be expected that some of the strain will relax after the dot removal, so some of the mobility enhancement is sacrificed in order to achieve a SON structure [15,16]. The process can be designed in such a way as to either fill the empty area left after the dot removal with a dielectric layer, such as in the standard SON process, or so as to leave the area void, since mechanical support is provided by the connection to the source/drain regions and the gate-stack. In the second approach the channel region is very sensitive to the mechanical force exerted from the gate-stack and contact-etch-stop-layer, which can be attractive for additional strain engineering. In particular, by depositing a tensile contact-etch-stop-layer, the tensile strain in the channel can be increased, or by depositing a compressive contact-etch-stop-layer, it can even be reversed to become compressive as is illustrated by the examples shown in Figure 1.24 [15,16]. With this approach, mobility can be optimized for both n-MOS and p-MOS resulting in a highly efficient CMOS process.







Figure 1.24: Simulated transfer characteristics and transconductance of an n-DotFET (left) and p-DotFET (right) when the dot is removed and a 120 nm SiN_x layer with either 1.2 GPa tensile or 2.5 GPa compressive stress, respectively, is applied to fix the strain transferred by the dot to a Si capping layer [15].

1.5.2 Device simulations

In the first stages of the project device simulation efforts were directed towards evaluating the potential performance benefit in transistor gain and speed when adopting the D-DotFET concept [15,16] and results such as those shown in Figure1.25, Figure 1.26 and Figure 1.27 were based on a very limited knowledge of the strain distribution in the SiGe dots and the layers deposited on them. In the course of the D-DotFET project, however, a very detailed knowledge was gathered on the subject. This formed the basis for extensive D-DotFET device simulations performed by the project team at the Technical University Wien.



Figure 1.25: Strain components in the Si capping layer (a) e_{xx} (channel length direction) (b) e_{yy} (channel width direction) (c) e_{zz} (vertical direction) [74]. Data from University of Milano Bicocca.

If we compare the IBM technology mentioned in the Section 1.3 with the DotFET, the DotFET process induce more uniform strain up to 0.7% (Figure 1.25 (a), (b), and (c)) in the Si channel in comparison with 0.24% of the IBM device. For the simulations, the Ge content in the SiGe island is 30% on average, 1.5 nm thick oxide, polysilicon gate, boron doping of $4x10^{18}$ cm⁻³ in the Si cap layer, source and drain regions of 60 nm in width and maximum arsenic doping of 10^{21} cm⁻³ (Figure 1.26) were assumed. The final structure with the simulation grid is shown in the Figure 1.27 (only half of the whole device is simulated). The source and drain regions in the DotFET device are fabricated directly on the Si capping layer grown by MBE over the SiGe island by ion implantation and laser annealing, where in the IBM process the source and drain areas are created by selective epitaxial growth to create a strained Si channel. The simulations done by TU Wien predict for the DotFET the same enhancement in the drive current compared to the IBM process (drive current improvement of 15%) [74].



Figure 1.26: Geometry of the generated transistor structure. Only half of the device is simulated [74]. Data from University of Milano Bicocca.



Figure 1.27: Arsenic profile doping implanted (source and drain area) implanted in the Si capping layer [74]. Data from University of Milano Bicocca.



Figure 1.28: (a) Unstrained and strained output characteristics for gate voltages of 0.7V, 0.9V, 1.1V, 1.3V, and 1.5V (b) Unstrained and strained transfer characteristics for drain voltages of 0.05V and 1.5V [74]. Simulations from Technical University Wien.

The strain is three times higher in the DotFET simulations with the same enhancement of drive current can be attributed to different methods of extraction used. In the Figures 1.28 (a) and (b), the output characteristics for unstrained and strained device and the transfer characteristics for drain voltages of 0.05V and 1.5V are plotted, respectively.

1.6 Outline of the thesis

The thesis is organized as follows:

- Chapter 2, Excimer laser annealing for self-aligned n⁺p junctions, describes the basic laser annealing approach that is used for the fabrication of ultrashallow junctions. This includes the high-power excimer laser system that was used as well as detailed processing considerations and analytical/electrical characterization of the laser annealed layers and junctions. Many aspects must be taken into account in order to achieve near-ideal junctions, such as the silicon surface preparation, the reflective laser masking layer, and the low-energy implantation conditions.
- Chapter 3, Metal-Insulator-Semiconductor capacitors, investigates different gate dielectrics deposited and grown at low temperatures. Several MIS capacitors are fabricated and electrically characterized.

- Chapter 4, MISFET devices describes the n-MISFET and p-MISFET processing for which the ultrashallow source and drain, metal-gate and contacts are all fabricated at low temperatures. The devices are evaluated by an extensive electrical characterization.
- Chapter 5, DotFET devices describes the DotFET process fabrication that makes use of the results of the previous chapters to form ultrashallow source and drain junctions and a metal-gate MOSFET structure on SiGe dots. A detailed electrical characterization is used to evaluate the enhanced gain of these devices. D-DotFET device is also presented.
- Chapter 6, Conclusions and recommendations concludes the thesis with a discussion of the presented topics, along with some suggestions for future work.

Chapter 2

Excimer laser annealing for selfaligned n⁺p junctions

With the revolutionary progress in semiconductor industries, mainly in micro or nanofabrication techniques, new equipment has been developed in order to reach future technology nodes. Excimer laser annealing systems have received interest for application in microelectronics as an alternative low-temperature processing method for the crystallization of amorphous-Si (a-Si) [75]. This includes the laser annealing of implanted regions to form ultrashallow junctions. Many experiments based on doping profiling and sheet resistance measurements have shown that both full-melt and laser thermal processing can result in attractive values for junction depth, abruptness and sheet resistance [76-82]. Recently, much research has been done using excimer laser annealing techniques due to the extremely short annealing times that potentially give an elimination of transient enhanced diffusion effects, high levels of dopant activation and abrupt junctions [83]. Compared to conventional rapid thermal anneal procedures [84] this

49

technique offers extra advantages, such as good control of the junction depth. With this type of annealing a reduction of the vertical implantation range can serve as a direct means of also decreasing the junction depth. The laser processing research performed at Dimes in the past, rather than being aimed at the fabrication of source and drain regions for CMOS, has been motivated by the need to have access to good quality diodes in integration situations where only very low temperatures are permitted, such as in silicon-on-glass processing [85]. This chapter presents generally applicable guidelines for fabricating good quality n^+p junctions with low-energy As⁺ implants and dopant activation by full-melt excimer laser annealing.

2.1 Dimes excimer laser system

The excimer laser system used for the work in this thesis is an Exitech M8000V double laser. The M8000V uses two Lambda Physik LPX 210 xenon chloride (XeCl) excimer laser sources (wavelength of 308 nm) and pulse duration of 25 ns full width at half maximum (FWHM). The energy densities are set through attenuators after which the laser beams are combined by a mirror (M3). A homogenizer is used to produce a flat-top intensity profile over a spot area of 1.75 x 2.5 mm². A schematic of the Exitech M8000V laser system is shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Schematic of the Exitech M8000V laser system [86].

2.2 Reflective mask for laser annealing

In order to selectively activate the implanted dopants without damaging surrounding regions of the sample, a reflective masking layer for the laser light can be used to cover these areas. Layers of Al are well suited to this purpose [87]. In this work sputtered Al is applied. In general, Al is often sputtered at 350°C to achieve good step coverage. At the same time larger grains are formed than would be the case at lower temperatures. For example, sputtering the Al reflective mask at 50°C results in much smaller grains [88], which results in a little more reflective surface than obtained for 350°C depositions. Moreover, the grain size also plays an important role during the subsequent plasma etching step. The large Al grains result in

non-uniform plasma etching and Al layers sputtered at 50°C were used because they gave an overall better end result.

2.3 Low energy implantation and laser annealing

The basic process flow for fabricating shallow junctions by ion implantation and laser annealing is shown in Figure 2.2. Silicon dioxide can be grown or deposited on the silicon surface and covered with a reflection layer of Al, followed by the patterning of the stack. The contact window is opened by dry etching with soft landing on the silicon surface. To prepare the silicon surface for low energy implantation, the native oxide from the silicon surface should be removed. Any remaining native oxide will, besides reducing the dose implanted in the silicon, also roughen the surface and hence also the boundary between the amorphous-Si to crystalline-Si (c-Si). An important step that should be performed immediately before low energy implantation for high cleanliness of the silicon surface and for the native oxide removal is a 4 minutes dip in low concentration HF or a 15 seconds dip in buffered-HF (BHF) (1:7) solution. The aluminium is etched by HFsolutions, but a dip in BHF (1:7) is the preferred way for the native oxide removal since Al etching saturates after approximately 50 nm leaving a sufficiently thick Al/Si(1%) layer remaining as a reflective mask. The Figure 2.3 shows an example of the Al (1%Si) layer after BHF (1:7) dipetch 15 seconds prior to implantation. Aluminium is readily etched by HFsolutions, but a dip in BHF (1:7) is preferable here because the Al etching saturates after approximately 50 nm leaving a sufficiently thick Al/Si(1%) layer to function as a reflective mask. However, any etching of the Al/Si(1%) layer creates a rough surface that degrades the reflectivity. Therefore as

much as possible of the Al should be covered by resist during the dip-etch and implantation. The resist used to pattern the windows themselves cannot be used for this purpose because resist at the window perimeter will then be co-implanted in the openings to the silicon and this degrades the ideality of the final laser-annealed junction. Therefore, an additional lithography step where the contact-window mask is oversized by $0.3 - 0.5 \mu m$ is applied.

A thin α -Si layer is formed by the low energy implantation and the junction depth can be adjusted by implanting dopants at different angles. After implantation, the photoresist is removed and the samples are cleaned and irradiated by the laser light. During the laser annealing, the chuck was kept at room temperature. The laser annealing of the α -Si layer will result in melting at a temperature about 200-300 °C lower than that needed to melt *c*-Si [88, 89]. The melting can then be tuned by the laser energy to propagate until it reaches the crystalline interface. The *c*-Si interface serves as seed for recrystallization of α -Si layer by epitaxy. The quality of the annealed layer depends of the laser energy. The melting can propagate through the crystalline region if the melting temperature of *c*-Si is reached. After the complete crystallization of the amorphous region, the dopants implanted become substitutional in the lattice. The sheet resistance of the implanted layers is strongly dependent on the junction depth [88] as shown further in the Section 2.4.



Figure 2.2: Formation of shallow junctions by low energy implantation followed by laser annealing. The Al layer is a reflective mask for laser light.



Figure 2.3: Example of Al (1%Si) layer after BHF (1:7) dip-etch 15 seconds prior to implantation. Al-etching saturates after approximately 50 nm leaving a sufficiently thick Al/Si(1%) layer remaining as a reflective mask.

2.4 Junction morphology and doping profile

The implanted and laser annealed layers at different tilt angles and laser energies, were analyzed by measuring the sheet resistance with a four point probe. A CDE Resmap sheet resistance meter was used to measure the sheet resistance. The doping profile, concentration of dopants and the junction depth were analyzed by SIMS.

Si wafers with 100 mm diameter were used during all processing. Wafers of p-type (100) (resistivity 2-5 ohm-cm) were used for As⁺ implantation at low energy. Prior to implantation, a 4 minutes dip in low concentration HF (0.55%) is performed to remove native oxide from the Si surface. Then As^+ was implanted with 5 keV to a dose of $1x10^{15}$ cm⁻² with tilt angles of 7°, 30° or 45°. Over the wafer, 1x1 mm² dies were isolated from each other by trench isolation and the sheet resistance was measured for each die by four point probing. The depth of junction process by fullmelt ELA can be precisely controlled by applying an amorphizing ion implantation since amorphous silicon has a lower melt temperature than crystalline silicon, and the energy density of the laser light can be adjusted to only melt the top amorphous region, thus aligning the junction depth to the amorphous/crystalline interface region [89, 90]. Therefore, for this type of annealing a reduction of the vertical implantation range can serve as a direct mean of also decreasing the junction depth. After implantation the samples were leaser annealed. The laser annealing parameters can be varied over the wafer. The main parameters are the scanning of the wafer in columns or in rows at different energies, temperature of the chuck, and overlap of the spots. Other parameters as pulse offset can also be changed. In this work the laser annealing was processed in columns, the chuck was kept at room temperature and 1% overlap of the spots $(1.75 \times 2.5 \text{ mm}^2)$ was used. With 1% overlap only a single pulse irradiation of laser is performed at each position. The layout printed on the wafer is composed of 52 dies and 8 columns (from C1 to C8). The Figure 2.4 shows the configuration applied for laser annealing processing (1% overlap).



Figure 2.4: Configuration applied for laser annealing processing (1% overlap).

The samples are irradiated by the laser light with energy densities varying from 700 mJ/cm² to 1000 mJ/cm² (50 mJ/cm² step, during which the chuck was kept at room temperature. The Figure 2.5 shows the SIMS profile of the 5 keV As⁺ implant with a dose of 1×10^{15} cm⁻² and tilt angles of 7°, 30° and 45°.



Figure 2.5: SIMS profiles of annealed regions implanted at three different angles. Higher tilt-angles reduce the junction depth at the cost of dose loss.

The results of SIMS analysis (Figure 2.5) of samples implanted at either 7°, 30° or 45° show a reduction of junction depth at higher tilt angles (20, 18, 15 nm, respectively), but also reveal a dose loss due to the fact that more ions are reflected from the surface. As the tilt angle is increased the implanted dose reduces from 1.05×10^{15} cm⁻², 7.98×10^{14} cm⁻² to 7.43×10^{14} cm⁻², because more ions are being reflected from the silicon surface, as well as the effective implanted dose being proportional to the cosine of the tilt angle. In the past, low energy BF₂⁺ implantations (5 keV) with a 7° tilt angle, a dose of 1×10^{15} cm⁻² and laser annealing at 600 mJ/cm² and 1100 mJ/cm² have been shown to have junction depths in the 20 – 30 nm range [91].

The sheet resistance of laser annealed As⁺ samples were measured with a four point probe. In Figures 2.6, 2.7 and 2.8 the sheet resistance is shown for the As^+ implanted layer after different laser anneal energy densities (varying from 700 mJ/cm² to 1000 mJ/cm² in 50 mJ/cm² steps) and different implantation tilt angles, 7°, 30° and 45°, respectively. A large spread of the sheet resistance at low laser energy densities can be observed and by increasing the laser energy this spread is reduced. The sheet resistance measurements also show that a higher level of dopant activation is achieved at higher annealing energies. The Figure 2.9 shows the average sheet resistance versus the laser energy density. The TEM analysis (Figure 2.10) shows the As^+ amorphous layer after 5 keV energy implantation at a dose of 1×10^{15} cm⁻² and a 45° tilt. An amorphous region of 13 nm in depth is discerned which compares well with the 15 nm depth found after laser annealing in the SIMS profile. A sheet resistance of 220, 275 and 311 Ω /square is achieved at 1000 mJ/cm² for implantation tilt angles of 45°, 30° and 7° , respectively. In Table 2.1 a summary is given of the obtained SIMS and sheet resistance values.



Figure 2.6: Sheet resistance of a laser annealed $As^+ 5 \text{ keV}$, 10^{15} cm^{-2} , 7° tilt angle implantation versus the laser energy density.



Figure 2.7: Sheet resistance of a laser annealed $As^+ 5 \text{ keV}$, 10^{15} cm^{-2} , 30° tilt angle implantation versus the laser energy density.



Figure 2.8: Sheet resistance of a laser annealed $As^+ 5 \text{ keV}$, 10^{15} cm^{-2} , 45° tilt angle implantation versus the laser energy density.



Figure 2.9: Average of the sheet resistance of a laser annealed As^+ 5 keV, 10^{15} cm⁻², 7°, 30° and 45° tilt angle implantation versus the laser energy density.



Figure 2.10: Cross-sectional TEM image of the edge of the laser annealed junction, 1000 mJ/cm^2 anneal and a 45° implantation tilt.

Table 2.1: Summary of parameters extracted for laser annealed low-energy arsenic implants. Average sheet resistance (*Rs*) is shown.

Laser energy density (mJ/cm ²)	Nominal dose (at./cm²)	SIMS dose (at./cm ²)	Implantation (tilt angle)	Junction depth (nm)	Implantation dose (at./cm ²)	Sheet resistance avg. (Ω/square)
	1 E15	1.05 E15	7°	20	1.05 E15	220
1000	1 E15	7.98 E15	30°	18	7.98 E15	275
	1 E15	7.43 E15	45°	15	7.43 E15	311

2.5 Integrity of Al reflective mask

To investigate the integrity of the Al layer used as a reflective mask during laser annealing two structures were fabricated. The Figures 2.11 (a) and (b) show the structures fabricated.



Figure 2.11: Structures fabricated for testing the Al reflective mask. Structure (a) 100 nm thick Al layer etched in lines over 300 nm thick LPCVD oxide and 30 nm thick thermal oxide and structure (b) an 150 nm thick Al layer etched in lines over a 15nm thick thermal oxide.

To fabricate the first structure (Figure 2.11 (a)), 30 nm thermal SiO_2 is grown at 850°C on the Si substrate, 300nm SiO_2 is deposited by LPCVD at 400°C, and a 100-nm-thick layer of Al(1%Si) is sputtered at 50°C. Windows are patterned by optical lithography. More details about the fabrication of this structure are given in the Section 2.6.1. To create the second structure (Figure 2.11 (b)), 15 nm thermal SiO_2 is grown on the Si substrate and a 150-nm-thick layer of Al(1%Si) is sputtered at 50°C. Lines are patterned by optical lithography. For both structures, the Al layer is sputtered at 50°C to keep the grain size small, which gives a good reflectivity during laser annealing. The samples were irradiated by laser

light with energy densities varying from 700 mJ/cm² to 1000 mJ/cm², during which the chuck was kept at room temperature. After the laser irradiation, significant heating occurs of the Al layer of the first structure (Figure 2.11 (a)), which causes ablation at the edges of the reflective mask that increases with laser energy density, as seen in Figure 2.12(a). The thick underlying oxide layer used in the first structure has low thermal conductivity and the heat is not easily conducted away to silicon substrate. To be able to integrate self-aligned laser annealed junctions, the ablation at the gate edges must be prevented by reducing the thermal resistance of the dielectric layer. In the case of Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor (MOS) devices, a thin gate dielectric has significantly lower thermal resistance, which makes the integration of laser annealing possible [92]. Experiments conducted with 150 nm thick Al reflective mask over 15 nm thick thermal oxide ((Figure 2.11 (b)) show little variation in width of the narrow Al lines (Figure 2.12(b)) which shows the feasibility of masking a full-melt laser anneal with the reflective layer of the metal-gate in MOSFET devices. During the diode processing, a thin layer of Al is used together with oneshot laser annealing to avoid problems with the post-laser-annealing Al morphology.



Figure 2.12: (a) Micrograph of reflective Al layers where ablation has occurred at the edges of the annealed region. The size of ablated region increases with laser energy. (b) SEM micrograph of 150 nm thick Al lines over 15 nm thick thermal oxide after annealing. When the underlying oxide is thin, no ablation occurs [92].

2.6 Self-aligned n⁺p junction

In line with what has been demonstrated in the past [93-98], low energy implantation of As^+ combined with excimer laser annealing is used here to obtain ultrashallow junctions with higher activation of dopants. In this section a description is given of the process fabrication and the electrical characterization of ultrashallow n⁺p diodes which were designed to be implemented in the D-DotFETs.
2.6.1 Self-aligned n⁺p junction fabrication

The basic process flow for fabrication of n^+p and p^+n junctions is shown in the Figure 2.13. Silicon dioxide is used as the surface isolation layer. Of the various possible ways to grow or deposit an oxide layer on the silicon surface, thermal oxidation gives the highest quality oxide also with respect to the interface to silicon. In accordance the etch-rate of thermal oxide during a typical dip-etch step to remove native oxide is low. In our case a 4 min dip in a 0.55% hydrofluoric acid (HF) solution is used and only 10 nm is removed in this step, which is attractive for the control of the lateral dimensions. Oxide layers deposited by LPCVD and plasma-enhanced chemical-vapor-deposition (PECVD) have inferior interface properties and etch significantly faster in HF. On the other hand, they can be deposited at much lower temperatures than normally usable for thermal oxidation, The experiments presented here in detail make use of a 330-nm-thick oxide stack consisting of a 30-nm-thick thermal oxide grown at 850 °C, which gives a good interface to the silicon, covered with a 300 nm thick LPCVD oxide deposited at 700 °C from tetraethyl orthosilicate (TEOS) source, which reduces the total thermal budget. A layer of 100 nm thick aluminium with 1% silicon (Al/Si(1%)) is then deposited by physical vapor deposition (PVD) to serve as reflective masking layer for the laser light, as shown in Figure 2.13. Aluminium has been shown to be efficient in protecting regions that should not be modified during laser annealing [80, 82]. The low implantation energy required for fabricating shallow junctions also makes the implantation profile very dependent on the state of the silicon surface prior to ion implantation. It has been demonstrated that a clean and smooth surface is essential for having good electrical characteristics of the

implanted junctions annealed by ELA, which requires soft landing during reactive-ion etching (RIE) steps and native oxide removal before implanting ions [99]. Various HF solutions can be used for the stripping of native oxide, the applicability of which will depend on the degree to which other layers are etched. Openings in the isolating/reflective stack are patterned in resist and etched by first RIE of Al/Si(1%) using hydrogen-bromide and chlorine plasma and oxide RIE using a fluorine-based plasma. To prevent damage to the silicon surface from the RIE process, the removal of the last part of the oxide isolation is done at lower radio frequency (RF) power - 100 W compared to 300 W during bulk oxide etching. As specified in Table 2.2, soft landing on silicon surface results in smaller surface roughness, as good as the one achieved by wet landing using HF-solutions, but with the advantage of not significantly etching in the lateral direction [99, 100]. The native oxide is removed using a BHF diluted with water in a 1:7 ratio during a 15 seconds dip that is performed immediately prior to the implantation of As⁺ ions. Aluminium is readily etched by HF-solutions, but a dip in BHF (1:7) is the preferable here because the Al etching saturates after approximately 50 nm leaving a sufficiently thick Al/Si(1%) layer to function as a reflective mask. To prevent the Al/Si(1%) etching an additional lithography step where the contact-window mask is oversized by $0.3 - 0.5 \ \mu m$ is applied as mentioned before. The n⁺ region to be laser annealed is formed by a 5 keV, 2-3 x 10^{15} cm⁻² As⁺ implantation with either a 7° or 30° tilt from eight directions. The implanted regions are then annealed by the laser at 1000 mJ/cm² energy density for n⁺p junctions while the wafer-chuck temperature was kept at room temperature. A 4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch is performed to remove the native oxide before metallization, which is done by depositing and

patterning 600 nm Al(1%Si). Alloying in forming gas at 400°C is the final process step. The backside of the wafer was also metalized for contact to the p-substrate. To take full advantage of the laser-annealed ultrashallow junctions TED effects [101-103] need to be avoided after dopant activation by the laser and therefore all thermal processing steps above 400°C were avoided after laser annealing.



Figure 2.13: Process flow for the fabrication of n^+p and p^+n laser annealed diodes.

35 Å

Type of landing	Al	Al/Si(1%)
Hard – 300 W	17 Å	27 Å
Soft - 100 W	12 Å	12 Å

11 Å

Wet - BHF(1:7)

Table 2.2: Pre-implantation surface roughness as a function of the type of reflective mask and the etch process used for landing on the silicon [100].

An overview of the transformations of the contact perimeter at each of these stages is depicted in Figure 2.14. The selectivity of the oxide RIE in the fluorine-based plasma system to silicon is approximately 10:1, but a certain overetch time is included to remove all oxide inside the opening before junction implantation, albeit at lower RF power. Native oxide removal by surface treatment by BHF(1:7) for 15 seconds immediately prior to the As⁺ implantation also etches the isolation oxide in the lateral direction. The LPCVD oxide is removed faster than the thermal oxide, giving a recess of about 60 nm in addition to the 8-9 nm removed near the interface. The slow etch-rate of the thermal oxide is beneficial if maintaining minimum contact window size. This is important since tight control over the junction dimensions is then preserved after this step, but otherwise the type of oxide used at the interface is not critical at this stage of the process. The subsequent high-dose ion implantation amorphizes the surface region of the silicon substrate and also sputters some of the silicon atoms from the surface, an effect that increases with tilt angle: with a tilt angle of either 7°, 30° or 45°, respectively 1, 1.58 or 6 Si atoms are removed per As^+ ion [104]. Illumination by laser light melts the exposed surface layer to a depth that depends on the laser energy, but also on the depth of the region amorphized

by ion implantation because the amorphous silicon has a lower melting temperature than the crystalline silicon [89]. The melt onset begins at 600 mJ/cm^2 and full melt to a depth of 20 nm happens for 1100 mJ/cm^2 [100]. However, for energy densities above 1000 mJ/cm² surface degradation patterns can develop that are referred to as laser-induced periodic surface structuring (LIPSS) and the maximum laser energy density was therefore limited to 1000 mJ/cm² [105]. The high temperature achieved in the melted region decays toward the bulk of the wafer and in the lateral direction, but it can also exceed ablation limits of the aluminium layer used as the reflective mask, in which case some of the Al/Si(1%) is removed from the edges of the openings while the oxide isolation remains unchanged. This is shown in Figure 2.12(a) for contact windows which were opened through the stack of oxide and reflective Al/Si(1%) layers, implanted and laser annealed. A small part of the laser light is absorbed in the Al/Si(1%) and is not conducted away efficiently due to low thermal conductance of the thick underlying oxide. This causes ablation of Al/Si(1%) at the edges that increases with laser energy density [106]. The pre-metallization HF dip-etch further etches the oxide layers and this step can potentially expose the junction edges as indicated in Figure 2.14 (c). For this reason it becomes attractive to use implantations at higher tilt angles to increase the lateral junction extension under the sides. In Figure 2.15, a TEM image of the final contact opening confirms the shape of the edge of the isolation layer, with only a small lateral removal of the thermal oxide layer as opposed to the LPCVD oxide. A slight loss of the silicon surface in the implanted region can also be observed. This may originate from the overetch during oxide RIE, Si sputtering during implantation and/or native oxide removal.



Figure 2.14: Zoom-in of the right corner contact window during the process fabrication. (a) Contact window after dry etching ("soft landing" on Si) (b) BHF (1:7) dip etch, As^+ implantation and excimer laser annealing giving the first enlargement of the contact window in the lateral direction. (c) HF (0.55%) dip etch and metallization giving the second enlargement of the contact window in the lateral direction.



Figure 2.15: TEM image of the right corner contact window [88, 97].

2.6.2 Electrical devices characterization

Previous work has shown good electrical characteristics of laser-annealed junctions [88, 106]. The quality of the ultrashallow n^+p junctions was evaluated here by examining the reverse leakage current and the ideality of the forward current-voltage characteristics using a HP4156B parameter analyzer. The I-V characteristics of the As⁺-implanted diodes laser-annealed with an energy density of 1000 mJ/cm² are shown in Figure 2.16. The measurements were taken at 100 °C in order to reduce the relative influence of the leakage current from Shockley-Read-Hall recombination (also called Recombination through defects) on the diode current in the forward region. From the I-V characteristics in the reverse region, the diodes implanted at 7° with a dose of 2×10^{15} cm⁻² suffer from high leakage, which can be attributed to the oxide recess at the edge of the contact hole, as presented in Figures 2.14 and 2.15. A reduction of leakage is achieved by either increasing the implanted dose from $2x10^{15}$ cm⁻² to $3x10^{15}$ cm⁻² or by increasing the tilt angle from 7° to 30°. Plausibly the increase to 30° shifts the junction perimeter further underneath the isolation oxide preventing the exposure of the junction edge during the pre-metallization dip in BHF(1:7). For implantation at 7°, increasing the dose can have the same effect and, moreover, the higher dopant concentration can also be more effective in limiting the spread of the depletion into the n-region. The energy transferred to the substrate by laser illumination melts the amorphized region which then recrystallizes where the melt zone has extended to the amorphouscrystalline interface. At the perimeter of the diodes the heat transfer to the substrate may be larger than in the middle because the surrounding silicon mass that can absorb the heat is effectively larger. This would mean a less

effective melting of the edge of the diode. Such an effect is probably the cause of the darker edge region seen in the TEM image of Figure 2.10. These regions suggest that there might be some non-annealed point defects near the junction edges, and it is possible that these defects also contribute to a higher leakage along the diode perimeter [104]. This is substantiated by area/perimeter analysis of diodes of different sizes. Typical an characteristics shown in Figure 2.16 for diodes with sizes $2 \times 40 \text{ }\mu\text{m}^2$ and $4 \times 20 \ \mu\text{m}^2$, where the comparison shows that the latter diode with the smaller perimeter is less leaky. When the diodes are biased in forward, the influence of the residual defects can be identified as a deviation of the slope of the I-V characteristics from that of an ideal diode with ideality factor n =1. The extracted values of n, as well as the reverse leakage current at -2 V for the four diodes from Figure 2.16 are summarized in Table 2.3. The larger ideality factors correspond to the diodes with larger leakage in the reverse region and nearly ideal values are obtained for the diodes implanted at 7° to a dose of 3×10^{15} cm⁻² or at 30° and 2×10^{15} cm⁻². The area component of the current at a forward bias of 0.3 V is extracted from the measurements of diodes with different dimensions and the results are given in Table 2.4. As is evident from the extracted values, the largest area component of the current is achieved for the diode implanted at 30° to a dose of 2×10^{15} cm⁻². which is the diode with the shallowest junction. With the scaling down of junction depth to the sub-20 nm range the holes injected into the cathode from the p-substrate travel a very short distance before being recombined at the Al/Si(1%)-Si interface, which can result in a hole current that starts to become comparable to the current of electrons injected from the cathode. On the other hand, the electron current has little dependency on the junction depth since the active doping level inside the n^+ region is close to the maximum that can be achieved and the relative change of the width of the pside of the junction with the junction depth is insignificant. In accordance, the high area component of the forward current confirms that the 30°, $2x10^{15}$ cm⁻² junction is very shallow and has a hole current of the same order of magnitude as the electron current. The hole current can therefore not be neglected.



Figure 2.16: Current-voltage characteristics of n^+p diodes laser annealed at 1000 mJ/cm², for various implantation doses Q and tilt angles.

Table 2.3: Ideality fa	actors and reverse	e leakage currents	extracted at V	= -2 V

Tuble 2.5. Tubunty Tublers and Toverse Tearage Carteries entracted at 7 27
for the six diode measurements plotted in Figure 2.16. The measurements
used for extraction were performed at 100 °C.

Implantation (tilt angle)	Implantation dose (cm ⁻²)	Size (µm ²)	Ideality factor	Reverse current at V = -2 V (A)
7°	$2 \cdot 10^{15}$	2 x 40	1.13	6.2·10 ⁻⁹
		4 x 20	1.12	2.7·10 ⁻⁹
7°	3·10 ¹⁵	2 x 40	1.05	8.3·10 ⁻¹¹
		4 x 20	1.04	5.9.10-11
30°	2·10 ¹⁵	2 x 40	1.04	$10.7 \cdot 10^{-11}$
		4 x 20	1.04	5.9.10-11

Table 2.4: Area component of the current extracted at V = 0.3 V at the temperature of 100 °C.

Implantation (tilt angle)	Implantation dose (cm ⁻²)	Area component at $V = 0.3 V (A/\mu m^2)$
7°	$2 \cdot 10^{15}$	$2.90 \cdot 10^{-10}$
7°	$3 \cdot 10^{15}$	$2.62 \cdot 10^{-10}$
30°	$2 \cdot 10^{15}$	8.96·10 ⁻¹⁰

2.7 Conclusions

A simple, low-temperature process flow for achieving good quality ultrashallow n^+p junction diodes has been demonstrated for 5 keV As⁺ implants activated by excimer laser annealing. With respect to the bulk laterally-uniform part of the diode away from the perimeter, it is important that the Si-surface to be implanted is smooth and native-oxide free before implantation. The implant should be so shallow that the melt region

encompasses the whole implanted region but deep enough to avoid laserinduced-surface-structuring effects on the Si surface from affecting the perfection of the underlying metallurgic junction region. Tilted implants can reduce the final junction depth of the 5 keV implants to below 20 nm. With respect to the perimeter of the diode, the key to achieving good quality diodes is the ability to terminate the metallurgic junction at an oxide-tosilicon interface that is of good quality. In these experiments this is achieved by using a thin layer of thermal oxide to cover the Si under a thicker lowtemperature isolation layer. After the growth of the isolation oxide, all processing steps are performed at temperatures below 400 °C. Here a 30nm-thin thermal oxide is applied, which is still sufficiently thick to avoid excessive widening of the contact window during the dip-etch used to remove native oxide before metallization. To localize the laser melting of the silicon to the desired diode region and particularly to protect the perimeter, a reflective mask of Al is applied. A thin layer of Al is used together with one-shot laser annealing to avoid problems with the postlaser-annealing Al morphology. Tilted implants increase the overlap of the oxide isolation with the diode perimeter, thus making the process more robust and reducing perimeter leakage. The completeness of the laser melt at the perimeter will depend on the thermal conductivity of the surroundings. In the present experiments, less melting of the perimeter with respect to the bulk is identified by TEM analysis and this may be a source of extra perimeter leakage that should be taken into account when designing a specific process flow and diode structure. The best results are achieved here with an implant of 2×10^{15} cm⁻² at tilt of 30°. For diodes with an area 80 um² this gives an ideality factor of 1.04 and reverse leakage at 2 V in 10^{-5}

A/cm⁻² range. With these results, diodes with an ultrashallow junction implantation can be fabricated using the laser annealing technique and further results will show the possibility to apply this processing to source and drain junction formation in the D-DotFET device.

Chapter 3

Metal-Insulator-Semiconductor Capacitors

The low-temperature processing needed for the processing of the DotFET transistor puts heavy requirement on the processing temperature of the gate dielectric which conventionally is a high-quality thermal oxide grown at temperatures above 850 °C. In this chapter a study is presented of a number of dielectric layer-stacks deposited or grown at temperatures below 400 °C that could potentially be used as DotFET gate material.

3.1 Extraction of MIS capacitor parameters

Capacitance-Voltage (C-V) measurements are commonly used to evaluate the quality of gate dielectrics. In Figure 3.1 the C-V curve is shown of a ptype MIS capacitor measured at high and low frequencies. For an n-type MIS capacitor the curve is the mirrored version of that of the p-type MIS capacitor.

77

Basicaly, three modes of operation are observed in a p-type MIS C-V measurement:

- the accumulation region is seen where negative voltage is applied between metal and semiconductor and no depletion is formed. Holes will be attracted to and gather at the oxide-semiconductor interface due the negative charge of metal. Since majority carriers accumulate at the interface between the semiconductor and the oxide, the capacitance over the dielectric is measured in the strong accumulation region.
- the depletion region occurs when a positive voltage is applied between the metal and semiconductor and majority carriers (holes) are depleted at the oxide-semiconductor surface.
- the inversion region is seen when the metal gate voltage has become so positive that minority carries (electrons) are attracted to the oxide semiconductor interface. The minority carriers thus accumulated form the so- called inversion layer.



Figure 3.1: C-V curve of a p-type MIS capacitor measured at high and low frequencies.

From the C-V measurements it is possible to calculate parameters such as the gate dielectric thickness (see Chapter 1, equation 1.7), the density of effective charges in the gate dielectric (Q_{ss}/q), and the interface trap level density (D_{it}), which are important parameters for characterizing the SiO₂/Si structure. The following equations are applied [107]:

The Q_{ss}/q can be calculated using the following sequence of three groups of equations:

1- The impurity concentration of the substrate is found by:

$$N_{sub} = \frac{4|\phi f|}{q\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_{Si}} \left(\frac{C_{\min}}{A}\right)^2 [1/\text{cm}^3]$$
(3.1)

$$\phi f = \pm \frac{kT}{q} \ln \left(\frac{N_{sub}}{n_i} \right) \quad [V] \quad \begin{array}{c} + : p - type(NMOS) \\ - : n - type(PMOS) \end{array} \tag{3.2}$$

where \oint is the is the Fermi potential, $C_{min.}$ is the minimum depletion layer capacitance, q is the magnitude of electronic charge, and n_i is the intrinsic carrier concentration. The two equations can be used iteratively using the method of successive approximations.

2- The V_{FB} can be determined graphically by first calculating the flat band capacitance (C_{fb}) and then reading the value of V_{FB} off of the C-V curve:

$$C_{fb} = \frac{C_{ox}C_{sfb}}{C_{ox} + C_{sfb}} \quad [F]$$
(3.3)

$$C_{sfb} = \frac{\sqrt{2}A\varepsilon_0\varepsilon_{Si}}{\lambda} \quad [F]$$
(3.4)

where $C_{s/b}$ is the depletion layer capacitance, and λ is the Debye length;

3- The effective charges in the gate dielectric are then given by:

$$\frac{Q_{ss}}{q} = \frac{C_{ox}}{Aq} \left| \phi_M - V_{FB} \right| \quad [1/\text{cm}^3]$$
(3.5)

where ϕ_M is the is the difference in the work functions of the semiconductor (Si) and the metal gate;

The D_{it} can be estimated using the high and low frequency at room temperature [107]:

$$D_{it} = \frac{C_{ox}}{Aq} \left(\frac{C_{LF}}{C_{ox} - C_{LF}} - \frac{C_{HF}}{C_{ox} - C_{HF}} \right) \quad [\text{cm}^2 - \text{eV}]^{-1}$$
(3.6)

where C_{LF} is the minimum value of the capacitance, and C_{HF} is the high-frequency capacitance at the voltage corresponding to C_{LF} .

3.2 The fabricated high-k dielectrics

As discussed in Section 1.1.1, silicon dioxide has been used for decades as a gate dielectric, but with the downsizing of CMOS devices, a thinning of the physical equivalent gate oxide thickness to less than 1nm is necessary and the direct-tunneling leakage current in a pure silicon oxide dielectric layer would increase to excessive levels [108]. To overcome this problem new materials with high-k have been attracting much attention. By replacing the traditional silicon oxide with high-k materials it is possible obtain the same EOT but with a thicker dielectric layer. Currently, several metal-oxide gate dielectrics are promising candidates for high-k isolation and hafnium oxide (HfO_2) is the most popular material used today [109, 110]. In the Dimes facilities three materials are available for use as gate-dielectric: silicon oxide, silicon oxynitride and aluminium oxide

(Alumina- Al_2O_3). For monitoring gain enhancement in DotFETs it is an advantage to have the highest possible coupling between the gate and channel combined with the lowest possible leakage. Therefore, pure silicon oxide as gate material is less interesting and focus was placed on developing other low-temperature dielectrics, in particular, SiO_xN_y grown by inductively coupled plasma (ICP) and Al_2O_3 deposited by atomic-layer deposition (ALD). Both processes could be processed at temperatures below 400° C were studied.

In Figure 3.2 the basic process flow is illustrated for the fabrication of Al/capacitors with the investigated dielectric layer stacks. All results reported in the rest of this Chapter are for capacitors fabricated on (100) 2-5 Ω cm p-type Si wafers. Before deposition of the dielectric layer stack to be studied, the substrates were cleaned by a 4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch for oxide removal. After the dielectric deposition, a 375 nm thick Al was deposited by sputtering and patterned by conventional optical lithography using i-line combined with RIE to define capacitors of different sizes. On the back of the wafer a 675 nm Al layer was sputtered to form a low-ohmic contact to this terminal. The samples were sintered in a conventional furnace in forming gas at 400 °C for 20 min.



Figure 3.2: Basic process flow for the fabrication of the investigated capacitors.

3.2.1 ICP SiO_xN_y

Many works have explored the use of silicon oxynitride films as antireflective layer [111], membranes for Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems (MEMS) [112], optical waveguide [113] and gate dielectric applications [114]. For the latter application, it has been proven that SiO_xN_y films may extend the limit of the oxide thickness a little further. In particular, nitridation has been shown to be beneficial for reduction of leakage current, enhancement of reliability, and for suppression of Boron penetration. Usually, the silicon oxynitride films are deposited by lowpressure chemical vapor deposition or PECVD at temperatures higher than either 600°C or 250°C, respectively [115-118]. Depending on the growth parameters, different compositions of silicon oxynitride can be obtained. For example, by reducing nitrogen gas flow in the process chamber, the dielectric constant of the films is also reduced due the low concentration of N [119] and the material can become comparable to thermal oxide with excellent characteristics for gate dielectric applications. However, the high processing temperatures can make these depositions incompatible with other fabrication steps. High-density plasma sources, such as inductively coupled plasma systems, have advantages over conventional low density plasmas for thin film deposition. In the ICP system high-density plasma is available, allowing a high-quality SiO₂ and SiO_xN_y growth and deposition at low temperature. Such ICP systems can operate at low pressures (here, 2.5 Pa). In our reactor, a 13.56 MHz RF power source generates the plasma at high powers (up to 1000 W). For the silicon oxynitride growth (without silane in the gas mixture), and mixture of helium (He), oxygen (O_2) and nitrogen (N_2)

gases is injected in the plasma chamber. Using activated oxygen and nitrogen species which can react with Si surfaces to form SiOxNy at low temperatures (< 500 °C). The Si interfaces were characterized to show the feasibility for the application to MOSFET devices. The growth processes were carried out at a pressure of 2.5 Pa, with both N₂ and O₂ flow rates set at 7.5 standard cubic centimeters per minute or sccm, the He flow rate of 30 sccm and 13.56 RF power of 500 W. The substrate temperature, was fixed at 250 °C. The films that were grown in the ICP system were approximately 18 nm thick, corresponding to a growth rate of 3.6 nm/min, and they were used to fabricate Al/SiO_xN_y/Si capacitors according to the flowchart given in Figure 3.2.

3.2.2 ALD Al₂O₃

Alumina is an attractive material for use as gate dielectric due the high dielectric constant of $k \sim 10$. Aluminium oxide films have been prepared by various techniques such as chemical vapor deposition, metal-organic chemical vapor deposition, thermal evaporation, sputtering, atomic-layer deposition, pulse laser deposition and many others [120-123]. ALD was originally introduced in the early 1970s by Dr. Tuomo Suntola, at the University of Helsinki in Finland [124]. The process can be performed at low temperatures and the resulting films show excellent uniformity, conformality, precise thickness control due to the layer-by-layer deposition and the deposition of high-quality of gate dielectrics is possible [125-127]. The ALD process is based in a sequential deposition of monolayers (adsorption of monolayers on the surface) where two or more precursors are

used. The precursors are introduced into the chamber alternately, controlled by a high actuation speed valve and a vacuum pumping control of the pressure. After each precursor pulse, a rapid purging of the chamber is performed. Here the ASM F120 ALD reactor was used for Al_2O_3 depositions that were carried out at a substrate temperature of 300°C using trimethylaluminium (TMA) and water as precursors. A typical cycle for Al_2O_3 deposition is:

- one pulse of metal precursor;
- purging pulse;
- one pulse of water;
- purging pulse.

The growth processes were carried out at pressures of 133 Pa and the substrate temperature was fixed at 300°C. After 70 cycles the Al_2O_3 thickness was approximately 7-8 nm, with a deposition rate of 1-1.1nm/cycle. The layers were used to fabricate $Al/Al_2O_3/Si$ and $Al/Al_2O_3-SiO_xN_y/Si$ capacitors according to the flowchart given in Figure 3.2.

3.3 Electrical capacitor characterization

3.3.1 Single-gate dielectrics

 $\begin{array}{cccc} \mbox{The fabricated $Al/SiO_xN_y/Si$ and $Al/Al_2O_3/Si$ capacitors were electrically} \\ \mbox{measured} & \mbox{by} & \mbox{performing} & \mbox{C-V} & \mbox{sweeps} & \mbox{with} \end{array}$

a HP4284 LCR meter at both low and high frequencies – 100 Hz and 1 MHz. The equivalent oxide thickness and interface trap level density were extracted from the resulting C-V curves. These are plotted in Figures 3.3 and 3.4 for $Al/SiO_xN_y/Si$ and $Al/Al_2O_3/Si$ capacitors, respectively.



Figure 3.3: C-V characteristics of a capacitor with ICP SiO_xN_y grown at 250°C. The capacitor is square-shaped with a size of 800 μ m × 800 μ m.



Figure 3.4: C-V characteristics of a capacitor with ALD Al_2O_3 deposited at 300° C. The capacitor is square-shaped with a size of 200 μ m × 200 μ m.

The C-V characteristics of 800 x 800 μ m² capacitors with silicon oxynitrides grown by ICP at low temperature (250 °C) showed no hysteresis and exhibited an EOT of 16.9 nm and a dielectric constant of 4. This value is slightly higher than the silicon oxide dielectric constant of 3.9, indicating oxynitride formation due to a small amount of N in the film [119]. An interface trap level density of 5.6x10¹⁰ cm⁻²eV⁻¹ and the effective charge density of 7.6x10¹¹ cm⁻²eV⁻¹ were calculated. The C-V characteristics of 200 x 200 μ m² capacitors made with Al₂O₃ deposited by ALD at 300 °C showed no hysteresis, exhibited an EOT of 6.8 nm and a dielectric constant of 4. The dielectric constant of Al₂O₃ is about 10 and the low dielectric constant (~ 4) of the thin Al₂O₃ can be attributed to an interfacial native layer formed prior to the atomic-layer deposition of Al₂O₃ on Si substrate. Such an interfacial layer with very low dielectric constant due to the low density of the film, can be instrumental in creating an overall low dielectric constant of Al₂O₃ thin film. A density interface trap level density of 4.2x10¹¹ cm⁻²eV⁻¹ was calculated but a high D_{it} is observed for Al₂O₃ capacitors deposited by ALD as compared to SiO_xN_y. This high D_{it} on Al₂O₃ capacitors can be attributed to the low quality of the interfacial native layer grown on Si which degrades the electrical properties [128].

3.3.2 Double-gate dielectrics

Since the SiO₂ and SiO_xN_y layers exhibit electrical dielectric characteristics that are suitable for use as gate dielectrics and are also known to have a good stability on Si for this application, double gate stacks incorporating a first layer of these materials were also fabricated and characterized. Specifically, Al/Al₂O₃-SiO_xN_y/Si and Al/Al₂O₃-SiO₂/Si capacitors were also fabricated and electrically characterized by capacitance-voltage measurements. The SiO_xN_y interface layers were grown using the same parameters as specified in Section 3.1.1. The SiO₂ interface layers were grown in a furnace for 1 hour and 20 minutes at 700°C to form a very thin thermal oxide layer. The Al₂O₃ film was deposited by ALD, 70 pulses (~ 7 nm), and the SiO_xN_y layer grown by ICP (~ 6 nm), and a thermal SiO₂ layer was grown in a furnace at 700°C (~ 1-1.5 nm). The thickness of the thermal SiO₂ interface layer was calculated by the Massoud model [129, 130], because the Deal-Grove model [131] cannot satisfactorily describe thin-film oxidations. The C-V characteristics of Al/Al₂O₃-SiO_xN_y/Si and Al/Al₂O₃-SiO₂/Si capacitors are shown in Figures 3.5 and 3.6, respectively.



Figure 3.5: C-V characteristics of a capacitor with ICP SiO_xN_y grown at 250°C and ALD Al₂O₃ deposited at 300°C. The capacitor is square-shaped with a size of 200 μ m x 200 μ m.



Figure 3.6: C-V characteristics of a capacitor with thermal SiO₂ grown at 700°C and ALD Al₂O₃ deposited at 300°C. The capacitor is square-shaped with a size of 200 μ m × 200 μ m.

The C-V characteristics of 200 x 200 μ m² capacitors with an extra interface layer showed no hysteresis. The Al/Al₂O₃-SiO_xN_y/Si capacitors exhibited an EOT of 9.8 nm and the Al/Al₂O₃-SiO₂/Si capacitors exhibited an EOT of 6.2 nm and D_{it} of 2.1x10¹¹ cm⁻²eV⁻¹. The C-V curves at low frequency could not be measured for Al/Al₂O₃-SiO_xN_y/Si capacitors. The comparison of D_{it} values for capacitors with and without interface dielectric layers shows that the interface layer significantly improves the quality of the capacitors including a reduction of interface trap level density. In order to calculate the dielectric constant of the high-k dielectric layer this formula is applied:

$$EOT = t_{ox} + \left(\frac{k_{ox}}{k_{high-k}}\right) t_{high-k}$$
(3.7)

where k_{ox} is the dielectric constant of the interface layer, k_{high-k} is the dielectric constant of the high-*k* dielectric layer and t_{high-k} is the thickness of high-*k* dielectric layer.

The Al_2O_3 films deposited on either ICP SiO_xN_y or thermal SiO_2 films exhibited a dielectric constant of approximately 7 and 8, respectively, which is about the double of the silicon oxide dielectric constant of 3.9. Thus, the high-*k* dielectric nature of the film is evident. In Table 3.1 a compilation is given of the parameters extracted from the C-V measurements.

Table 5.1 Gale dielectric parameter extracted from C-V measurements					
Gate dielectric	SiO _x N _y	Al ₂ O ₃	$Al_2O_3 +$	Al ₂ O ₃ +Thermal	
	·		SiO _x N _y	SiO ₂	
Area (µm ²)	800 x	200 x	200 x 200	200 x 200	
	800	200			
EOT (nm)	16.9	6.8	9.8	6.2	
C_{ac} (pF)	1300	203	140	224	
$Q_{ss}/q [1/cm^3]$	7.6×10^{11}	$1.9 \text{ x} 10^{12}$	1.31×10^{12}	$2.09 \text{ x} 10^{12}$	
D_{it} [cm ² -eV] ⁻¹	5.6×10^{10}	4.2×10^{11}	-	2.1×10^{11}	

Table 3.1 Gate dielectric parameter extracted from C-V measurements

3.3.3 Current-Voltage characteristics

The above described capacitors were electrically characterized by currentvoltage (I-V) measurements using a HP4156B parameter analyzer. with 800 x 800 μ m² and 200 x 200 μ m² areas The Table 3.2 shows the current density results of the capacitors. The leakage current was measured at a gate voltage (*V_G*) of -1 V in accumulation region.

Gate dielectric	SiO _x N _y	Al ₂ O ₃	Al ₂ O ₃ +	$Al_2O_3 +$
			SiO _x N _y	Thermal
				SiO ₂
Area (µm²)	800 x	200 x	200 x 200	200 x 200
	800	200		
EOT (nm)	16.9	6.8	9.8	6.2
Density leakage	25.7x10 ⁻	25.5x10 ⁻⁸	40.2×10^{-8}	19.6x10 ⁻⁸
current (A/cm ²) at	8			
V _G = -1V (avg.)				

Table 3.2: J-V results of the capacitors fabricated.

The leakage current density of the sample with thermal SiO_2 interface layer is a bit lower than the others, which substantiates the known good quality of thermal SiO_2/Si interfaces. However, for all capacitors fabricated a low density leakage current in order of 10^{-7} A/cm² was measured.

3.3.4 Summary of MIS capacitor properties

To summarize the results of the electrical measurements for MIS capacitors fabricated with single and double gate dielectric, Table 3.3 lists

all the parameters extracted from the electrical results obtained from the C-V and I-V measurements.

Gate dielectric	SiO _x N _y	Al ₂ O ₃	Al ₂ O ₃ + SiO _x N _y	Al ₂ O ₃ + Thermal
				SiO ₂
Area (µm ²)	800 x	200 x	200 x 200	200 x 200
	800	200		
EOT (nm)	16.9	6.8	9.8	6.2
C_{ac} (pF)	1300	203	140	224
D_{it} (cm ² -eV) ⁻¹	5.6×10^{10}	4.2×10^{11}	-	2.1×10^{11}
$Q_{ss}/q [1/cm^3]$	7.6×10^{11}	$1.9 \text{ x} 10^{12}$	1.31×10^{12}	$2.09 \text{ x} 10^{12}$
Density leakage	25.7x10	25.5×10^{-8}	40.2×10^{-8}	19.6x10 ⁻⁸
current (A/cm ²) at	8			
V_G = -1V (avg.)				

Table 3.3: Summary of the electrical parameters for MIS capacitors.

3.4 Conclusions

In this Chapter, MIS capacitors were fabricated at low temperature ($\leq 400^{\circ}$ C) with different gate-dielectric layer stacks and electrically characterized. A comparison was also made to capacitors with an SiO₂ interface layer thermally-grown at $\leq 700^{\circ}$ C. It was chosen to investigate atomic-layer deposited Al₂O₃ layers because this technique gives an excellent uniformity, conformality, precise control of the thickness of the films, and it is possible to deposit high quality layers at low temperature. Cycles of TMA and water were applied in order to deposit the Al_2O_3 layers at a temperature of 300 °C. The SiO_xN_y films with a low concentration of N were grown by inductively coupled plasma of 250 °C. at temperature a

The capacitance-voltage and current-voltage characteristics were measured for different gate stacks. The results demonstrated that ALD Al_2O_3 and ICP SiO_xN_y exhibited a dielectric constant of 4 and 8, respectively. With ICP SiO_xN_y , capacitors were fabricated with low interface trap level density and low effective charge density, $< 10^{11}$ cm⁻²eV⁻¹ and $< 10^{11}$ cm⁻³eV⁻¹, respectively, as well as low leakage current density ($< 10^{-7}$ A/cm²).

For Al_2O_3 layers the interface quality to Si was poor. In order to improve this situation, a high-quality interface layer was either grown or deposited between the alumina and Si substrate. The quality of the interface layer is beneficial for the physical interface properties and consequently improves the electrical characteristics. Due to the simple, fast processing and good quality of the ICP SiO_xN_y dielectric at low temperature, the SiO_xN_y was chosen for for the fabrication of the MOSFETs and DotFETs that are described in the following chapters.

Chapter 4

MISFET devices

This chapter combines the processing techniques described in Chapter 2 (the successful fabrication of n⁺p diodes with ultrashallow junction annealed by excimer laser technique) and Chapter 3 (capacitors using Al_2O_3 and SiO_xN_y gate dielectrics deposited by atomic layer deposition and inductive coupled plasma, respectively, both processed at low temperatures $\leq 400^{\circ}C$) to create a simple MISFET device [132]. Moreover, a brief overview is given of the methods used to extract the electrical parameters of the MOSFETs. Two different types of MISFET structures are fabricated using the ultrashallow junctions to form the source/drain regions and the low temperature dielectrics in the gate-stack. The first type of MISFET has a ring-shaped gate and an existing mask-set of standard test structures is used for an initial testing of all the processing steps. The second type of MISFET is fabricated with a specially designed mask-set that was made in preparation of the technology transfer to the D-DotFET device structure.

96

4.1- Extraction of MOSFET parameters

A comparison of the fabricated p- and n-MISFET devices is made on the basis of the methods described in this section to extract the fundamental electrical parameters [133], which have already been summarized in Chapter 1.

a) Extraction of the Ion to Ioff ratio

The on current, I_{on} , and off current, I_{off} , values are extracted from the V_{GS} versus log I_{DS} curve. The I_{on} is extracted for $V_{GS} = V_{DS} = V_{DD}$, where V_{DD} is the power supply voltage, and the I_{off} is extracted for $V_{GS} = 0$ and $V_{DS} = V_{DD}$. The Figure 4.1 shows an example of an V_{GS} versus log I_{DS} curve as used for the I_{on} and I_{off} extraction.



Figure 4.1: Example of V_{GS} versus log I_{DS} curve as used for I_{on} and I_{off} extraction.

b) Subthreshold Swing (SS) extraction

The subthreshold swing, SS, gives a measure for the dependence of the drain current I_{DS} on gate bias voltage V_{GS} . Typically, this parameter is extracted at high drain bias. In an ideal case, when the gate is biased below subthreshold conduction, the drain current decreases to zero. In reality, there is a drain current below the threshold voltage and this is know as the subthreshold current. The Figure 4.2 presents an example of an V_{GS} versus log I_{DS} curve where the extracted subthreshold swing is indicated.



Figure 4.2: An example of an V_{GS} versus log I_{DS} curve and the extracted subthreshold swing (SS).

c) Extraction of the Drain Induced Barrier Lowering (DIBL)

The drain potential over the channel region can have a significant impact on the performance of the MOSFET devices in saturation. If a high drain voltage is applied, the drain channel depletion width can expand to the extend that it can cause a leakage current between source and drain. In this case the drain current is not controlled only by the gate voltage, but also by the drain voltage. This effect called DIBL can reduce the threshold voltage in a manner that is dependent on the drain voltage. DIBL can be calculated by extracting the horizontal shift in the subthreshold region divided by change in the drain voltage on the log I_{DS} versus V_{GS} plot. The Figure 4.3 shows an example of V_{GS} versus log I_{DS} curves where the extracted DIBL value is indicated.



Figure 4.3: Example of V_{GS} versus log I_{DS} curves and the extracted DIBL value.

d) Threshold Voltage (V_{Th}) extraction

The threshold voltage is defined as the gate voltage at which an inversion layer is formed in the channel of the transistor at the interface between the gate dielectric and the silicon bulk. Basically, V_{Th} is the minimum voltage that is required to turn on the transistor MOS. The V_{Th} is obtained by extrapolating the I_{DS} versus V_{GS} curve, and the intersection point of the extrapolation to the V_G -axis is the V_{Th} (for $V_D << V_G$) (see Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4: Example of I_{DS} versus V_{GS} curve for the V_{Th} extraction.

e) Extraction of the Total Resistance R_T

The total resistance can be described as the sum of channel resistance, R_{ch} , and source/drain resistance, $R_{S/D}$, by using the formula $R_T = R_{ch} + R_{S/D}$. The total resistance is calculated by taking the V_{DS} versus I_{DS} curve in the linear region. The $\Delta V_{DS} / \Delta I_{DS}$ value is the total resistance (see Figure 4.5).


Figure 4.5: Example of a V_{DS} versus I_{DS} curve for the R_T extraction.

4.2 n-MISFET ring-gate test structures

The n-MISFET ring-gate structures were fabricated on silicon (100) p-type wafers with a resistivity of 2-5 Ω cm. The process flow for fabricating these structures is given in the following sub-sections.

a) Gate-stack formation

In Figure 4.6 the processing steps used to form a high-*k* gate stack are depicted. A silicon dioxide layer of 20 nm is grown by thermal oxidation of the silicon surface. Prior to the thermal oxidation, a HF (0.55%) dip-etch (4 minutes) is performed immediately before oxidation in order to remove the native oxide over the silicon surface. After oxidation a B⁺ implantation to dope the bulk silicon is performed through the SiO₂ layer, by using a 40keV implant to a dose of 1×10^{11} cm⁻². The thermal SiO₂ is removed using

buffered-HF (1:7) until the front-side of the Si wafer is hydrophobic and the implanted layer is annealed in a furnace at 1000°C for 30 minutes in an N₂ gas flow. Immediately before the gate-stack growth/deposition the Si wafer is cleaned and a 4 minutes HF (0.55%) dip-etch is performed. The wafers are transferred to the ICP chamber for oxynitride interface growth. The *high-k* gate dielectric is comprised of first a thin silicon oxynitride layer deposited by ICP at 250°C to achieve a high quality oxide interface to the silicon. Then an aluminium oxide layer was deposited by atomic layer deposition in 70 pulses with TMA and water as precursors at 300°C. A 13-15 nm oxynitride layer was grown on the Si surface followed by 7-8 nm of Al₂O₃. An Al(1%Si) metal-gate of a thickness of 375 nm was then sputtered at 50°C because this gives a small Al-grain size which is necessary for achieving optimal reflectivity to laser light. As will be detailed in the following section, the Al-gate layer forms the reflective mask for the laser anneal processing in the manner described in Chapter 3.



Figure 4.6: Process flow for the high-*k* gate stack formation.

b) Patterning of the gate and source/drain regions

When the dielectric gate and Al reflective mask have been deposited over the Si wafer, the gate and source/drain regions can be defined. Photoresist is deposited on the aluminium layer and the gate region is defined by illumination in the i-line waferstepper ASML PAS5500/80 which can define dimensions down to 500 nm and has an alignment accuracy of \leq 70nm. Photoresist layers with a thickness of 1.4 µm were used for the pattern transfer. The correct exposure energy and focus are adjusted for a good pattern transfer. Openings to the isolating/reflective stack are developed and followed by RIE of Al/Si(1%) and Al₂O₃ using hydrogenbromide and chlorine plasmas and RIE of oxynitride using a fluorine-based plasma. As mentioned before, for ultrashallow junctions a possible etching of the substrate can alter junction characteristics. Therefore, to prevent damage to the silicon surface from the RIE process, the removal of the oxynitride isolation close to the Si surface is performed at lower RF power – 100 W. A 300 W RF power is used for a few seconds just to ignite the plasma. Then, the photoresist is removed in an oxygen plasma and a cleaning cycle is performed. The Figure 4.7 shows the process flow for the gate-stack patterning.



Figure 4.7: Process flow for the gate-stack patterning.

c) Low-energy implantation and laser annealing for ultrashallow source/drain formation

The next step after the gate and source/drain definition is the preparation of the source and drain region for low-energy implantation and laser annealing. As mentioned in Chapter 2, the native oxide on the silicon surface should be removed. Therefore, a 15 second dip in buffered-HF (1:7) solution is performed immediately before the low-energy implantation. During this step the aluminium gate is etched by the BHF solution, which is a self-stopping process that removes approximately 50 nm Al, leaving a sufficiently thick Al/Si(1%) layer to serve as reflective mask over the gate dielectric region. When decreasing the gate length to submicron dimensions the Al-gate can be etched completely during this pre-implant dip-etch step. In that case, the use of other metal-gate materials must be considered. An omission of the HF treatment before the source/drain implantation could also be considered but this would degrade the quality of the source/drain junction as already discussed in Chapter 2. Tests were nevertheless performed in this direction but, as expected, the resulting diodes were excessively leaky.

Implantation of arsenic ions at 5 keV to a dose of 10^{15} ions/cm² at 30° tilt angle was performed immediately after dipping the wafers in a BHF(1:7) solution for 15 seconds. The implanted regions were then laserannealed with the remaining Al gate layer serving as the reflective mask. The laser energy density was varied from 700 mJ/cm² to 1000 mJ/cm² in columns and in 50 mJ/cm² steps with 1% overlap. A homogenizer is used to produce a flat-top intensity profile over the 1.75 x 2.5 mm² spot. The Figure 4.8 shows the configuration applied for source/drain laser annealing on MISFET ring-gate structures.



Figure 4.8: Configuration applied for source/drain laser annealing on MISFET ring-gate structures.

d) Contacts and metallization

After laser annealing, the wafers were cleaned and a 800-nm-thick isolation layer of PECVD SiO₂ was deposited at 400 °C. A photoresist layer of 1.4 μ m is deposited and the source/drain contacts are defined by i-line waferstepper lithography. The SiO₂ layer is RIE etched down to the Si. To prevent damage to the silicon surface from the RIE process, the etching of the oxide isolation layer close to the Si surface is done at lower RF power.

A RF power of 300 W is used for the bulk SiO_2 etching and reduced to 100 W close to the Si implanted surface. The photoresist is then removed using O_2 plasma, a cleaning step is performed, and a 4 minutes HF (0.55%) dipetch is done to remove the native oxide before metallization. A 905-nm-thick Al(1%Si) is then sputtered at 350 °C to contact the source/drain regions. The HF dip-etch must be performed immediately before the metallization to ensure reliable contacting.

After the source/drain metallization, the lithography of the gate contact window is performed. The aluminium and SiO₂ isolation layer are etched by RIE until reaching the Al metal gate, and after that a second Al(1%Si) metal layer of 1.4 μ m is sputtered at 350 °C for gate contact. Finally, an additional lithography is used for interconnections and source, drain and gate contact and an alloying in forming gas at 400 °C for 20 min are done. The Figure 4.9 shows the steps for doping, laser annealing of the source/drain and the device fabricated and Table 4.1 presents a detailed process flow for n-MISFET ring structure fabricated. The Figure 4.10 shows the n-MISFET ring structure fabricated.



Figure 4.9: Process flowchart for doping and laser annealing of the source/drain regions followed by device contacting.

p-type Si wafer (100)						
Si cleaning						
HF (0.55%) dip-etch, 4 min						
20 nm thermal SiO ₂						
Bulk Si implantation – 40 keV, 1x10 ¹¹ cm ⁻² , Boron						
Removal of thermal SiO₂ – BHF (1:7)						
Cleaning						
Furnace annealing at 1000°C, 30 minutes in N ₂ gas flow						
Cleaning						
HF (0.55%) dip-etch, 4 min						
ICP oxynitride growth, 12-15 nm						
ALD Al ₂ O ₃ , 7-8 nm						
375 nm Al sputtered at 50°C						
Al(1%Si) – reflective mask for laser annealing						
Gate-stack lithography – source/drain openings						
RIE - Al(1%Si) and Al ₂ O ₃ etching						
RIE "soft landing" – oxynitride etching						
Photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma						
Cleaning						
BHF (1:7) dip-etch: 15 s						
S/D implantation: As+, 5 keV, 1015 ions/cm ² , 30 ^o tilt angle						
Cleaning						
S/D excimer laser annealing (in columns)						
0-700-750-800-850-900-950-1000mJ/cm2 (1% overlap)						
Cleaning						
PECVD SiO ₂ deposition – 800 nm at 400°C						
Source/drain contact-region lithography						
PECVD SiO ₂ etching – RIE with "soft landing"						
Cleaning						
4 minutes HF (0.55%) dip-etch						
905 nm Al(1%Si) sputtered at 350°C						
Gate contact-region lithography						
RIE- Al(1%Si) and PECVD SiO ₂ etching, landing on Al metal-gate						
Photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma						
Cleaning						
Gate contact metallization - Al(1%Si) 1.4 µm						
Lithography of interconnections for source/drain and gate						
RIE - interconnections metal						
Photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma						
Cleaning						
Alloving in forming gas at 400°C – 20 min						

Table 4.1: Detailed process flow for the fabricated n-MISFET ring-gate structure.



Figure 4.10: Layout of the fabricated n-MISFET ring-gate structure.

4.3 Electrical test device characterization

In this section the electrical characteristics of the processed MISFETs are presented. The devices were fabricated with an existing mask-set, which could be done only by accepting a very large drain area that is common to all transistors. Due to this large area, the drain junction diodes current is high in all cases. The output characteristics as drain current versus drain voltage (I_D versus V_{DS}) and drain current versus gate voltage (I_D versus V_{GS}) were measured and characteristics such as the threshold voltage and transcondutance were extracted.

Current-voltage characteristics were extracted for three different types of n-MISFETs and the source/drain laser-anneal was performed at different energies. Several n-MISFET ring-gate structures were measured with gate lengths, L, of 1.5 µm, 2.0 µm and 3 µm and a gate width, W, that

was 431µm in all cases. The laser annealing energy was varied from 700 mJ/cm² to 1000 mJ/cm², in 50 mJ/cm² steps with 1% overlap. Devices were also fabricated without laser annealing. The $I_D \ge V_{DS}$ transfer characteristics and the I_D versus V_{GS} curves, with different gate lengths, are plotted in Figure 4.11 and Figure 4.12, respectively.

Comparing I_D versus V_{DS} transfer characteristics (Figure 4.11 (a), (b), (c)) for all devices, the drain current increases by 190% to 220% when going from devices with no laser-anneal to devices annealed at 1000 mJ/cm² Therefore, the dopant activation by excimer laser annealing is high and the MISFETs devices show an increase in current drivability with increasing laser energy. The increase in the on-current can be traced back to the lower sheet and contact resistance of implanted regions annealed at higher laser energies as shown in the Chapter 2. The I_D versus V_{GS} transfer characteristics with different gate lengths, are plotted in Figure 4.13 and the Figure 4.14 (a), (b), (c) show the I_D versus V_{GS} curves of devices with a gate length of 1.5 µm, 2.0 µm and 3.0 µm, respectively, and source/drain laserannealing at energies of 800, 900, 1000 mJ/cm² as well as no laser annealing. The V_{Th} is determined by measuring the drain current I_D for various values of gate voltage V_{GS} . For all devices presented on this thesis, the threshold voltage was extracted by the linear extrapolation, which is the most common method of determining V_{Th} .



Figure 4.11: I_D versus V_{DS} transfer characteristics for n-MISFETs with different gate lengths. (a) 1.5 μ m, (b) 2.0 μ m and (c) 3 μ m. The gate width was in 431 μ m in all cases.



Figure 4.12: I_D versus V_{GS} transfer characteristics for n-MISFETs with different gate lengths and a source/drain laser-anneal at 1000 mJ/cm². The gate width was 431µm in all cases.



Figure 4.13: The I_D versus V_{GS} transfer characteristics with different gate lengths. The gate width was 431 µm in all cases.



Figure 4.14: I_D versus V_{GS} transfer characteristics curves of n-MISFET devices with different gate lengths: (a) 1.5 µm (b) 2.0 µm (c) 3.0 µm. The source/drain regions were laser annealed at energies of 800, 900, 1000 mJ/cm² and not laser annealed at all. The gate width was 431 µm in all cases.

In the I_D versus V_{GS} curves for 1.5 µm and 2.0 µm gate length (Figure 4.14 (a) and (b)), a spread in the leakage current can be observed for different laser energies and this spread becomes smaller for devices with the 3.0 µm gate length (see Figure 4.14 (c)). For all devices the leakage current that can be identified in the subthreshold region, is relatively high for different gate lengths because the ring layout is used in a manner that makes the source and drain areas are much larger than the gate area. A leakage current in the range of 1.5×10^{-8} to 5.2×10^{-6} was measured and the subthreshold slopes, S, are smaller for devices with source and drain laser annealed at high energies. The curve of gate capacitance versus gate area has also been plotted and the results are shown in the Figure 4.15. From this a equivalent gate oxide thickness of 6.1 nm was calculated. For all devices an I_{on}/I_{off} of approximately 10^6 can be observed.

The TEM analysis of one of the device cross-sections shows no loss of the Al gate as a result of the annealing and no damage to the gate dielectric, but the image also reveal that the epitaxial regrowth of the implanted region is not complete close to the edge of the source and drain junctions (Figure 4.16). These edge effects close to the gate area can be attributed to fact that the gate stack absorbs heat during the laser annealing step. Therefore the temperature at the edges can be lower than that necessary for melting and consequently no recrystallization occurs. This can potentially cause an increase in junction leakage if these regions are within the source/drain depletion regions and higher laser energy is possibly needed to completely recrystallize this region.



Figure 4.15: Curve of gate capacitance versus gate area of a series of n-MISFET devices. An EOT of 6.1 nm was calculated on this basis.



Figure 4.16: TEM images of an n-MISFET gate-stack annealed at 1000 mJ/cm^2 . The Al-gate length of 1.5 μ m remains after laser processing and there is no damage to gate dielectric (left). Incomplete epitaxial regrowth after annealing close to gate edge – dark region marked on higher resolution image (right).

The results of the n-MISFET ring-gate structures presented in this Section have demonstrated that laser annealing of implanted dopants can be successfully integrated in a high-*k* metal gate n-MISFET. After substrate doping, no processing steps are done at temperatures above 400°C making this process extremely attractive for applications where the thermal budget is of critical concern. Laser processing requires careful optimization, particularly in view of the heat conduction through the gate-stack used as reflective mask, which can prevent a complete epitaxial regrowth after annealing close to gate edge. High dopant activation in source/drain regions can give a high current drivability of n-MISFETs. The performance of the devices can be improved by the following points:

- a dedicated mask-set in order to reduce the drain area and consequently reduce the leakage current;

- an increase of the laser energy during the source/drain dopant activation could additionally reduce the sheet resistance and consequently increase the drive current;

- an increase of the number of devices would give better statistics to improve comparisons between different devices.

4.4 Fabrication of n- and p-MISFETs

In this Section MISFET devices are described which were fabricated using a new mask set designed to reduce the leakage current inherent to the n-MISFETs test devices discussed in the previous sections. Moreover, the gate/source/drain structure is designed to improve the dopants activation on source and drain close to gate edge. The layout is as conventional fingerstructured transistors with different gate lengths of 3.0, 4.0, 6.0 and 10.0 μ m and gate width fixed at 20 μ m were designed. In Figure 4.17 the new transistor layout is shown for n-/p-MISFET fabrication. The process flow for new MISFET fabrication is the same that used for the test n-MISFET devices with a few minor modifications.



Figure 4.17: Transistor layout for n-/p-MISFET fabrication.

The process steps for the n-/p-MISFET fabrication are given in Table 4.2. Initially a silicon dioxide layer of approximately 20 nm is grown by thermal oxidation on the silicon surface. First, a HF dip-etch is performed immediately before oxidation in order to remove the native oxide on the silicon surface. After oxidation the implantation to dope the bulk silicon is performed thought the SiO₂ layer by implanting 50keV, $1x10^{12}$

 $cm^{-2} B^+$ and 100keV, $1x10^{12} cm^{-2} P^+$ in respectively the p-type wafers and ntype wafers. Then the thermal SiO_2 is removed using buffered-HF (1:7) and the annealing of this implanted layer is performed in a furnace at 1000°C for 30 minutes in a N₂ gas flow. A 400-nm-thick PECVD SiO₂ is deposited at 400°C and the first lithography step to define the active region in performed. The photoresist is deposited over the SiO_2 layer and the active region is defined with the i-line waferstepper ASML PAS5500/80. The opening of active area is performed in two steps. In the first step the SiO₂ is etched by RIE followed by wet etching (second step). A thickness of 20 nm should be remaining after RIE for subsequent landing on the Si surface with wet etching. The photoresist is removed by O₂ plasma stripping. Immediately before the gate dielectric growth the Si wafer is cleaned and a 4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch is performed. A silicon-oxynitride layer of 12 nm is grown by ICP-PECVD at 250°C to achieve a high quality oxide interface to the silicon. A 375-nm-thick Al/1%Si layer is sputtered at room temperature to keep the grain size small and thereby making it suitable as gate-metal also serving as reflective masking layer for the subsequent laser annealing. The gate-stack is then patterned and the source and drain regions are defined. A "soft-landing" is applied to prevent damage to the silicon surface during from the RIE process. To dope the source/drain regions, As⁺ ions at 5 keV to a dose of 10^{15} ions/cm² and BF₂⁺ ions at 5 keV to a dose of 10^{15} ions/cm² at 7°, 30°, 45° tilt angles were implanted on p-type and n-type wafers, respectively. A 15 s dip in BHF (1:7) solution is performed immediately before these low energy implantations. They are activated by laser annealing with energy densities was varying from 750 mJ/cm² to 1050 mJ/cm² in

columns and in 50 mJ/cm² steps with 66% overlap. The maximum laser energy was increased by 50 mJ/cm² as compared to the n-MISFET test

devices to try to compensate for the heat conduction through the gate-stack which can cause an incomplete epitaxial regrowth close to gate edge as described in Section 4.3. The wafers were cleaned and a PECVD SiO₂ layer of 800 nm was deposited. A PECVD SiO₂ layer was deposited at 400°C. Lithography was performed for source/drain contact definition and RIE was used to etch the SiO₂ layer until reaching the Si substrate. To prevent damage to the silicon surface, the etching was also performed in two steps. A 905-nm-thick Al(1%Si) was sputtered at 350°C for source/drain contacting. Before the aluminium sputtering a 4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch was done to remove the native oxide. Lithography and etching of the gate contact window was performed and a 1.4-µm-thick Al(1%Si) metal layer was sputtered at 350°C for gate contacting. Finally, the interconnections to the source, drain and gate contacts are patterned and an alloying in forming gas at 400°C for 20 minutes completes the processing. During the lithography steps the correct exposure energy and focus are adjusted for good pattern transfer. In Table 4.2 a detailed process flow is given for the n-/p-MISFET fabrication.

n-MISFET	p-MISFET					
p-type Si wafer (100)	n-type Si wafer (100)					
Si cleaning						
HF (0.55%) dip-etch, 4min						
20 nm Thermal SiO ₂						
Bulk implantation	Bulk implantation					
50 keV, 1x10 ¹² cm ⁻² , Boron	100 keV, 1x10 ¹² cm ⁻² , Phosphorus					
Thermal SiO ₂ removal – BHF (1:7)						
Cleaning						
Furnace annealing - at 1000°C, 30 min in N ₂ gas flow						
Cleaning						
PECVD SiO ₂ deposition – 400 nm at 400°C						
Active area lithography						

Table 4.2: Detailed process flow for n and p-MISFET fabrication.

PECVD SiO ₂ etching – RIE + wet etching (BHF (1:7))						
Photoresist rem	oval – O ₂ plasma					
Cleaning						
HF (0.55%) dip-etch, 4 min						
ICP oxynitride	growth – 12 nm					
375 nm Al spi	uttered at 50°C					
Al(1%Si) – reflective mask for laser annealing						
Gate-stack lithography – source/drain openings						
RIE – 375 nm Al(1%Si) sputtered at 50°C						
SiO _x N _y (gate dielectric) etch	ing – wet etching (BHF (1:7))					
Photoresist rem	oval – O2 plasma					
Clea	aning					
BHF (1:7) dip-	etch: 15 seconds					
S/D implantation	S/D implantation					
As ⁺ , 5 keV, 10 ¹⁵ ions/cm ²	BF ₂ ⁺ , 5 keV, 10 ¹⁵ ions/cm ²					
7°, 30°, 45° tilt angles	7°, 30°, 45° tilt angles					
Clea	aning					
S/D excimer laser a	nnealing (in columns)					
0-750-800-850-900-950-1000)-1050mJ/cm ² (66% overlap)					
Cleaning						
PECVD SiO ₂ deposition – 800 nm at 400°C						
Source/drain contacting lithography						
PECVD SiO ₂ etching – RIE + wet etching (BHF (1:7))						
Cleaning						
4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch						
905 nm Al(1%Si) sputtered at 350°C						
Gate contacting lithography						
RIE- Al(1%Si) and PECVD SiO ₂ etching, landing on Al metal gate						
Photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma						
Cleaning						
Gate contact metallization - Al(1%Si) 1.4 µm						
Lithography of interconnect for source/drain and gate						
RIE - interconnect metal						
Photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma						
Cleaning						
Alloying in forming gas at 400°C – 20 minutes						

4.5 Electrical device characterization

In this Section a description is given of the electrical measurements of the n and p-MISFET devices along with an analysis of the results. The measurements were performed on an HP-4156C semiconductor parameter analyzer and an HP-4284A precision LCR meter for the *C-V* measurements.

The I_D versus V_{GS} transfer characteristics were determined for transistors with source/drain implants at 7°, 30° and 45° tilt angles and laserannealing at 1050 mJ/cm². The I_D versus V_{GS} and I_D versus V_{GS} curves of transistors with gate lengths of 3.0 and 10 µm are plotted in Figure 4.18 and 4.19, respectively. The V_{th} is determined by measuring the drain current I_D for various values of gate voltage V_{GS} , at low V_{DS} (0.1V). The threshold voltage was extracted by the linear extrapolation.

The Figures 4.20 and 4.21 show the I_D versus V_{DS} output characteristics curves of n-/p-MISFETs with source/drain implants at 7°, 30° and 45° tilt angles, laser annealing at 1050 mJ/cm² and different gate lengths of 3.0 and 10 µm, respectively. The gate width was fixed to be 20 µm.

The I_D versus laser energy curves of the n-/p-MISFET devices show an increase in current drivability with increasing laser energy which correlates well with the expected low sheet resistances of the source/drain implanted regions annealed at high energies. A reduction of the on-current is also evident for increasing gate length in accordance with the increase of the series resistance between source/drain. The Figures 4.22 and 4.23 show the statistical analysis of the drain current for both n- and p-MISFET devices with fixed $|V_G| = 5V$ and $|V_{DS}| = 8V$ implanted at 7°, 30° and 45° tilt angles and laser annealed from 750 mJ/cm² to 1050 mJ/cm² (50 mJ/cm² steps), respectively. The drain current of the transistors annealed at 1050 mJ/cm² is compared to that of transistors without annealing, and a significant increase of the drain current can be observed.



Figure 4.18: I_D versus V_{GS} curves on linear/scales for n-/p-MISFETs with a gate length of 3 µm with source/drain laser annealing at 1050 mJ/cm² and implanted at 7°, 30° and 45°. The gate width was fixed to be 20 µm.



Figure 4.19: I_D versus V_{GS} curves on linear/log scales for n-/p-MISFETs with a gate length of 10 µm with source/drain laser annealing at 1050 mJ/cm² and implanted at 7°, 30° and 45°. The gate width was fixed to be 20 µm.



Figure 4.20: I_D versus V_{DS} output characteristics of n-/p-MISFETs with a gate lengths of 3 µm with source/drain laser annealing at 1050 mJ/cm² and implanted at (a) 7°, (b) 30° and (c) 45°, respectively. The gate width was fixed to be 20 µm.



Figure 4.21: I_D versus V_{DS} output characteristics of n-/p-MISFETs with a gate length of 10 µm with source/drain laser annealing at 1050 mJ/cm² and implanted at (a) 7°, (b) 30° and (c) 45°, respectively. The gate width was fixed to be 20µm.



(c) Figure 4.22: I_D versus laser energy for n-MISFET devices with a fixed V_G = 5 V and V_{DS} = 8 V implanted at (a)7°, (b)30° and (c)45° tilt angles.



Figure 4.23: I_D versus laser energy for p-MISFET devices with fixed $V_G = -5$ V and $V_{DS} = -8$ V implanted at (a) 7°, (b) 30° and (c) 45° tilt angles.

Comparing the n-MISFETs results, the drain current for different angles of implantation increases as the angle is increased. In contrast, the p-MISFETs implanted at have a lower drain current than that found for 30° and 45° implants. This could indicate that source/drain implants at 7° do not connect as well to the channel region as the tilted implants. This would also correlate well with the larger spread in drain current values seen in Figure 4.23a as a function of laser energy.

In Figure 4.24 the source-to-drain resistance is plotted as a function of channel length as extracted from the I_{DS} versus V_{GS} curve in the linear region with $V_G = 5$ V. As expected, it is possible to see that the total resistance increases linearly with the channel length, and also the influence on the resistance from the different implantation angles becomes more clear. The channel resistance per unit gate-length, given by the slope of the curves, is approximately the same for all tilt angles as it should be. Two effects that determine the contribution to the total resistance from the source/drain regions play a role: the sheet resistance of the source/drain regions and resistance of the connection on the channel region. The former will increase with tilt angle while the latter will decrease due to a better overlap of the two regions. There will also be a small reduction in the distance between source and drain. From the curves in Figure 24 it appears that the variation in overlap between the source/drain and channel region is dominating the total resistance. At 7° the total resistance is significantly higher than for the other tilt angles. A small difference can be seen between the implantation angles of 30° and 45°. The Figure 4.25 shows the I_D versus gate length for different laser annealing energies and a 30° implantation, for both nMISFET and p-MISFET devices. Here the effect of reducing the S/D sheet resistance can be seen as a significant increase of the drain current.



Figure 4.24: Total resistance between source and drain for a) n-MISFET and b) p-MISFET devices.



Figure 4.25: I_D versus gate length for different laser anneal energies going from 750 mJ/cm² to 1050 mJ/cm² (for 50 mJ/cm² steps) and 30° implantation angle for (a) n-MISFET and (b) p-MISFET devices.

From the I_D versus V_{GS} curves subthreshold slopes (S) can be extracted as 113-191 mV/decade for n-MISFETs and 117-162 mV/decade for p-MISFETs, and I_{on}/I_{off} ratios between 7.5x10⁴ and 1.2x10⁸ were reached. The transconductances varied from 12 μ S to 26 μ S for n-MOSFETs, and 2.2 μ S to 8.1 μ S for p-MOSFETs. The DIBL was also extracted although this would be a much more important effect in short channel MOSFET devices. The DIBL effect can be observed by a shift of the threshold voltage as a function of drain voltage. With the reduction of the channel length the DIBL effect can increase because for higher drain bias, the electric field can penetrate to the source region. When the electric field over the drain penetrates to the source region, the potential barrier at source is reduced and the drain current can increase due to higher injection of carriers from the source. In addition, the threshold voltage is reduced. A DIBL of 35 mV/V and 64.2 mV/V was measured for n- and p-MISFETs, respectively. The Table 4.3 summarizes the measured MISFET parameters. Current-Voltage measurements on MIS capacitors with an area of 80x80 µm² were also performed in order to extract the equivalent oxide thickness of the MISFETs. The EOT is extracted from capacitance values at high frequency (1 MHz) and in accumulation. A capacitance of 17.8 pF was measured and an EOT of 12.3 nm was calculated. In the Figures 4.26 and 4.27 a TEM image is shown of the gate-stack and the junction depth of n and p-MISFET, respectively. The 12 nm thick ICP-SiO_xN_y gate-dielectric and a junction depth of 10-12 nm can be discerned. A statistic analyze of the I_D versus V_{GS} results would be required if the behavior of DIBL, S and I_{on}/I_{off} for different devices was to be extracted.

n-MISFET								
Gate length	Implantation tilt angle	V_{th} (V)	I_{on}/I_{off}	$gm_{max.}$ (μ S), V_{D} = 100mV	S (mV/dec.)	DIBL (mV/V)		
3	7°	1.1	9.0E6	23	121	71.4		
	30°	1.1	1.2E8	33	113	35.7		
	45°	1.1	1.0E5	33	170	42.8		
4	7°	1.1	1.3E7	24	120	50.0		
	30°	1.1	7.5E7	26	119	36.0		
	45°	1.1	9.3E4	26	183	64.2		
6	7°	1.1	7.7E6	18	124	42.8		
	30°	1.2	3.9E6	18	128	36.2		
	45°	1.1	7.5E4	17	188	71.4		
	7°	1.1	2.8E6	12	130	35.7		
10	30°	1.2	2.2E7	12	132	35.0		
	45°	1.2	9.3E4	12	191	85.7		
	p-MISFET							
Gate length	Implantation	V _{th}	I_{on}/I_{off}	gm _{max.} (μS),	S	DIBL		
(µm)	tilt angle	(V)	(A)	$ V_D =$	(mV/dec.)	(mV/V)		
	-			100mV				
3	70	-1.3	2.5E7	3.4	131	136.0		
	<u>30°</u>	-1.2	1.5E7	8.1	127	64.2		
	45°	-1.2	3.6E7	7.0	117	64.3		
4	7°	-1.3	1.2E7	3.7	142	150.0		
	30°	-1.2	5.9E6	5.9	147	71.4		
	45°	-1.2	5.4E6	5.7	146	78.5		
6	7°	-1.3	1.1E7	3.1	148	178.0		
	<u>30°</u>	-1.2	8.1E5	4.6	136	64.3		
	45°	-1.3	1.6E6	4.4	162	92.8		
10	7°	-1.3	9.8E6	2.2	161	107.0		
	30°	-1.2	4.4E5	3.0	149	65.0		
	45°	-1.3	1.0E6	2.8	154	106		

Table 4.3: Summary of the measured MISFET parameters (average).



Figure 4.26: TEM micrograph of a gate-stack with 12 nm ICP-SiO_xN_y gate dielectric.

The TEM images in Figure 4.28 show a cross section of an n-MISFET (a) and p-MISFET (b) with a 3 μ m gate length and 20 μ m gate width, with a source and drain laser annealing of 1000 mJ/cm². An incomplete epitaxial regrowth after annealing close to gate stack area can be again observed for both n and p-MISFET devices (Figure 4.29).



Figure 4.27: A TEM micrograph of the source and drain regions with the junction depth indicated.



Figure 4.28: Cross section of an n-MISFET (a) and p-MISFET (b), with $L = 3 \mu m$ and $W = 20 \mu m$. Source and drain regions were laser annealed at 1000mJ/cm².


Figure 4.29: TEM images of n- and p-MISFET devices laser annealed at 1000 mJ/cm². An Al-gate with $L = 3 \mu m$ remains after laser action and there is no damage to the gate dielectric. There is incomplete epitaxial regrowth after annealing close to gate edge (region marked).

4.6- Laser irradiation overlap

A set of n-MISFET devices were fabricated using the same processing presented in Section 4.4 but with a few modifications:

- the bulk implantation was changed to B^+ with energies of 20keV, 50 keV or 100 keV, to a dose of 1×10^{12} , 1.1×10^{12} or 1.3×10^{12} cm⁻²,

- the source/drain implantation for all devices was As^+ at an energy of 5 keV, dose $1x10^{15}$ ions/cm², and 7° tilt angle,

- the source and drain areas were irradiated with a single pulse laser at energies from 800 mJ/cm² to 1000 mJ/cm² (in 100 mJ/cm² steps) at overlaps of 1% or 66%.

Transistors with 3.5, 4.5, 6.5 and 10.5 μ m gate length were measured (gate width was fixed to be 20 μ m), and good output characteristics were observed for both 1% and 66% laser overlaps.

In Figure 4.30 a statistical analysis is given of the drain current for n-MISFETs irradiated with either 1% or 66% overlap with fixed $V_G = 5$ V and $V_{DS} = 8$ V, implanted at a 7° tilt angle and laser annealed from 800 mJ/cm² to 1000 mJ/cm² (100 mJ/cm² steps). The transistors laser annealed with 1% overlap displayed a lower drain current lower than those annealed with 66% overlap. The drive current for 1% overlap saturates for laser energies from 800 mJ/cm² as seen in Figure 4.30. For triple shot laser annealing (66% overlap) the drain current is higher and continues to increase with increasing energy (Figure 4.30). The 66% overlap laser annealing allows more activation of dopants due to the triple exposure which also results in better uniformity over the wafer. However, more heating can also be expected and for submicron devices, over-heating needs

to be taken into consideration, since a melting of the metal-gate of the transistors may occur especially for high energies.



Figure 4.30: Comparison of the drain current for n-MISFET devices laser annealed with either a 1% or 66% overlap, with $V_G = 5$ V and $V_{DS} = 8$ V.

4.7- Conclusions

In this Chapter the fabrication of n- and p-MISFET devices was demonstrated for processing temperatures below 400°C. Four important processing steps must be performed in order to have good electrical device performance:

- to obtain a good quality growth of ICP-SiO_xN_y used as gate-dielectric, the Si surface must be cleaned immediately before the growth. To achieve this a 4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch is performed.

- a 15 seconds dip in BHF (1:7) solution is performed immediately before source/drain implantation. A BHF dip-etch is used to remove the native oxide on the Si surface so that a uniform implantation of the low-energy ions can be achieved.

- during the oxide etching to open the source/drain contact windows, damage to the implanted silicon surface must be prevented. This is achieved by using a RIE process with low RF power (100W).

- a 4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch is necessary to remove native oxide before source/drain metallization in order to ensure a low-ohmic contacting.

For both n- and p-MISFET devices, with laser annealed implanted source/drain regions, have good performance, in particular with respect to drain current driving capability. With increasing the laser energy, the sheet resistance of source/drain regions is reduced due to a high dopant activation. An incomplete epitaxial regrowth of the implanted regions during the laser processing close to the gate edge has been observed. This indicates that the metal-gate is providing cooling of the perimeter regions. Therefore, in each specific structure the laser annealing must be adjusted to the thermal conductivity of the surroundings. The source to drain resistance was also extracted from the measurements and an increase was observed when the channel length increases. Ultrashallow source/drain junctions were activated and the TEM images shown junctions of 10-12 nm deep for 1000 mJ/cm² laser energy. The influence of the overlapping of the laser spot was studied for 66% and 1% overlap. The drain current is higher for 66% overlap due to a higher activation of dopants but an extra heating can be expected. The overall good results achieved for the MISFET devices with laser-annealed source/drain, shows great potential for application in next generation of CMOS devices, including D-DotFETs, and this processing scheme will be used in the fabrication of the DotFET as described in the next section.

Chapter 5

DotFET devices

The low temperature processing of source/drain and gate regions that was developed in the previous chapters is now applied in the fabrication of DotFETs. The implantation at low energies in source/drain region and subsequent laser annealing was successfully applied for n^+p diodes, p^+n diodes, n-MISFET and p-MISFET devices. The previous results showed that by using laser annealing technology it is possible to obtain a high activation of dopants in the source/drain region, low sheet resistance, ultrashallow junction formation and low temperature processing, all properties that are very important for the DotFET and D-DotFET devices. In this Chapter a DotFET prototype device is fabricated and also an option for further processing for creating a D-DotFET is discussed.

142

5.1 The DotFET fabrication process

In this Section first an overview is given of the complete DotFET fabrication process, a schematic representation of which is in Figure 5.1. Furthermore, in the following sub-sections, each process step will be discussed in more detail.

The fabrication starts with an array of holes patterned on the Si surface by optical lithography. These holes are used for a localized growth of SiGe dots by molecular beam epitaxy and in the same system the dots are covered with a strained 30-nm-thick Si layer. An isolation oxide is then deposited by plasma-enhanced chemical-vapor-deposition and the active areas of the device are then patterned by etching back of this oxide. The gate-stack consists of an oxynitride layer grown in an inductively-coupledplasma PECVD system and an aluminium layer with a 1% Si content PVD. The oxynitride layer ensures a high-quality interface to silicon. The Al (1%Si) layer also serves as a reflective mask for the laser light. Electronbeam lithography is used to define the actual gate region: on the source/drain regions the gate-stack is removed by reactive-ion etching to the silicon. A high dose of arsenic ions is implanted into the source/drain to amorphize the surface layer, which is then melted and recrystallized using the energy of a single pulse of 308 nm wavelength light from a XeCl excimer laser. The pulse duration is 25 ns at full width at half maximum. The source/drain areas are annealed during this step, whereas the rest of the structure is protected from the influence of laser energy by the reflective Al(1%Si) layer. This is followed by deposition of the isolation oxide, contact opening, and deposition and patterning of additional metal layers.

The final step is the alloying in forming gas at 400°C. After the preparation of SiGe dots, all processing is performed at low temperatures.



Figure 5.1: Overview of the DotFET process flow.

5.1.1 Seed hole patterning

The process for the fabrication of the DotFETs starts with the patterning of standard 100 mm silicon (100) 2-5 Ω cm p-type wafers with a regular array of holes with submicron periodicity. This is done by first growing a 20-nmthick oxide layer thermal oxidation on the silicon surface. Immediately before oxidation, a 4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch is performed in order to remove the native oxide from the silicon surface. After oxidation an implantation is performed with boron ions at different energies (20 keV, 50 keV, or 100 keV) and doses $(1 \times 10^{12}, 1.1 \times 10^{12}, \text{ or } 1.3 \times 10^{12} \text{ cm}^{-2})$. After implantation the thermal oxide layer is removed using BHF(1:7) until the front-side of the Si wafer is hydrophobic and the annealing of this implanted layer is performed in a furnace at 1000°C, 30 min in an N₂ gas flow. The wafers are transferred to the furnace again and a layer stack of 400-nm-thick thermal oxide and 40-nm-thick polysilicon is deposited (Figure 5.2a) and the first hole pattern is etched in the polysilicon by RIE with soft landing on the oxide (Figure 5.2b). The lithography process is then repeated with the second mask where the hole pattern is shifted relative to the first mask and holes are again etched in the polysilicon (Figure 5.2c). It is important to transfer the pattern to the thin polysilicon layer to reduce the photoresist thickness variation that arises in the second litho step from any non-planar surface topography. The diameters of the first and second set of holes patterned on polysilicon layer are 600 nm in diameter and the pitch between holes is 1400 nm (see Figure 5.3). However, the next step is reactive-ion etching of oxide, where polysilicon serves as the hard-mask and needs to be thick enough for this task (Figure 5.2d). Since the selectivity of the oxide



etching process to polysilicon is approximately 10:1, the polysilicon layer is consumed during this step.

Figure 5.2: Process flow for the double pattern transfer technique used for seed holes formation. (a) The hard-mask stack is formed by 400 nm of oxide and 40 nm of polysilicon. (b) Polysilicon RIE using the first mask with a hole pattern. (c) Polysilicon RIE using the second mask with a shifted hole pattern. (d) Oxide RIE using polysilicon as hard-mask. (e) Oxide deposition by LPCVD. (f) Oxide RIE to form inside spacers for reduction of the holesize. (g) Silicon RIE to etch the hole pattern in the Si. (h) Hard-mask removal.

The oxide etching is carefully timed to stop before reaching the silicon surface. A 20-nm-thick oxide layer should remain during this step. The hole size is then reduced by depositing an LPCVD oxide layer (Figure 5.2e), which is etched until reaching the silicon surface to form inside spacers (Figure 5.2f). In order to prevent any etching of silicon in this step, the RF

of the RIE is then reduced from 300 W to 100 W close to the Si surface. The pattern is finally transferred to silicon by RIE of silicon (Figure 5.2g). The remains of the hard mask are removed by wet, chemical etching with high selectivity to silicon to render a patterned bare silicon surface (Figure 5.2h). For a good control of the SiGe dot growth, holes approximately 300 nm in diameter and 100-nm deep are fabricated. The Figures 5.4 and 5.5 show a SEM and an atomic force microscopy image of seed holes patterned by this double pattern transfer technique.



Figure 5.3: Mask design of seed holes fabrication. (600nm diameter and distance between holes of 800nm).



Figure 5.4: SEM images of seed holes patterned by the double pattern transfer technique.



Figure 5.5: (a) A cross-sectional linescan taken along the dotted line (b) AFM scan of the patterned Si substrate. Data from Johannes Kepler University Linz.

5.1.2 SiGe dots and strained silicon

Ordered SiGe-island arrays were grown by MBE [71] on prepatterned substates with a dot pitch of 800 nm. The SiGe islands were grown and studied by Forschungszentrum Jülich and Johannes Kepler University. Before growth of the SiGe islands an 18-nm-thick silicon buffer layer with a boron doping level of about 10¹⁷ cm⁻³ was grown by MBE at 700 °C in order to concentrate any defects at the interface between Si buffer layer and Si substrate. After growth of the silicon buffer layer, SiGe islands and a silicon capping layer were also grown by MBE at 700 °C and 500 °C, respectively. The 30-nm-thick Si capping layer, boron doped to about 10^{18} cm⁻³, was grown at low growth temperature to minimize the intermixing of the SiGe islands with the surrounding Si. In Figure 5.6 atomic force microscope images of the SiGe dots with the 30-nm Si capping-layer are seen to have a perfect lateral ordering and shape. Before growth, the wafers were cleaned by a standard RCA cleaning process and dipped in a HF solution before loading the wafers into a load lock. An in-situ outgassing at 700 °C for 30 minutes was also performed. The AFM images show a wellcontrolled positioning of SiGe dots on a Si substrate as a result of the prepatterning. The exact positioning and ordering of the dots is crucial for the further processing of DotFETs on the SiGe islands.



Figure 5.6: AFM scan (5 μ m x 5 μ m) of the SiGe dots and the 30-nm Si capping-layer showing perfect lateral ordering and preservation of the dot shape. Data from Johannes Kepler University Linz.

The SiGe dot samples were analyzed in detail at the Johannes Kepler University in Linz. The μ -Raman and X-ray spectroscopy techniques were used to measure the strain and the Ge-content in the islands as well as the strain in the silicon capping layer [8, 9, 73]. An average of Ge content of about 40% and a biaxial strain of ~1.5% was found for devices with SiGe islands. The Ge content on the base of SiGe island is approximately 20% and it increase to 65% at the top. These results were confirmed by simulations using a finite element simulation method [5] by the theoretical group of University of Milano-Bicocca. With the available measurement results, the dot geometry was reconstructed in the FEM code. The Figure 5.7 shows the strain of the Si capping-layer in the x direction (ε_{xx}) and a central section of the island along the dashed red lines were simulated by University of Milano-Bicocca for both DotFET and D-DotFET devices. The ε_{xx} is more uniform over the Si capping-layer after the dot removal but a small relaxation can be observed which slightly decreases the strain.



Figure 5.7: Map of ε_{xx} in the DotFET device (top left) and D-DotFET (botton left). The calculated ε_{xx} along the dashed red line is presented on the righ side. Data from University of Milano-Bicocca.

The electrical characteristics of DotFET devices were simulated by the Technical University Wien. The channel length of the simulated DotFET is 100 nm and the oxide thickness of 1.5 nm. The substrate is p-doped to 10^{17} cm⁻³ and the strained Si capping-layer is 30-nm-thick with a p-doping of 10^{18} cm⁻³. The electrical simulations show that the samples patterned by Johannes Kepler University Linz and Forschungszentrum Jülich, which have a slightly different geometry of the SiGe islands, will only have a negligible effect on the transfer characteristics (Figure 5.8). At $V_{GS} = V_{DS} =$ 1.5 V, the enhancements due to the strained Si layer are 20% and 22% for the SiGe islands grown in either Linz or Jülich, respectively (Figure 5.9).



Figure 5.8: Transfer characteristics of samples with SiGe islands patterned by Johannes Kepler University Linz (blue line) and Forschungszentrum Jülich (red line) with and without a strained Si-layer. Data from Technical University Wien.



Figure 5.9: Enhancement of the drain current for samples with SiGe islands patterned by Johannes Kepler University Linz (red line) and Forschungszentrum Jülich (blue line). Data from Technical University Wien.

5.1.3 Gate stack, source and drain surface preparation

The DotFET fabrication after creating the SiGe islands (dots) requires low temperature processing to prevent intermixing of the Ge dots with Si that would change the desired strain properties. In all the following processing the temperatures are kept below 400 °C. After the SiGe-island formation, the same process as used for creating the S/D/gate regions in the n- and p-MISFETs discussed in the previous chapter was implemented. A 400-nm-thick PECVD SiO₂ was deposited at 400 °C and the active area is defined by lithography. The opening of active area was done in two steps by RIE followed by wet landing on Si surface. The photoresist was then

removed by O_2 plasma. A 13-nm-thick silicon-oxynitride gate dielectric layer was grown by ICP-PECVD at 250°C, immediately before which the Si wafer was cleaned and a 4 minutes HF (0.55%) dip-etch was performed to achieve a high-quality oxide interface to the silicon. An 150-nm-thick Al(1%Si) reflective gate-metal layer was sputtered at 50°C to keep the grain size small.

The next step is the source/drain area definition exactly over the SiGe dot and good alignment accuracy is a crucial requirement for the positioning of the DotFET device. Moreover, it was necessary to introduce e-beam lithography to be able to define a narrow gate length of about 100 nm. A very good alignment accuracy is also possible with e-beam lithography [2, 134]. Therefore, e-beam alignment marks were created for the whole wafer alignment and for each DotFET device as show in Figure 5.10. The markers for e-beam lithography and seed holes patterning were written by optical lithography, while the gate and the source/drain extensions were written by e-beam lithography at Forschungszentrum Jülich. The Jülich group performed some tests to prove the feasibility of the e-beam lithography technology on SiGe dot alignment. Ordered SiGe dots of ~ 300 nm in diameter were grown with MBE on prepatterned substates with a dot spacing of 800 nm and with e-beam lithography lines were defined with a width of 50 nm aligned to the dots. In Figure 5.11 the e-beam lithography test is shown. The gate finger (from left to right) crosses the source/drain extensions right on the top of the dot where three overlays are applied. The overlay accuracy of e-beam defined structures on structures defined with optical lithography was measured to better than $\pm 10 \text{ nm}$ [134].



Figure 5.10: E-beam alignment marks created by optical lithography. (a) ebeam alignment marks for the whole wafer, (b) e-beam alignment marks for high accuracy alignment, and (c) the source/drain areas aligned to the SiGe dot.



Figure 5.11: E-beam overlay test structure and prepatterning of the SiGe dots. The source/drain extensions and the gate finger were produced with e-beam lithography with an accuracy of ± 10 nm [134].

After the e-beam lithography, the gate-stack is then patterned and the source/drain regions were defined by RIE (HBr/Cl₂ plasma) with softlanding on the Si surface. A two-segment gate structure is chosen to reduce process complexity since it makes it possible to pattern the channel region with only one e-beam lithography step. Before the source/drain implantations a 15 seconds dip in BHF (1:7) solution needs to be performed to remove the native oxide and allow a uniform low energy implantation in the Si. Since the DotFET devices are submicron devices with a minimum gate length of about 50 nm, during the BHF dip-etch the Al functioning as metal-gate and reflective mask, was almost completely etched during this step (as mentioned in Chapter 3). In Figure 5.12 a SEM image is shown of such an Al gate region after the preimplant dip-etch. It is clear that a new material with high resistance to BHF needs to be considered. Therefore, the integration a TiN layer is introduced in the next sub-section.



Figure 5.12: SEM image of an Al metal-gate region etched away by the preimplant dip-etch.

5.1.4 Titanium nitride/aluminium metal-gate

In order to prevent the etching away of the Al gate-metal during the preimplant BHF dip-etch, titanium nitride (TiN) was studied as a possible alternative. Titanium nitride was considered to be a potential candidate due to its high thermally stability and compatibility with conventional CMOS processing [135-138]. This material also possess the necessarily high resistance to HF solutions [139].

In view of these properties, the TiN was used as gate metal in order to protect the gate region during the preimplant dip-etch. Structures in a layer stack of $SiO_xN_y(13 \text{ nm})/TiN(50 \text{ nm})$ were patterned on Si wafer and submitted to a 15 s BHF(1:7) dip-etch. SEM images were taken before and after the dip-etch as shown in Figure 5.13. No etching of the SiO_xN_y and TiN layers are observed, indicating that they are highly resistant to BHF etch solutions.



Figure 5.13: SEM images of a 350 nm wide strip of TiN on SiO_xN_y before (left) and after (right) a BHF(1:7) dip-etch for 15 s. The TiN is and the SiO_xN_y 13 nm thick.

In addition, Al-TiN/SiO_xN_y/Si capacitors were also fabricated and electrically characterized by capacitance-voltage measurements using a HP4284 LCR meter. The silicon oxynitride layers were grown on p-type single crystal Si (100) wafers using the parameters presented in Chapter 3. Before deposition, the substrates were cleaned by using a 4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch for oxide removal. The substrate temperature was fixed at 250°C. The films grown in the ICP system were approximately 13 nm thick. A 50 nm TiN and 150 nm thick Al gate electrode were sputtered at 350°C and 50° C, respectively. On the wafer backside 675 nm Al(1% Si) was sputtered to form an ohmic contact. After that, the samples were sintered in a conventional furnace in forming gas at 400°C for 20 min. The equivalent oxide thickness and interface trap level density were extracted from capacitance values. Measurements were performed at low and high frequencies – 100 Hz and 1 MHz. Good C-V characteristics were measured and a low interface trap level density of the capacitors was extracted as shown in Figure 5.14.

These good results indicate that a TiN metal layer in combination with an Al(1%Si) reflective mask will be suitable for nanoscale metal-gate electrode processing. Therefore, for the DotFET devices the gate stack was chosen to be comprised of a 13-nm-thick ICP SiO_xN_y layer grown at 250°C, a 50-nm-thick TiN layer and a 150-nm-thick Al(1%Si) layer both deposited by sputtering at 350°C and 50°C, respectively.



Figure 5.14: C-V characteristics of a gate stack comprised of an ICP SiO_xN_y dielectric grown at 250°C and a TiN-Al(1%Si) metal-gate.

5.1.5 Low energy implantation and laser annealing for ultrashallow source/drain doping

When the source/drain areas have been patterned by e-beam lithography, the etching away of the gate stack in these areas is carefully adjusted to remove all gate material from the small openings and to land on the Si surface. The surface is then prepared for the low energy implantation by a 15 s dip-etch in a buffered-HF (1:7) solution. A SEM image of the etched source and drain is shown in Figure 5.15 and 5.16. The major part of the source-drain current flows under the short gate section through the strained Si cappinglayer, which is the main area of concern for enabling an evaluation of the influence of SiGe dots on the channel strain. The analysis by TEM shown in Figures 5.17a and 5.17b confirms that the SiGe dot and the top silicon layer have perfect crystallinity. The implantation of arsenic ions at 5 keV to a dose of 10^{15} ions/cm² at 30° tilt angle in 8 directions was done immediately after dipping the wafers in a BHF(1:7) solution. The implanted regions were then laser-annealed with the Al-gate layer serving as the reflective mask. The laser energy density was varied from 850 mJ/cm² to 1000 mJ/cm² (50 mJ/cm² steps) with 1% overlap and a 1.75 x 2.5 mm² spot size. After the recrystallization of source/drain implanted regions the gate-metal track is patterned by optical lithography and etching of TiN/Al(1%Si) metal stack is performed by RIE. The accurate alignment of the structures patterned by e-beam to the dot structure is also confirmed by the SEM analysis shown in Figure 5.16. This SEM image is taken of a test structure with the Al(1%Si) gate patterned over the dot structure after the laser annealing.



Figure 5.15: SEM micrograph after the etching of the gate stack patterned by e-beam lithography to define the source/drain/channel regions. Image from Forschungszentrum Jülich.



Figure 5.16: SEM micrograph of the DotFET device with gate-metal track patterned by optical lithography. The channel region is accurately aligned to a single SiGe dot.



Figure 5.17: TEM image of a DotFET cross-section (a). Close-up of the Si/SiGe/Si stack (b).

5.1.6 Contacts and metallization

After the gate patterning the photoresist is removed, the wafers are cleaned and an 800-nm-thick PECVD SiO_2 was deposited at 400 °C and contacts are opened to the source and drain with soft-landing on Si surface. This is followed by the PVD of a 905-nm-thick Al(1%Si) layer at 350°C. The metal is then removed where not needed on the surface and contact windows are opened to the gate metal. A second layer of Al(1%Si) with a thickness of 1475 nm is then deposited and patterned to create the metal tracks connecting the active device areas to the metal pads. The final process step is alloying in a forming gas mixture for 20 min at 400°C. In Table 5.1 an overview is given of the process flow for the DotFET device fabrication.

DotFET
p-type Si wafer (100)
Si cleaning
HF (0.55%) dip-etch, 4 min
Dirt barrier – 20 nm thermal SiO ₂
Bulk implantation
20 1x10 ¹² / 50 keV, 1.1x10 ¹² / 100keV, 1.3x10 ¹² cm ⁻² , Boron
Thermal SiO ₂ removal (dirt barrier) – BHF (1:7)
Cleaning
Annealing- Furnace at 1000°C, 30 min in N ₂ gas flow
Seed holes patterning (see Figure 6.4)
SiGe dot growth and Si capping layer (30 nm)
PECVD SiO ₂ deposition – 400 nm at 400°C
Active area lithography
PECVD SiO ₂ etching – RIE + wet etching (BHF (1:7))
Photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma
Cleaning
HF (0.55%) dip-etch, 4 min
ICP oxynitride growth – 13 nm
50 nm TiN sputtered at 350°C
150 nm Al sputtered at 50°C
Al(1%Si) – reflective mask for laser annealing
Source/drain e-beam lithography
Gate-stack etching (RIE) – source/drain openings
E-beam photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma
Cleaning
BHF (1:7) dip-etch: 15 s
S/D implantation

Table 5.1: Process flow for the DotFET fabrication.

S/D excimer laser annealing
0-850-900-950-1000 mJ/cm ² (1% overlap)
Cleaning
Gate lithography
RIE – Al(1%Si) of 150 nm and TiN of 50 nm
Photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma
Cleaning
PECVD SiO ₂ deposition – 800 nm at 400°C
Source/drain contact lithography
PECVD SiO₂ etching – RIE – soft-landing on Si surface
4 min HF (0.55%) dip-etch
905 nm Al(1%Si) sputtered at 350°C
Gate contact lithography
RIE- Al(1%Si) and PECVD SiO ₂ etching, landing on Al metal-gate
Photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma
Cleaning
Gate contact metallization - Al(1%Si) 1.4 μm
Lithography of metal interconnections to source, drain and gate
RIE – metal interconnection patterning
Photoresist removal – O ₂ plasma
Cleaning
Alloying in forming gas at 400°C – 20 min

5.2 Electrical device characterization

The DotFET devices fabricated as described in the previous Section were measured on an Agilent 4156C parameter analyzer and the output characteristics are analyzed. Transistors were fabricated with a gate length varying between 50 nm and 200 nm and a gate width between 100 nm and 300 nm. The source/drain regions of the transistors were exposured to laser energy densities between 850 mJ/cm² and 1000 mJ/cm² and some devices were not annealed at all. The laser irradiation was done by a single shot of light from the XeCl excimer laser (wavelength 308 nm) with a pulse

duration of 25 ns at full-width half-maximum and a laser spot size of 1.75 x 2.5 mm². A set of reference devices were fabricated on the same wafer as the DotFETs using an identical layout, but without the underlying SiGe dot. By processing these devices on the same die as the DotFETs, the influence of wafer-to-wafer and over the wafer variations is minimized.

The V_{DS} versus I_D and the output characteristics of DotFETs were measured and the drain current points were extracted for the bias condition of $V_G = 4$ V and $V_{DS} = 3$ V. The summary of the drain currents extracted for devices with different dimensions is given in Figure 5.18 which shows an increase of the drain current for the laser annealed devices as compared to those that were not laser annealed. A maximum in drain current can be observed at 850-900 mJ/cm² but there is a significant spread in values above these energies. This spread, also towards lower drain current values, be attributed to degradation of the device performance sue to damage at the high laser energy levels in combination with the nanoscale dimensions of the device. From the results is possible see that the optimum energy density of the laser light seems to be in the range of 850-900 mJ/cm².

The size of the SiGe dot is in the range of 250-300 nm which means that transistors with gate width of 300 nm are very close to or larger than the dot diameter. In this case, a large portion of current between the source and drain may flow around the dot structure rather than through the silicon channel over the SiGe dot. Therefore, for the following analysis devices were chosen with gate dimensions that guarantee that the source and drain current flows through the channel region over the SiGe dot. A threshold voltage, subthreshold swing, DIBL and transcondutance varying between 1.57 V and 1.69 V, 270 V/dec. and 410 V/dec, 8 mV/V and 83mV/V, 1.5 μ A/V and 2.47 μ A/V were calculated, respectively. A high subthreshold swing can be observed for all DotFET devices and consequently the ratio between on and off currents is not optimal. The possible cause is related to the processing, since the bulk region under the channel is highly doped and this can increase the subthreshold swing. Reduction of the bulk implantation under the channel region and simulations needs to be considered for an optimum doping level to reduce the subthreshold swing close to 60 mV/V and adjust the threshold voltage. The Figures 5.19, 5.20, 5.21 and 5.22 show the output characteristics of DotFET devices with different dimensions and good characteristics of DotFET devices can be observed.

The most important results obtained from the electrical characterization of the processed devices are related to the comparison of DotFETs with the reference devices processed outside of the regular arrays of SiGe dots. Reference devices with different gate lengths and a gate width of 100 nm and 150 nm were fabricated and laser annealed at 900 mJ/cm². The variability plays a significant role in the measured devices due to their small dimensions resulting in a large spread of measured characteristics. However, the analysis of the measured data reveals that the DotFETs have higher current drivability under the same bias conditions as the reference devices. The improvement in the drain current is in the range between 2% and 35% for devices annealed at 850mJ/cm² and between 2% and 21% for devices annealed at 900mJ/cm², as shown in Figure 5.23.



Figure 5.18: I_D versus laser-anneal energy for DotFETs with different gate lengths and a fixed $V_{DS} = 3$ V and $V_G = 4$ V.



Figure 5.19: I_D versus V_{DS} (left-side) and $I_D \ge V_G$ (right-side) transfer characteristics curves of DotFET devices with different gate width and with source and drain laser annealed at energy of 900 mJ/cm². The gate length was fixed in 50nm.





Figure 5.20: I_D versus V_{DS} (left) and I_D versus V_G (right) transfer characteristics of DotFET devices with different gate width and with source/drain laser annealed at an energy of 900 mJ/cm². The gate length has a fixed value of 100 nm.



Figure 5.21: I_D versus V_{DS} (left) and I_D versus V_G (right) transfer characteristics of DotFET devices with different gate width and with source/drain laser annealed at an energy of 900 mJ/cm². The gate length has a fixed value of 150 nm.



Figure 5.22: I_D versus V_{DS} (left) and I_D versus V_G (right) transfer characteristics of DotFET devices with different gate width and with source/drain laser annealed at an energy of 900 mJ/cm². The gate length has a fixed value of 200 nm.


Figure 5.23: Comparison of the extracted drain current versus gate length for DotFETs and reference devices annealed at 850 mJ/cm² and 900 mJ/cm². The devices have a gate width of 100 nm and 150 nm. The drain current is extracted for $V_G = 4$ V, $V_{DS} = 3$ V.

5.3 D-DotFET devices

After the development of the technology already discussed in this chapter for the fabrication of the DotFET devices, the possibilities of adding steps to make a disposable DotFET were studied in order to create the aspired Silicon-on-Nothing type structure. The approach that seemed most accessible was to define holes close to the channel area and use a dry etch step to go through the top oxide down to the SiGe dot. Then a selective wet or dry chemical etch could be used to remove the germanium as indicated in Figure 5.24. The high Ge content inside the dot and the high selectivity of the etchant should then guarantee the removal of the dot without significant etching of the silicon or oxide. To access the Ge dot without damage to the active device part, high accuracy and small dimensions are required for the etching of the access holes. For this reason, it would be necessary to planarized the surface by, for example, depositing PECVD oxide over the structures and applying chemical mechanical polishing (CMP). Then the lithography could be performed by e-beam and the etching should be performed by highly anisotropic RIE.

The following etchants are found in the literature for efficiently etching selectively to the SiGe dot:

Thermal approach: chemical vapour etching using a HCl/H₂ gas mixture at temperatures from 500°C-750°C. The etch-rate increases when the Ge content increases (anisotropic etching) [140];

- Plasma dry: plasma of pure CF₄ at low temperatures (isotropic etching) [14];
- Wet chemistry:
- selective wet etching based on oxidant and etching reagents. A mixture composed of hydrofluoric acid (HF), nitric acid (HNO3), acetic acid (CH3COOH) and water can be used (HNA solution). The etching rate depends of the Ge concentration (isotropic etching) [146];
- selective etching using a mixture consisting of ammonium hydroxide (NH₄OH), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and deionized water [147, 148].



Figure 5.24: Proposed scheme for the removal of the SiGe dot in a DotFET in order to realize a D-DotFET: (a) oxide deposition by PECVD and planarization by CMP for lithography accuracy improvement, (b) positions of four access holes defined by e-beam.



Figure 5.25: Four access holes defined by e-beam lithography and etched by RIE for SiGe dot removal. The SiGe dot is the dark circular area in the middle of the four holes. Data from IFW Dresden.

At the IFW Dresden it was investigated whether the SiGe dot could be selectively etched away by using a mixture of 28% NH₄OH, 31% H₂O₂ and deionized water. In order to reach the edges of the SiGe island, an additional e-beam step had to be introduced in the process flow of the DotFET structures to define the holes through which the SiGe dot could be removed. After definition of the access holes, an anisotropic etching of the gate-stack and Si capping-layer could be performed to reach the SiGe dot and it is in principle possible to remove the dot by wet etching with high selectivity to silicon and the gate materials. The strain in the silicon bridge should then be preserved by the gate-stack. Since the wet etching solution is not selective to Al, it would be necessary to replace the Al/TiN gate with a purely TiN gate metal. An example of a sample where the SiGe dot was is shown in Figure 5.25. This sample was made for testing purposes only and was not submitted to full DotFET processing.

5.4 Self heating simulations: D-DotFET versus SOI-FET

For the D-DotFET devices an improvement is expected in the electrostatic properties that is comparable to an SOI-FET but without the thermal drawback of the poor heat conduction associated with an SOI substrate. The Technical University Wien simulated the D-DotFET electrthermally and made the comparison to DotFET devices on SOI substrates. For this simulation at $V_G = V_{DS} = 1.5$ V was assumed. The profiles of the temperature distribution are shown in Figure 5.26. In the D-DotFET a reduction of self-heating is observed as compared to the SOI-DotFET. A peak in the temperature can be observed in the pinch-off area of the channel.



Figure 5.26: Comparison of the temperature distribution in a D-DotFET and a DotFET on SOI. Data from Technical University Wien.

5.5 Conclusions

High performance n-DotFET devices have been successfully fabricated at low temperature, thus avoiding excessive Ge diffusion. Transistors with a minimum gate length dimension of 50 nm using TiN/Al(1%Si) metal-gates were processed. A SiGe dot grown by MBE was used as stressor material to obtain locally in the gate area a strained Si channel. Before the SiGe dot growth, an array of holes patterned by optical lithography using a double pattern transfer technique was developed. The SiGe/strain-Si layers were studied and simulated and a good improvement of drain current drivability was observed. To obtain ultrashallow junctions and high activation of source/drain dopants, excimer laser annealing was used and the best energies for annealing these structures were found to be between 850 mJ/cm^2 and 900 mJ/cm^2 . High laser energies can degrade the performance of the submicron devices. E-beam lithography was used to define nanoscale gate dimensions in the central region of the dot and a 1-µm-wide gate finger is defined to contact this narrow gate. Thus a part of the current between the source and drain flows around the dot structure rather than through the silicon channel over the SiGe dot. Despite this effect, it is still possible to determine the influence of the strain on the drain current.

The electrical characteristics show a drain current enhancement between 2% and 35%. The simulations show enhancements due to the strained Si layer of 20% - 22%. The small dimensions result in a large spread of measured characteristics. Nevertheless, the impact of the strain Si layer can be indentified. The SiGe dot was removed on a test sample using ammonium hydroxide, hydrogen peroxide and deionized water which shows the possibility of fabricating a D-DotFET device. Simulations of D-DotFETs and DotFETs fabricated on SOI substrates were done and the results show a reduction of self-heating for D-DotFET devices.

Chapter 6

Conclusions and recommendations

In this thesis several new processing techniques were combined to fabricate DotFETs with which the transfer of strain from a buried SiGe dot to a silicon channel above the dot could be evaluated. Central in the fabrication flow is the use of excimer laser annealing to replace high temperature thermal steps that would cause the Ge to diffuse out of the dot into the surrounding Si. Excimer laser annealing was successfully applied to the fabrication of diodes and MISFETs with good electrical characteristics. To keep the processing temperature low after dot formation, a low-temperature gate dielectric and metal stack was also developed so that the whole source/drain and gate regions of the transistor could be fabricated below 400°C. This low-temperature process flow that was developed for fabrication of DotFETs with the dot preserved during the whole processing, demonstrates the robustness of the dots and the desired strain enhanced mobility. The overall results presented in this thesis together with the theoretical work performed by Vienna/Milano and the strain analysis

180

performed by Linz, give strong evidence that SiGe dots can be a viable way of transferring strain to the Si channel of MOSFETs for the purpose of enhancing the mobility. Important factors are the demonstrated precision with which the position, size and shape of the dots can be fabricated. The potential early removal of the dot, that would make the fabrication of a D-DotFET possible, would also make the integration in existing advanced CMOS processes a small evolution rather than revolutionary and therefore this could be an attractive option for CMOS downscaling to the 10 nm node.

The main conclusions from this work are:

- Excimer laser annealing of implanted dopants is a very promising technique for ultrashallow junction formation. The junction depth can be precisely controlled by low energy implantation of the dopants. After implantation an amorphous Si layer above the *c*-Si is formed and during the laser annealing this layer will melt at a lower temperature than in *c*-Si which serves as seed for recrystallization. The sheet resistance of the laser annealed layer depends strongly of the laser energy and implantation parameters. Junctions that are 13 nm deep, as verified by SIMS and TEM imaging, have been demonstrated with 5 keV As⁺ implants at a 45° tilt and annealed with a 1000 mJ/cm² laser irradiation.
- Laser processing requires careful optimization, in particular to avoid the build-up of hot-spots that can lead to ablation of the Al reflective mask. This problem can be minimized by reducing the thermal

181

resistance of the dielectric layer under the Al reflective masking layer. In this respect the DotFET structure is attractive because the gate dielectric is only a few nm thick and it was possible to find a configuration where the source/drain regions could be annealed without damaging the gate dielectric-metal stack. This is a point that should be studied in more detail in relationship to the specific structure to be annealed.

- With the presented process flow for fabricating laser-annealed diodes self-aligned to the contact window it is possible to create good quality ultrashallow junctions. When pure oxide windows are employed, the necessary wet dip-etching in HF requires that the etch rate of the oxide is low enough to prevent exposure of the laser annealed junction at the window perimeter. A high implantation tilt angle can also be used with advantage to increase the overlap of the implant with the window perimeter and achieve much better diode characteristics. Diodes with an ideality factor of 1.05 have been fabricated using a thermal grown oxide as an isolation layer.
- Both before low energy implantation and contact metallization, a 4 minutes dip in low concentration HF or a 15 seconds dip in buffered-HF (1:7) solution is strictly recommended for surface passivation and native oxide removal. Without these steps, good electrical performance of the devices is not guaranteed.
- MIS capacitors were fabricated at low temperature using stacks of Al(1%Si) and TiN as metal gates. Silicon oxynitride and aluminium

oxide layers were studied as gate dielectrics and good electrical characteristics were obtained. The measurements show that there is a low interface trap density and low leakage current densities. In future, a more thorough investigation of the dielectric layer could be done by using Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) or Rutherford backscattering spectrometry (RBS) to identify compounds and investigate sample composition.

- A low temperature (≤ 400 °C) process for n and p-MISFET fabrication was developed where the excimer laser-annealing technique was used to activate the implanted dopants in the source/drain region. The electrical performance of the devices was good with respect to the drain current driving capability. The drain current drive is dependent on the laser energy density and consequently on the source/drain sheet resistance and gate length. An incomplete epitaxial regrowth of the implanted regions during the laser processing close to the gate edge was observed indicating that the gate stack is providing cooling of the perimeter regions. Since the next generation metal oxide semiconductor field-effect transistors require very thin equivalent oxide thickness, the heat conduction will be improved and this edge epitaxial effect reduced. Ultrashallow source/drain junctions were activated and TEM imaging revealed that the junctions were 10-12 nm deep for a 1000 mJ/cm^2 laser energy.
- A 66% and 1% laser-spot overlap was studied and for 66% overlap a higher dopant activation was achieved and consequently more

current was driven through the channel. In fact, by increasing the overlap an extra heating can be expected.

The DotFETs and D-DotFETs represent novel concepts for the fabrication of strained Si MOSFETs that have significant advantages as compared to SOI technology: there is an improvement in the electrostatic properties and a reduction of the self-heating and it is a low cost technology that does not require the use of expensive SOI substrates. In the D-DotFET approach, the channel is fabricated in a freestanding Si bridge stabilized by the gate stack and the SiGe dots are used to transfer the strain to the channel. Several parts of the device fabrication and simulations were performed in cooperation with other universities. A process using a double pattern transfer technique was used for seed-hole formation, the SiGe dot and strained Si capping layer were grown by MBE and the actual device was built on these layers. The DotFET devices have been successfully fabricated at low temperature and transistors with gate length of 200 nm down to 50 nm using a TiN/Al(1%Si) metal-gate were processed. Low temperature processing ($\leq 400^{\circ}$ C) after SiGe dot growth is very important to avoid any Ge diffusion during the processing which can change the characteristics of the SiGe-dot and strain transfer to the Si stack. The electrical characterization revealed that good functional devices were produced with source/drain laser annealed at 850-900 mJ/cm² and an enhancement of the drain current between 2% and 35% was measured. Due to the small dimensions of our devices, a large spread of measured characteristics was observed.

- For the fabricated devices, a source and drain current flowing around the dot structure can be expected due to large gate finger patterned by optical lithography (1 μ m). In future, the portion of current that flows outside the dot region could be reduced by a second e-beam lithography to define a perfect gate finger over the dot.
- Silicon oxynitride used as a gate dielectric can be substituted by other materials with a high dielectric constant as, for example, Al₂O₃ or HFO₂, to reduce the equivalent thickness, thus improving the device performance by increasing the drive current and reducing leakage currents through the gate.
- The activation of dopants in the source/drain regions needs to be analyzed more carefully to be sure that the thermal effects close to the gate stack are not predominent enough to be destructive for submicrom devices.

References

[1]- C. Dais, G. Mussler, H. Sigg, E. Müller, H.H. Solak, D.Grützmacher, "Evolution and Stability of ordered SiGe islands grown on patterned Si(100) substrates", Journal of Applied Physics, Vol. 105, pp. 122405, 2009.

[2]- J. Moers, J. Gerharz, G. Rinke, G. Mussler, St. Trellenkamp and D. Grützmacher, "Influence of the epitaxial growth and device processing on the overlay accuracy during processing of the d-DotFET", Thin Solid Films, Vol. 518, 2010.

[3]- T. U. Schulli, G. Vastola, M. I. Richard, A. Malachias, G. Renaud, F. Uhlik, F. Montalenti, G. Chen, L. Miglio, F. Schaffler and G. Bauer, "Enhanced Relaxation and Intermixing in Ge Island grown in Pit-Patterned Si(001) Substrate", Physics Review Letters, Vol. 102, pp. 025502, 2009.

[4]- O. Schmidt and K. Eberl, "Self-assembled Ge/Si dots for faster field effect transistors," IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, Vol. 48, N^o. 6, pp. 1175, 2001.

[5]- G. Vastola, A. Marzegalli, F. Montalenti, and L. Miglio, "Strain and strain-release engineering at epitaxial SiGe islands on Si(001) for microelectronic applications", Materials Science and Engineering B 159, pp. 90-94, 2009.

[6]- G. Vastola, F. Montalenti, and L. Miglio, "Understanding the elastic relaxation mechanisms of strain in Ge islands on pit-patterned Si(001) substrates", Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, Vol. 20, N° 45, pp. 454217, 2008.

186

[7]- V. Holy, J. Stangl, T. Fromherz, R. T. Lechner, E.Wintersberger, G. Bauer, C. Dais, E. Muller, and D. Grutzmacher, "X-ray diffraction investigation of a three-dimensional Si/SiGe quantum dot crystal", Physics Review B, Vol. 79, pp. 035324, 2009.

[8]- E. Bonera, F. Pezzoli, A. Picco, G. Vastola, M. Stoffel, E. Grilli, M. Guzzi, A. Rastelli, O.G. Schmidt, and L. Miglio, "Strain in a single ultrathin silicon layer on top of SiGe islands: Raman spectroscopy and simulations", Physics Review B, Vol. 79, pp. 075321, 2009.

[9]- N. Hrauda, J. J. Zhang, J. Stangl, A. Rehman-Khan, and G. Bauer, M. Stoffel and O.G. Schmidt, V. Jovanović and L. K. Nanver, "X-Ray Investigation of Buried SiGe Islands for Devices with Strain-Enhanced Mobility", Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology B, Vol. 27, pp. 912, 2009.

[10]- S. Dhar, E. Ungersböck, H. Kosina, T. Grasser, S. Selberherr, "Analytical Modeling of Electron Mobility in Strained Germanium", Proceedings of International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices, pp. 39, 2006.

[11]- S. Dhar, E. Ungersböck, H. Kosina, T. Grasser, S. Selberherr, "Electron Mobility Model for <110> Stressed Si Including Strain-Dependent Mass", IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology, Vol. 6, pp. 97, 2007.

[12]- S. Dhar, H. Kosina, G. Karlowatz, E. Ungersböck, T. Grasser, S. Selberherr, "A Tensorial High Field Electron Mobility Model for Strained Silicon", Proceeding of 2006 International SiGe Technology and Device Meeting ConferenceDigest, Princeton, pp. 72, 2006.

[13]- E. Ungersböck, S. Dhar, G. Karlowatz, H. Kosina, S. Selberherr, "Physical Modeling of Electron Mobility Enhancement for Arbitrarily Strained Silicon", Journal of Computational Electronics, Vol. 6, pp. 55, 2007.

[14]- E. Ungersböck, S. Dhar, G. Karlowatz, V. Sverdlov, H. Kosina, S. Selberherr, "The Effect of General Strain on the Band Structure and Electron Mobility of Silicon", IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, Vol. 54, pp. 2183, 2007.

[15]- Sèbastien Frégonèse, Yan Zhuang, Joachim N. Burghartz, "Modeling of strained CMOS on Disponsable SiGe dots: Strain Impacts on Devices' Electrical Characteristics", IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, Vol. 54, n°.9, pp. 2321, 2007.

[16]- Sèbastien Frégonèse, Yan Zhuang, Joachim N. Burghartz, "Modeling of strained CMOS on Disponsable SiGe dots: Shape impacts on electrical/thermal characteristics", Solid-State Electronics, Vol. 52, pp. 919, 2008.

[17]- F. Wanlass and C. T. Sah, "Nanowatt logic using field-effect metaloxide-semiconductor triodes", Technical Digest of the Int. Solid-State Circuit Conf., IEEE, pp. 32, 1963.

[18]- G. Moore, "Cramming more components onto integrated circuits", Electronics 38(8), pp. 11, 1965.

[19]- Intel website. www.intel.com (Timeline).

[20]- "International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS)", 2008 (Update).

[21]- "International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors (ITRS)", 2009.

[22]- Narain Arora, "MOSFET Modeling for VLSI Simulation", Word Scientific, 2007.

[23]- Yannis Tsividis: "Operation and Modeling of the MOS Transistor", WCB/McGraw-Hill, 1999.

[24]- S. Wolf, "Silicon Processing for the VLSI Era", Vol 1, Lattice Press, 1990.

[25]- Peter B. Griffin, James D. Plummer, Michael D. Deal, "Silicon VLSI Technology: Fundamentals, Pratice and Modeling", 1st. edition, Prentice Hall Inc., 2000.

[26]- Franco Maloberti, Analog Design for CMOS VLSI Systems, Kluwer Academic Publisher, 2001.

[27]- A. B. Bhattacharyya, "Compact MOSFET models for VLSI design", Wiley-IEEE Press., 2009.

[28]- Yann Civale, "Aluminium-Mediated Selective Solid-Phase Epitaxy of High-Quality Silicon Diodes", PhD thesis, Delft University of Technology, November 2008.

[29]- Yee-Chia Yeo and Rinus T.-P. Lee, "Advanced Contact Technology for MOSFETs: Integration of New Materials for Series Resistance Reduction", ECS Transactions, Vol. 25 (7), pp. 291, 2009.

[30]- G. Lucovsky, "Spatially-Selective Incorporation of Bonded-Nitrogen into Ultrathin Gate Dielectrics by Low-Temperature Plasma-Assisted Processing", Fundamental Aspects of Ultrathin Dielectrics on Si-Based Devices, E. Garfunkel, E. P. Gusev, and A. Y. Vul', Eds., Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherlands, pp. 147, 1998.

[31]- R. I. Hedge, B. Maiti, and P. J. Tobin, "Growth and Film Characteristics of N_2O and NO Oxynitride Gate and Tunnel Dielectrics", J. Electrochem. Soc. 144, pp. 1081, 1997.

[32]- Z. L. Ma, J. C. Chen, H. Liu, J. T. Krick, Y. C. Cheng, C. Hu, and P. K. Ko, "Suppression of Boron Penetration in p^+ Polysilicon Gate p-MOSFETs Using Low-Temperature Gate Oxide N₂O Anneal", IEEE Electron Device Lett. 15, pp. 109, 1994.

[33]- K. A. Ellis and R. A. Buhrman, "Boron Diffusion in Silicon Oxides and Oxynitrides", J. Electrochem. Soc. 145, pp. 2068, 1998.

[34]- G. D. Wilk, R. M. Wallace, J. M. Anthony, "High-k gate dielectrics: Current status and materials properties considerations", Journal of Applied Physics, Vol. 89, N^o. 10, pp. 5243, 2001.

[35]- K. Maex, M. R. Baklanov, D. Shamiryan, F. Iacopi, S. H. Brongersma and Z. S. Yanovitskaya, "Low dielectric constant materials for microelectronics", J. Appl. Phys. 93, pp. 8793, 2003.

[36]- Viktor Gonda, "Excimer Laser Annealing for Ultrashallow Junctions and Contacts", PhD thesis, Delft University of Technology, December 2008.

[37]- M. Popadić, "Silicon Doping Techniques using Chemical Vapor Deposition", PhD thesis, Delft University of Technology, 2009.

[38]- V. Jovanović, L. Shi, G. Lorito, G. Piccolo, F. Sarubbi and L. K. Nanver, "Integration of Junction FETs in Back-wafer Contacted Silicon-On-Glass Technology", Proc. SAFE/STW, Veldhoven, The Netherlands, pp. 425, pp. 29-30, 2007.

[39]- G. Lorito, L. K. Nanver, N. Nenadović, "Offset voltage of Schottkycollector silicon-on-glass vertical PNP's", Proc. IEEE Bipolar/BiCMOS Circuits and Technology Meeting BCTM, pp. 22-25, 2005.

[40]- G. Lorito, L. K. Nanver, N. Nenadović, "Analytical modeling and numerical simulations of the offset voltage in silicon-on-glass vertical PNP's", Proc. STW/SAFE, Veldhoven, The Netherlands, pp. 32-36, 2005.

[41]- G. Lorito, V. Gonda, S. Liu, T. L. M. Scholtes, H. Schellevis and L. K. Nanver, "Reliability issues related to laser-annealed implanted backwafer contacts in bipolar silicon-on-glass processes", Proc. IEEE International Conference on Microelectronics, MIEL, Vol. 2, pp. 369-372, Belgrade, Serbia and Montenegro, IEEE press, 2006.

[42]- L. K. Nanver, H. Schellevis, T.L.M. Scholtes, L. La Spina, G. Lorito, F. Sarubbi, V. Gonda, M. Popadić, K. Buisman, L.C.N. de Vreede, C. Huang, S. Milosavljević and E.J.G. Goudena, "RF/Microwave Device Fabrication in Silicon-on-Glass Technology", Proceedings of 26th International Conference on Microelectronics (MIEL 2008), Niš, Serbia, pp. 273, pp.11-14, 2008.

[43]- G. Lorito, V. Gonda, T.L.M. Scholtes and L.K. Nanver, "SiGe HBTs implemented with implanted laser-annealed emitters to completely eliminate the transient enhanced diffusion", Proceedings of 26th International Conference on Microelectronics (MIEL 2008), Niš, Serbia, pp. 291, 11-14 May 2008.

[44]- Peter Van Zant, "Microchip Fabrication", 5th Ed., McGraw-Hill, 2004.

[45]- J.D.Plummer, M.D.Deal and P.B.Griffin "Silicon VLSI Technology fundamental practice and modeling" Prentice Hall, 2000.

[46]- A. Ludsteck, J. Schulze, I. Eisele, W. Dietl, Z. Nenyei, "Growth model for thin oxides and oxide optimization" Journal of Applied Physics, Vol. 95, N° . 5, 2004.

[47]- Robert Doering and Yoshio Nishi, "Handbook of Semiconductor Manufacturing Technology". CRC Press, 2007.

[48]- E.V. Monakhov, B.G. Svensson, M.K. Linnarsson, A. La Magna, V. Privitera, M. Camalleri, G. Fortunato, L. Mariucci, "Excimer laser annealing of shallow As and B doped layers", Materials Science and Engineering B, 114–115, pp. 352, 2004.

[49]- Ready J. F., "Effects of High Power Laser Radiation", Academic Press, New York, 1976.

[50]- Susan K. Earles, "Nonmelt Laser Annealing of Boron Implanted Silicon", PhD thesis, University of Florida, 2002.

[51]- B. Yu, Y. Wang, H. Wang, Q. Xiang, C. Riccobene, S. Talwar, and M.-R. Lin, "70nm MOSFET with ultra-shallow, abrupt, and super-doped S/D extension implantation by laser thermal process (LTP)", in Proc. IEDM, pp. 509, 1999.

[52]- A. Shima, H. Ashihara, A. Hiraiwa, T. Mine, and Y. Goto, "Ultrashallow junction formation by self-limiting LTP and its application to sub-65 nm node MOSFETs", IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, Vol. 52, pp. 1165, 2005.

[53]- C. Park, S.-D. Kim, Y. Wang, S. Talwar, and J. C. S. Woo, "50 nm SOI CMOS transistors with ultra shallow junction using laser annealing and pre-amorphization implantation", in Symp. VLSI Tech. Dig. Tech. Papers, pp. 69, 2001.

[54]- S. Baek, S. Heo, H. Choi, and H. Hwang, "Characteristics of HfO_2 pMOSFET prepared by B_2H_6 plasma doping and KrF excimer laser annealing", IEEE Electron Device Lett., vol. 26, pp. 157, 2005.

[55]- R. Surdeanu, Y. V. Ponomarev, R. Cerutti, B. J. Pawlak, C. J. J. Dachs, P. A. Stolk, M. A. Verheijen, M. Kaiser, M. J. P. Hopstaken, J. G. M. van Berkum, F. Rozenboom, L. K. Nanver, I. Hoflijk, and R. Lindsay, "Laser annealing for ultra-shallow junction formation in advanced CMOS", presented at the 201st Electrochemical Society Meeting, Philadelphia, USA, May 12-17, 2002.

[56]- L. K. Nanver, J. Slabbekoorn, A. Burtsev, T. L. M. Scholtes, R. Surdeanu, F. Simon, H.-J. Kalhert, and J. W. Slotboom, "Electrical characterization of silicon diodes formed by laser annealing of implanted dopants", in Proc. 203rd Electrochemical Society Meeting, pp. 119, 2003.

[57]- Schroder Dieter K., "Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization", 2nd Edition, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1998.

[58]- Nan Yao, Zhong L. Wang, "Handbook of Microscopy for Nanotechnology", Kluwer Academic Plubishers, 2005.

[59]- David B. Williams, C. Barry Carter, "Transmission Electron Microscopy. A textbook for Materials Science" 2nd Edition. Springer, 2009.

[60]- History mosfet: Juin Jei Liou, Adelmo Ortiz-Conde, Francisco Garcia-Sanchez, Analysis and Design of MOSFETs - Modeling, Simulation, and Parameter Extraction Kluwer Academic Publisher 1998.

[61]- J. W. Matthews and A. E. Blakeslee, "Defects in epitaxial multilayers I. Misfit dislocations. Journal Crystal Growth, Amsterdam, Vol.27, pp. 118, 1974.

[62]- J. W. Matthews and A. E. Blakeslee, "Defects in epitaxial multilayers II. Dislocation pile-ups, threading dislocations, slip lines and cracks. Journal Crystal Growth, Amsterdam, Vol.29, pp. 273, 1975.

[63]- K. Rin, R. Anderson, D. Boyd, F. Cardone, K. Chan, H. Chen, S. Christansen, J. Chu, K. Jenkins, T. Karnarsky, S. Koester, B. H. Lee, K. Lee, V. Mazzeo, A. Mocuta, D. Mocuta, P.M. Mooney, P. Oldiges, J. Ott, P. Ronsheim, R. Roy, A. Steegen, M. Yang, H. Zhu, M. Ieong, H-S. P.Wong. "Strained Si CMOS (SS CMOS) technology: opportunities and challenges. Solid State Electronics, Lausanne, Vol. 47, N^o. 7, pp. 1133, 2003.

[64]- R. A. Donaton, D. Chidambarrao, J. Johnson, P. Chang, Y. Liu, W. K. Henson, J. Holt, X. Li, J. Li, A. Domenicucci, A. Madan, K. Rim, and C. Wann, "Design and Fabrication of MOSFETs with a Reverse Embedded SiGe (Rev. e-SiGe) Structure," in IEDM Tech. Dig., pp. 465, 2006.

[65]- S. E. Thompson et al., "A logic nanotechnology featuring strained silicon," IEEE Electron Device Lett., Vol. 25, pp. 191, 2004.

[66]- S. E. Thompson et al., "A 90-nm Logic Technology Featuring Strained-Silicon" IEEE Electron Device Lett., Vol. 51, pp. 1790, 2004.

[67]- Olsen S. H., O'Neill A. G., Norris D. J., Cullis A. G., Woods N. J., Zhang J., Fobelets K. and Kemhadjian H. A., "Strained Si/SiGe n-channel MOSFETs: impact of cross-hatching on device performance", Semiconductor science and technology, Vol. 17, N^o 7, pp. 655. 2002.

[68]- Minjoo L. Lee, Eugene A. Fitzgerald, Mayank T. Bulsara, Matthew T. Currie and Anthony Lochtefeld, "Strained Si, SiGe, and Ge channels for high-mobility metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors", J. Appl. Phys. 97, pp. 011101, 2005.

[69]- H. Daembkes, H.-J. Herzog, H. Jorke, H. Kibbel, and E. Kasper, "The n-channel SiGe/Si modulation-doped field-effect transistor," IEEE Trans.Electron Devices, vol. ED-33, N^o. 5, pp. 633, 1986.

[70]- H. C.-H. Wang, Y.-P. Wang, S.-J. Chen, C.-H. Ge, S. M. Ting, J.-Y. Kung, R.-L. Hwang, H.-K. Chiu, L. C. Sheu, P.-Y. Tsai, L.-G. Yao, S.-C. Chen, H.-J. Tao, Y.-C. Yeo, W.-C. Lee, and C. Hu, "Substrate-strained Si technology: Process integration," IEDM Tech. Dig., pp. 61, 2003.
[71]- J. J. Zhang, M. Stoffel, A. Rastelli, O. G. Schmidt, V. Jovanović, L. K. Nanver, and G. Bauer, "SiGe growth on patterned Si(001) substrates: Surface evolution and evidence of modified island coarsening," Applied Physics Letters, vol. 91, pp. 173115-1, 2007.

[72]- L. Nanver, C. Biasotto, V. Jovanović, J. Moers, D. Gr⁻utzmacher, J. Zhang, G. Bauer, O. Schmidt, L. Miglio, H. Kosina, A. Marzegalli, G. Vastola, G. Mussler, N. Hrauda, J. Stangl, J. Cingel", and E. Bonera, "SiGe dots as stressor material for strained Si devices," in Proc. 5th International SiGeTechnology and Device Meeting (ISTDM), 2010.

[73]- N. Hrauda, J. Zhang, M. Stoffel, J. Stangl, G. Bauer, A. Rehman-Khan, V. Holý, O. G. Schmidt, V. Jovanović, L. K. Nanver, "X-ray diffraction study of the composition and strain fields in buried SiGe islands", European Physical Journal: Special Topics, 167(1), pp. 41, 2009.

[74]- Cervenka, J. Kosina, H. Selberherr, S. Jianjun Zhang Hrauda, N. Stangl, J. Bauer, G. Vastola, G. Marzegalli, A. Miglio, L., "Strained MOSFETs on ordered SiGe dots", Solid-State device Research Conference (ESSDERC), pp. 297 – 300, 2010.

[75]- Dirk Basting, Klaus Pippert, and Uwe Stamm, "History and future prospects of excimer laser Technology" RIKEN Review No. 43 (January, 2002): Focused on 2nd International Symposium on Laser Precision Microfabrication –LPM, 2001.

[76]- B. Yu, Y. Wang, H. Wang, Q. Xiang, C. Riccobene, S. Talwar, and M.-R. Lin, "70nm MOSFET with ultra-shallow, abrupt, and super-doped S/D extension implantation by laser thermal process (LTP)", in Proc. IEDM, pp. 509-512, 1999.

[77]- H. Y. Wong, H. Takeuchi, T.-J. King, M. Ameen, and A. Agarwal, "Elimination of poly-Si gate depletion for sub-65-nm CMOS technologies by excimer laser annealing", IEEE Electron DeviceLett., vol. 26, pp. 234-236, 2005.

[78]- A. Shima, H. Ashihara, A. Hiraiwa, T. Mine, and Y. Goto, "Ultrashallow junction formation by selflimiting LTP and its application to sub-65 nm node MOSFETs", IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 52, pp. 1165-1171, 2005.

[79]- C. Park, S.-D. Kim, Y. Wang, S. Talwar, and J. C. S. Woo, "50 nm SOI CMOS transistors with ultra shallow junction using laser annealing and pre-amorphization implantation", in Symp. VLSI Tech.Dig. Tech. Papers, pp. 69-70, 2001.

[80]- S. Baek, S. Heo, H. Choi, and H. Hwang, "Characteristics of HfO₂ pMOSFET prepared by B₂H₆ plasma doping and KrF excimer laser annealing", IEEE Electron Device Lett., vol. 26, pp. 157-159, 2005.

[81] R. Surdeanu, Y. V. Ponomarev, R. Cerutti, B. J. Pawlak, C. J. J. Dachs, P. A. Stolk, M. A. Verheijen, M. Kaiser, M. J. P. Hopstaken, J. G. M. van Berkum, F. Rozenboom, L. K. Nanver, I. Hoflijk, and R. Lindsay, "Laser annealing for ultra-shallow junction formation in advanced CMOS", presented at the 201st Electrochemical Society Meeting, Philadelphia, USA, May 12-17, 2002.

[82] L. K. Nanver, J. Slabbekoorn, A. Burtsev, T. L. M. Scholtes, R. Surdeanu, F. Simon, H.-J. Kalhert, and J. W. Slotboom, "Electrical characterization of silicon diodes formed by laser annealing of implanted dopants", in Proc. 203rd Electrochemical Society Meeting, pp. 119-130, 2003.

[83]- B. Colombeau, S. H. Yeong, D. X. M. Tan, A. J. Smith, R. M. Gwilliam, C. M. Ng, K. R. C. Mok, F. Benistant, and L. Chan, "Ultra-Shallow Junction Formation - Physics and Advanced Technology", Ion Implantation Technology: 17th International Conference on Ion Implantation Technology. AIP Conference Proceedings, Volume 1066, pp. 11-18, 2008.

[84]- W. Lerch, S.Paul, D. F. Downey and E. A. Arevalo, "Rapid Thermal Solid Phase Epitaxy Annealing for Ultra-Shallow Junction Formation", pp. 43-49, ECS 2003.

[85]- Nanver, L.K.; Schellevis, H.; Scholtes, T.L.M.; La Spina, L.; Lorito, G.; Sarubbi, F.; Gonda, V.; Popadic, M.; Buisman, K.; de Vreede, L.C.N.; Huang, C.; Milosavljevic, S.; Goudena, E.J.G.," RF/microwave device fabrication in silicon-on-glass technology", Microelectronics, MIEL 2008. 26th International Conference, pp. 273 - 280, 11-14, 2008.

[86]- Ming He, "Crystallographic Orientation-and Location-controlled Si Single Grains on an Amorphous Substrate for Large Area electronics", PhD thesis, Delft University of Technology, 2007.

[87]- Robert K. Willardson, Albert C. Beer, "Semiconductors and Semimetals", Vol. 20, Academic Press, 1984.

[88]- M. Popadić, G. Lorito, L. K. Nanver, "Analytical model of I-V characteristics of arbitrarily shallow p-n junctions", IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 56, pp. 116-125, 2009.

[89]- Thompson, M. O., Galvin, G. J., Mayer, J. W., Peercy, P. S., Poate, J. M., Jacobson, D. C., Cullins, A. G., and Chew, N. G.. "Melting temperature and explosive crystallization of amorphous-silicon during pulsed laser irradiation". Phys. Rev. Lett., 52(26), pp. 2360–2363 1984.

[90]- S. De Unamuno and E. Fogarassy, "A thermal description of the melting of c- and a-silicon under pulsed excimer lasers", Applied Surface Science, vol. 36, pp. 1-11, 1989.

[91]- L. K. Nanver, J. Slabbekoorn, T. Scholtes, R. Surdeanu, C. Ortiz, F. Simon, H.-J. Kalhert, J.W. Slotboom, "Electrical Characterization of Silicon Diodes Formed by Laser Annealing of Implanted Dopants", Proc.ECS, pp. 119-130, 2003.

[92]- Cleber Biasotto, Vladimir Jovanović, Viktor Gonda, Johan van de Cingel, Silvana Milosavljević, Lis K. Nanver, "Integration of Laser-Annealed Junctions in a Low-Temperature High-k Metal-Gate MISFET", 10th International Conference on Ultimate Integration of Silicon-ULIS, pp. 181-184, 2009.

[93]- Y. F. Chong, K. L. Pey, A. T. S. Wee, A. See and L. Chan, Y. F. Lu and W. D. Song, L. H. Chua, "Annealing of ultrashallow p^+n junction by 248 nm excimer laser and rapid thermal processing with different preamorphization depths" Appied Physics Letters, Vol. 76, No 22, 2000.

[94]- K. Shibahara, K. Kurobe, Y. Ishikawa, K. Kagawa, Y. Niwatsukino, and A. Matsuno, "KRF Excimer Laser Annealing for Ultra Shallow Juction Formation: Approach for Irradiation Energy Density Reduction", 11th IEEE International Conference on Advanced Thermal Processing of Semiconductors – RTP, 2003.

[95]- Eun Sik 'Jung, Ji Chel Bea, Yong Jae Lee, "Ultra Shallow Junction Formation using Excimer Laser Annealing for Ultra Small Devices", ISIE, Pusan, KOREA, 2001.

[96]- E.V. Monakhov, B.G. Svensson, M.K. Linnarsson, A. La Magna, V. Privitera, M. Camalleri, G. Fortunato, L. Mariucci, "Excimer laser annealing of shallow As and B doped layers", Materials Science and Engineering B 114–115, pp. 352–357, 2004.

[97]- Cleber Biasotto, Viktor Gonda, Lis K. Nanver, J. Van der Cingel, and V. Jovanović, "Laser Annealing of Self-Aligned As⁺ Implants in Contact Windows for Ultrashallow Junction Formation", ECS Trans., Vol. 23, Issue 1, Process Technology, Microelectronics Technology and Devices, pp. 19-27, 2009.

[98] - M. Popadić, Lis K. Nanver, Cleber Biasotto, Viktor Gonda, and Johan van der Cingel, "Ultrashallow doping by excimer laser drive-in of RPCVD surface deposited Arsenic monolayers", Proceedings of 16th IEEE International Conference on Advanced Thermal Processing of Semiconductors (RTP 2008), pp.141-146, 2008.

[99]- A. Matsuno, K. Kagawa, Y. Niwatsukino, "Pulse duration effects on laser anneal shallow junction", in Proc. ISTC2002, pp. 148-156A, 2002.

[100] G. Fortunato, L. Mariucci, M. Stanizzi, V. Privitera, S. Whelan, C. Spinella, G. Mannino, M. Italia, C. Bongiorno, A. Mittiga. "Ultra-shallow junction formation by excimer laser annealing and low energy (<1 keV) B implantation: A two-dimensional analysis", Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B, vol. 186, pp. 401-408, 2002.

[101]- S. Solmi, M. Ferri, M. Bersani, D. Giubertoni, V. Soncini, "Transient enhanced diffusion of arsenic in silicon", Journal of Applied Physics, Vol. 94, pp. 4950, 2003.

[102]- J. Liu, V. Krishnamoorthy, H.-J. Gossman, L. Rubin, M. E. Law, K. S. Jones, "The effect of boron implant energy on transient enhanced diffusion in silicon", Journal of Applied Physics, 81 (4), pp. 1656 - 1660 1997.

[103]- Masashi Uematsu, "Implantation species dependence of transient enhanced diffusion in silicon", Journal of Applied Physics, Vol. 83, pp. 120 1998.

[104]- Viktor Gonda, "Excimer Laser Annealing for Ultrashallow Junctions and Contacts", PhD thesis, Delft University of Technology, December 2008.

[105]- V. Gonda, J. Slabbekoorn, L. K. Nanver, "Silicon laser annealing by a two-pulse laser system with variable pulse offsets", in Proc. RTP2007, pp. 257-261, 2007.

[106]- L. K. Nanver, N. Nenadović, V. d'Alessandro, H. Schellevis, H. W. van Zeijl, R. Dekker, D. B. De Mooij, V. Zieren, and J. W. Slotboom, "A back-wafer contacted silicon-on-glass integrated bipolar process – part I: The conflict electrical versus thermal isolation", IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 51, pp. 42-50, 2004.

[107]- Agilent Technologies manual, "Evaluation of Gate Oxides Using a Voltage Step Quasi-Static CV Method", Application Note 4156-10.

[108]- Kazunari Ishimaru, "45 nm/32 nm CMOS – Challenge and perspective", Solid-State Electronics 52, 1266–1273, 2008.

[109]- X. Garros, M. Casse, G. Reimbold, M. Rafik, F. Martin, F. Andrieu, V. Cosnier, F. Boulanger, "Performance and reliability of advanced High-K/Metal gate stacks", Microelectronic Engineering 86, 1609–1614, 2009.

[110]- Martin M. Frank, SangBum Kim, Stephen L. Brown, John Bruley, Matthew Copel, Marco Hopstaken, Michael Chudzik, Vijay Narayanan, "Scaling the MOSFET gate dielectric: From high-k to higher-k?", Microelectronic Engineering 86, 1603–1608, 2009.

[111]- S. N. M. Mestanza, M. P. Obrador, E. Rodriguez, C. Biasotto, I. Doi, J. A. Diniz, and J. W. Swart, "Characterization and modeling of antireflective coatings of SiO2, Si_3N_4 , and SiO_xN_y deposited by electron cyclotron resonance enhanced plasma chemical vapor deposition", J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B 24 (2), 823-827, 2006.

[112]- C. Biasotto, J.A.Diniz, A. M. Daltrini, Moshkalev, S. A., RAMOS, A. C. S., J. W. Swart . Suspended Silicon Oxynitride Structures Fabricated by ECR Plasma and Wet Etching. In: International Symposium on Dry Process, Jeju - South Korea. p. 387-388, DPS 2005 - Proceedings, 2005.

[113]- C.K. Wong, H. Wong, M. Chan, Y.T. Chow, H.P. Chan, "Silicon oxynitride integrated waveguide for on-chip optical interconnects applications", Microelectronics Reliability 48, 212–218, 2008.

[114]- Robert Mroczyński, Norbert Kwietniewski, Michał Ćwil, Patrick Hoffmann, Romuald B. Beck and Andrzej Jakubowski, "Improvement of electro-physical properties of ultra-thin PECVD silicon oxynitride layers by high-temperature annealing", Vacuum 82, 1013–1019, 2008.

[115]- E. Halova, S. Alexandrova, A. Szekeres, M. Modreanu, "LPCVDsilicon oxynitride films: interface properties", Microelectronics Reliability 45, 982–985, 2005.

[116]- Jeng-Hwa Liao, Jung-Yu Hsieh, Hsing-Ju Lin, Wei-Yao Tang, Chun-Ling Chiang, Yun-Shan Lo, Tai-Bor Wu, Ling-Wu Yang, Tahone Yang, Kuang-Chao Chen and Chih-Yuan Lu, "Physical and electrical characteristics of silicon oxynitride films with various refractive indices", Journal Physics D: Appl. Phys. Vol. 42, No 17, 175102, 2009.

[117]- J. Dupuis, E. Fourmond, J.F. Lelièvre, D. Ballutaud, M. Lemiti, "Impact of PECVD SiON stoichiometry and post-annealing on the silicon surface passivation", Thin Solid Films 516, 6954–6958, 2008.

[118]- D. Criado, A. Zúñiga and I. Pereyra, "Structural and morphological studies on SiO_xN_y thin films", Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids 354, 2809–2815, 2008.

[119]- Luis da Silva Zambom, Patrick Verdonck, "Deposition of silicon oxynitride at room temperature by Inductively Coupled Plasma-CVD", Thin Solid Films 515, 596 – 598, 2006.

[120]- P. Vitanov, A. Harizanova, T. Ivanova and T. Dimitrova, "Chemical deposition of Al_2O_3 thin films on Si substrates", Thin Solid Films 517, 6327–6330, 2009.

[121]- Ning Li, J.P. Allain, D.N. Ruzic, "Enhancement of aluminum oxide physical vapor deposition with a secondary plasma", Surface and Coatings Technology 149, 161–170, 2002.

[122]- C. Cibert, H. Hidalgo, C. Champeaux, P. Tristant, C. Tixier, J. Desmaison, A. Catherinot, "Properties of aluminum oxide thin films deposited by pulsed laser deposition and plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition", Thin Solid Films 516, 1290–1296, 2008.

[123]- C.H. Lin, H.L. Wang, M.H. Hon, "Preparation and characterization of aluminum oxide films by plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition", Surface and Coatings Technology 90, 102-106, 1997.

[124]- Website: http://www.saunalahti.fi/suntola/biography.html.

[125]- Won Suk Yang, Yeong Kwan Kim, Seung-Yeal Yang, Jin Hwak Choi, Heung Soo Park, Sang In Lee, Ji-Beom Yoo, "Effect of SiO intermediate layer on $Al_2O_3/SiO_2/n^+$ -poly Si interface deposited using atomic layer deposition (ALD) for deep submicron device applications", Surface and Coatings Technology 131, 79-83, 2000.

[126]- Ofer Sneh, Robert B.Clark-Phelps, Ana R.Londergan, Jereld Winkler, Thomas E.Seidel, "Thin film atomic layer deposition equipment for semiconductor processing", Thin Solid Films 402, 248–261, 2002.

[127]- Hyoungsub Kim, Paul C. McIntyre, "Atomic Layer Deposition of Ultrathin Metal-Oxide Films for Nano-Scale Device Applications", Journal of the Korean Physical Society, Vol. 48, No. 1, pp. 5-17, 2006.

[128]- Rajesh Katamreddy, Ronald Inman, Gregory Jursich, Axel Soulet, Christos Takoudis, "Nitridation and oxynitridation of Si to control interfacial reaction with HfO₂" Thin Solid Films 516, 8498–8506, (2008).

[129]- H. Z. Massoud, J. D. Plummer, and E. A. Irene, "Thermal Oxidation of Silicon in Dry Oxygen Growth Rate Enhancement in the Thin Regime: Experimental Results", J. Electrochem. Soc., vol. 132, no. 11, pp. 2685-2693, 1985.

[130]- H. Z. Massoud and J. D. Plummer, "Analytic Relationship for the Oxidation of Silicon in Dry Oxygen in the Thin-Film Regime," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 62, no. 8, pp. 3416-3423, 1987.

[131]- B. E. Deal and A. S. Grove, "General Relationship for the Thermal Oxidation of Silicon", J. Appl. Phys., vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 3770-3778, 1965.

[132]- Cleber Biasotto, Vladimir Jovanović, Viktor Gonda, Johan van der Cingel, Silvana Milosavljevic, Lis K. Nanver "Downscaling of Al/Si-gate MOSFETs with self-aligned laser-annealed source/drain junctions", Workshop on Semiconductor Advances for Future Electronics and Sensors, pp. 189-192, 2009.

[133]- Website: http://nanohub.org

[134]- J. Gerharz, G. Mussler, J. Moers, G. Rinke, S. Trellenkamp, D. Grützmacher "The disposable Dot FET: A strained silicon channel on top of removed SiGe" Proceedings of 10th international conference on ultimate integration of Silicon, ULIS Conference, pp. 177-180, 2009.

[135]- L. R. C. Fonseca, A. A. Knizhnik,"First-principles calculation of the TiN effective work function on SiO2 and on HfO2", Physical Review B 74, 195304, 2006.

[136]- Yongxun Liu et al., "Investigation of the TiN Gate Electrode With Tunable Work Function and Its Application for FinFET Fabrication" IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology, vol. 5, no.6, 2006.

[137]- M.C. Lemme, J.K. Efavi, T. Mollenhauer, M. Schmidt, H.D.B. Gottlob, T. Wahlbrink, H. Kurz, "Nanoscale TiN metal gate technology for CMOS integration" Microelectronic Engineering 83, pp. 1551–1554, 2006.

[138]- Jorgen Westlinder, Gustaf Sjoblom, Jorgen Olsson, "Variable work function in MOS capacitors utilizing nitrogen-controlled TiNx gate electrodes" Microelectronic Engineering 75, pp. 389–396, 2004.

[139]- Kirt R. Williams et. al., "Etch rates for Micromachining Processing – Part II", Journal of Microelectromrchanical Systems, vol. 2, no. 6, 2003.

[140]- Thierry Salvetat, Vincent Destefanis, Stephan Borel, Jean-Michel Hartmann, Olivier Kermarrec, and Yves Campidelli, "Comparison Between Three Si1-xGex versus Si Selective Etching Processes", ECS Trans. 16 (10), pp. 439-449, 2008.

[141]- G. Katsaros, A. Rastelli, M. Stoffel, G. Isella, H. von Känel, A. M. Bittner, J. Tersoff, U. Denker, O. G. Schmidt, G. Costantini and K. Kern, Surf. Sci. 600, pp. 2608-2613, 2006.

[142]- O.G. Schmidt, U. Denker, S. Christiansen, F. Ernst, Appl. Phys. Lett. 81, pp. 2614-2616, 2002.

List of symbols and abbreviations

List of symbols

- ε_o permittivity of free space
- ε_{ox} oxide dielectric constant
- ϵ_{Si} dielectric constant of silicon
- n_i intrinsic carrier concentration
- λ Debye length
- μ mobility of the charge carriers
- ϕ_M difference in the work functions
- *of* Fermi potential
- ψ_F difference between the intrinsic level and Fermi level
- A gate area
- C_{fb} flat band capacitance
- $C_{min.}$ minimum depletion layer capacitance
- C_{HF} high-frequency capacitance
- C_{LF} minimum value of the capacitance
- C_{ox} gate-oxide capacitance

202

c-Si - crystalline-Si

- C_{sfb} depletion layer capacitance
- D_{it} interface trap level density
- exx channel length direction
- eyy channel width direction
- ezz vertical direction

 g_m – transconductance

 I_{DS} - drain current

Ioff - off current

Ion - on current

L - gate length

 N_a - dopant density in the channel

N₂ - nitrogen

O₂ - oxygen

q - magnitude of electronic charge

 Q_{ss}/q - of effective charges in the gate dielectric

 R_{ch} : channel resistance between the source and drain of the transistor

 R_{co} : contact resistance between the metal contact and implanted source/drain regions

 R_{ol} : overlap resistance in the overlap region between the gate and the source/drain

Rs - sheet resistance

 R_{sh} : resistance determined by the sheet resistance of the source/drain regions.

R_{sp}: Spreading resistance

 $R_{S/D}$ - source/drain resistance

SiO₂ - Silicon dioxide

SiO_xN_y - Silicon oxynitride

SiN_x - Silicon nitride t_{ox} - dielectric oxide thickness Xj - junction depth V_{DD} - power supply voltage V_{DS} - drain voltage V_{FB} - flat-band voltage V_{GS} - gate voltage V_{Th} - threshold voltage W - channel width XeCl - xenon chloride

List of abbreviation

AFM - Atomic Force Microscopy

ALD - atomic-layer deposition

Al₂O₃ - aluminium oxide

a-Si - amorphous-Si

BHF - buffered-HF

CMOS - Complementary-Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor

CMP - chemical mechanical polishing

C-V - capacitance-voltage

CVD - chemical-vapor deposition

DIBL - drain-induced barrier lowering

Dimes - Delft Institute of Microsystems and Nanoelectronics

D-DotFET - Disposable Dot Field Effect Transistor

EBL - e-beam lithography

EOT - equivalent oxide thickness

ELA - Excimer Laser Annealing

- FEM finite-element-method
- FP6 Sixth Framework Program
- FTIR Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
- FWHM full width at half maximum
- FZ Jülich Forschungszentrum Jülich

He - helium

- HF hydrofluoric acid
- HfO₂ hafnium oxide
- ICP inductively coupled plasma
- IL interference lithography
- I-V current-voltage
- ITRS International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors
- JFETs Junction Field Effect Transistors
- LOCOS Local Oxidation of Silicon
- LPCVD Low Pressure Chemical Vapor Deposition
- MBE Molecular Beam Epitaxy
- MEMS Micro-Electro-Mechanical Systems
- MIS metal-insulator-semiconductor
- MISFET Metal-Insulator-Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor
- MOS Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor
- MOSFET Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field Effect transistor
- NIL nano-imprint lithography
- PE plasma-enhanced
- PECVD plasma-enhanced chemical-vapor-deposition
- PVD physical vapor deposition
- RBS Rutherford backscattering spectrometry

- RIE reactive-ion etching
- RF radio frequency
- **RTP** Rapid Thermal Processing
- SCE Short Channel Effect
- SiGe Silicon Germanium
- SIMS Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry
- SOG Silicon-on-Glass
- SOI Silicon-on-Insulator
- SON Silicon-on-Nothing
- S-K Stranski-Krastanow
- SS subthreshold swing
- STI Shallow Trench Isolation
- TED Transient Enhanced Diffusion
- TEM Transmission Electron Microscopy
- TEOS tetraethyl orthosilicate
- TMA trimethylaluminium
- TiN titanium nitride
- TUDelft Delft University of Technology
- USJ ultrashallow junctions
- UTB SOI Ultra-Thin-Body Silicon-on-Insulator
- XRD X-ray diffractometry

Summary

by Cleber Biasotto

The work presented in this thesis was performed in the context of the European Sixth Framework Program FP6 project "Disposable Dot Field Effect Transistor for High Speed Si Integrated Circuits", referred to as the D-DotFET project. The project had the goal of realizing strain-enhanced mobility in CMOS transistors by transferring strain from a self-assembled germanium dot to the channel of a transistor fabricated above the dot. The initial idea was to dispose of the Ge dot underneath the channel after the gate processing so that the gate-stack would also serve to stabilize the channel-bridge and maintain the strain induced in the channel silicon by the Ge dot. The advantage of using a SiGe dot as a strain source is its scalability to as low as 10 nm gate dimensions, which is not obvious for currently used methods for imparting strain on the Si channel. Furthermore, the D-DotFET structure offers advantages for the electrostatic and electrothermal behavior of MOS devices. For example, SOI devices with fully-depleted channel are a solution for short-channel effects but the insulating oxide beneath the device introduces a thermal management issue. This problem is solved in Silicon-on-Nothing (SON) devices because the insulating region is then only found under the gate with the source and drain regions still being anchored to the thermally conductive bulk silicon. The D-DotFET resembles the SON transistor but with the added advantage of strainenhanced device gain and speed. In that way the D-DotFET combines four potential improvements: strain enhanced performance, scalability to future ~ 10 nm generations, suppression of short-channel effects, and good heat dissipation.

Research was done in several areas to assure that the stringent requirements on uniformity, reproducibility and reliability could potentially be met to

208
transfer the D-DotFET concept to advanced CMOS. The growing of silicon germanium (SiGe) dots with the necessarily high Ge content was first developed, and uniformity and reproducibility were brought to a high level of perfection. The strain of both bare and overgrown dots was extensively analyzed both experimentally and theoretically. Then, the strain that could be transferred to the channel of a MOSFET was evaluated in terms of mobility enhancement via device simulations, and lastly, the actual integration of dots was demonstrated in a low-complexity n-MOSFET research process that was specially tailored to this application, which is the topic of this thesis.

The Dimes cleanrooms were not equipped to set up a state-of-the-art CMOS process to investigate the D-DotFET concept. However, the available expertise and equipment was suitable for running a more advanced process, where excimer laser annealing could be implemented to replace the standard rapid thermal annealing and a metal gate could replace the standard polysilicon gate. Furthermore, the patterning of ~ 100 nm gate features was performed by e-beam lithography by the project partner Forschungszentrum Jülich. To avoid as many nanoscale lithography steps as possible, geometry with large source-drain contacting areas was devised so that only one step, the ~ 100 nm gate definition itself, needed to be patterned by e-beam.

Additionally, since the goal was in first instance to verify the strainenhanced gain induced by the dot, it was decided to significantly simplify the transistor processing by retaining the dot throughout. A "DotFET" rather than a "D-DotFET" was therefore fabricated. This meant that only lowtemperature processing steps could be performed after the dot formation, in order to avoid intermixing of Si and Ge and consequent strain relaxation. This was realized in a dedicated n-MOSFET process where the temperature was kept below 400°C after epitaxy by using low-temperature gate dielectrics and a metal gate self-aligned to implanted and laser annealed source/drain regions.

The SiGe dots used for the DotFET fabrication were grown in a selfassembling Stranski-Krastanow mode that allows single-crystalline dots of SiGe to grow in three-dimensions on predefined seedholes. Under appropriate conditions this growth is defect free and can easily be scaled down. The 3D growth of the SiGe allows a higher Ge content inside the dot before the onset of crystal dislocations as compared to the growth of 2D SiGe layers of similar thickness. The smaller the SiGe dots the higher the Ge content that can be maintained without defect formation and consequently a higher strain can be exerted on any Si layer grown over the dot. For the devices described in this thesis, the dots were grown by MBE on a regular seedhole pattern of submicron periodicity etched into the Si. The growth was investigated in detail to determine the optimum growth conditions and seedhole-patterns for achieving a dot-size and strain level suitable for constructing a MOSFET over the center of the dot structure where the biaxial tensile strain could be exploited for channel mobility enhancement.

For a uniform and reproducible SiGe dot growth, excellent results were achieved by a location-controlled growth method where large, regular arrays of seedholes are patterned on an otherwise flat Si substrate. In the present work, both i-line optical lithography and e-beam lithography (EBL) were used to pattern such holes in (100) Si wafers. In the case of e-beam lithography a very good control of the seedhole positions and size is obtained and the resulting dots are extremely regular. The present DotFET fabrication required a dot size that could accommodate a gate of length \sim 100 nm. For this purpose the most suitable seedhole arrays were the ones with a periodicity of 800 nm that rendered a maximum dot diameter in the range of 230 nm. EBL patterning of this configuration was used for the device fabrication, while analysis of the dot properties was also performed on samples processed with optical lithography. The growing of the dots on the seedhole pattern starts with the deposition of a Si buffer layer which smoothes the surface. The dots are then grown at 720°C from a pure Ge source

In **Chapter 2**, a simple, low-temperature process flow for achieving good quality ultrashallow n^+p junction diodes has been demonstrated for 5 keV As⁺ implants activated by excimer laser annealing. Much research has recently been done using ELA techniques due to the extremely short annealing times that potentially eliminate transient enhanced diffusion effects, reach high levels of dopant activation and give abrupt junctions. Compared to conventional rapid thermal anneal procedures ELA offers the advantage of a good control of the junction depth, where a reduction of the vertical implantation range can serve as a direct means of also decreasing the junction depth. The laser processing research performed at Dimes in the past, rather than being aimed at the fabrication of source and drain regions

for CMOS, has been motivated by the need to have access to good quality diodes in integration situations where only very low temperatures are permitted, such as in silicon-on-glass processing.

With respect to the bulk laterally-uniform part of the diode away from the perimeter, it is important that the Si-surface to be implanted is smooth and native-oxide free before implantation. The implant needs to be so shallow that the melt region encompasses the whole implanted region but deep enough to avoid laser-induced-surface-structuring effects on the Si surface from affecting the underlying metallurgic junction region. Tilted implants can reduce the final junction depth of the 5 keV implants to below 20 nm. With respect to the perimeter of the diode, the key to achieving diodes of good quality is the termination of the metallurgic junction at an oxide-tosilicon interface that is of good quality. In the presented experiments this is achieved by using a thin layer of thermal oxide to cover the Si under a thicker low-temperature isolation layer. The oxide at the interface is a 30nm-thin layer of thermal oxide, which is still sufficiently thick to avoid excessive widening of the contact window during the dip-etch used to remove native oxide before metallization. After the growth of the isolation oxide, all processing steps are performed at temperatures below 400°C. A reflective mask of Al is applied to localize the laser melting of the silicon to the desired diode region and to protect the perimeter. The tilted implants also increase the overlap of the oxide isolation with the diode perimeter, making the process more robust which in turn reduces perimeter leakage. The completeness of the laser melt at the perimeter depends on the thermal conductivity of the surroundings. Less melting of the perimeter with respect to the bulk is identified by TEM analysis in diodes processed in Dimes and this may be a source of extra perimeter leakage that needs to be taken into account when designing a specific process flow and diode structure. The best results are achieved here with an implant of 2×10^{15} cm⁻² at tilt of 30°. For diodes with an area of 80 μ m² this gives an ideality factor of 1.04 and reverse leakage at 2 V in 10^{-5} A/cm² range.

The low-temperature processing needed for the DotFET transistor puts heavy demands on the processing temperature of the gate dielectric which conventionally is a high-quality thermal oxide grown at temperatures above 850°C. In **Chapter 3** a study is presented of a number of dielectric layerstacks formed at temperatures below 400°C that could potentially be used as DotFET gate material. MIS capacitors were fabricated with different gatedielectric layer stacks and electrically characterized, and a comparison was made to capacitors with a SiO₂ interface layer thermally-grown at $\leq 700^{\circ}$ C. It was chosen to investigate atomic-layer deposited Al₂O₃ layers because this technique gives an excellent uniformity, conformality, precise control of the thickness of the films, and it is possible to deposit high-quality layers at low temperature. Cycles of TMA and water were applied in order to deposit the Al₂O₃ layers at a temperature of 300°C. The SiO_xN_y films with a low concentration of N were grown by inductively coupled plasma at a temperature of 250°C.

The results of capacitance-voltage and current-voltage measurements demonstrated that ALD Al_2O_3 and ICP SiO_xN_y exhibited a dielectric constant of 4 and 8, respectively. With ICP SiO_xN_y , capacitors were fabricated with low interface trap level density and low effective charge density, $< 10^{11}$ cm⁻²eV⁻¹ and $<10^{11}$ cm⁻³eV⁻¹, respectively, as well as low leakage current density ($< 10^{-7}$ A/cm²). For pure Al_2O_3 layers the interface quality to Si was poor and in order to improve this situation, a high-quality interface layer was either grown or deposited between the alumina and Si substrate. Due to the simple, fast processing and good quality of the ICP SiO_xN_y dielectric at low temperature, the SiO_xN_y was finally chosen for the fabrication of the MOSFETs and DotFETs.

The processing techniques for the fabrication of n^+p diodes with ultrashallow junction annealed by excimer laser technique and capacitors using Al₂O₃ and SiO_xN_y gate dielectrics were combined to create a simple MISFET device presented in **Chapter 4**. The fabrication of n- and p-MISFET devices was demonstrated for processing temperatures below 400°C. Four important processing steps need to be performed in order to have good electrical device performance: (*i*) for a good quality growth of ICP-SiO_xN_y, the Si surface must be cleaned immediately before the growth, achieved with a HF dip-etch; (*ii*) a dip in BHF is performed immediately before source/drain implantation to remove the native oxide on the Si surface and achieve a uniform implantation of the low-energy ions; (*iii*) a RIE process with low RF power is used for oxide etching to open the source/drain contact windows in order to reduce damage to the implanted silicon surface; (*iv*) a HF dip-etch is used to remove native oxide before source/drain metallization and ensure a low-ohmic contacting. Both n- and p-MISFET devices show good performance, especially with respect to drain current driving capability. By increasing the laser energy, the sheet resistance of source/drain regions is reduced due to higher dopant activation. The source to drain resistance was also extracted from the measurements and an increase was observed when the channel length increases. Ultrashallow source/drain junctions were activated and the TEM images show junctions of 10-12 nm deep for 1000 mJ/cm² laser energy. The overlapping of the laser spot was studied for 66% and 1% overlap. The drain current is higher for 66% overlap, again due to higher dopant activation but at a cost of some extra heating.

In Chapter 5, the demonstration of high performance n-DotFET devices, successfully fabricated by adapting the n-MISFET process to the dot structure, is presented. Transistors with a minimum gate-length dimension of 50 nm using TiN/Al(1%Si) metal-gates were processed. A SiGe dot grown by MBE was used as stressor material. The best energies for excimer laser annealing of these structures were found to be between 850 mJ/cm² and 900 mJ/cm². E-beam lithography was used to define nanoscale gate dimensions in the central region of the dot and a 1-µm-wide gate finger is defined to contact this narrow gate. Thus a part of the current between the source and drain flows around the dot structure rather than through the silicon channel over the SiGe dot. Despite this effect, it is still possible to determine the influence of the strain on the drain current. The electrical characteristics show a drain current enhancement between 2% and 35%. The simulations show enhancements due to the strained Si layer of 20% - 22%. The small dimensions of the channel result in a large spread of measured characteristics, but nevertheless, the impact of the strain Si layer can be indentified. On a test sample the SiGe dot was removed using ammonium hydroxide, hydrogen peroxide and deionized water, which shows the possibility of fabricating a D-DotFET device in the future. Simulations of D-DotFETs and DotFETs fabricated on SOI substrates were done and the results show a reduction of self-heating for D-DotFET devices.

Conclusions to the thesis are given in **Chapter 6**. The two most important results of this thesis are the demonstration of the applicability of (1) SiGe dots as stressor material and (2) full-melt high-power laser annealing as a technique for lowering the source/drain series resistance in a manner self-aligned to the gate.

Samenvatting

door Cleber Biasotto

Het in dit proefschrift gepresenteerde werk is uitgevoerd in het kader van het Europese Sith Framework Program (FP6) project "Verwijderbare-dot hoge snelheid in veld-effect transistoren voor Si geïntegreerde schakelingen", aangeduid als het D-DotFET project. Het project had als doel het realiseren van strain-versterkte mobiliteit in CMOS transistors door de overdracht van strain van een zelf-geassembleerde germanium dot naar het kanaal van een transistor boven de dot. Het oorspronkelijke idee was om de Ge dot te verwijderen onder het kanaal na het aanbrengen van de gate, zodat de gate-stack dan ook dient om de kanaalbrug te stabiliseren en voor het behoud van de strain geïntroduceerd in het kanaal door de Ge dot. Het voordeel van het gebruik van een SiGe dot als bron voor strain is de schaalbaarheid naar gate-dimensies tot wel afmetingen zo klein als 10 nm, wat niet voor de hand ligt bij momenteel gebruikte methoden. Bovendien biedt de D-DotFET structuur voordelen voor het elektrostatische en elektrothermische gedrag van MOS transistoren. Bijvoorbeeld, SOI devices met volledig uitgeput kanaal zijn een oplossing voor korte kanaaleffecten, maar het isolerende oxide onder het device introduceert een thermisch beheersingsprobleem. Dit probleem is opgelost in Silicium-op-Niets (SON) devices omdat het isolerende gebied alleen onder de gate te vinden is, met de source en drain gebieden nog steeds verbonden met het thermisch geleidende bulk silicium. De D-DotFET lijkt op de SON transistor, maar met het voordeel van strain-verbeterde transistor versterking en snelheid. Op deze manier combineert de D-DotFET vier potentiele verbeteringen: verbeterde prestaties door strain schaalbaarheid naar toekomstige ~ 10 nm CMOS generaties, onderdrukking van korte kanaal effecten en goede warmte geleiding.

Binnen het DotFET project, is onderzoek gedaan in verschillende gebieden om te verzekeren dat strikte eisen aan uniformiteit, reproduceerbaarheid en betrouwbaarheid zouden aan voldaan kunnen worden als het D-DotFET concept overgebracht zou worden naar geavanceerd CMOS. Het groeien van silicium germanium (SiGe) dots met de noodzakelijk hoge Ge inhoud is het eerst ontwikkeld, en uniformiteit en reproduceerbaarheid werden naar een hoog niveau van perfectie gebracht. De strain van zowel kale als overgroeide dots is zeer uitgebreid experimenteel en theoretisch geanalyseerd. Vervolgens werd de strain die overgebracht kon worden naar geëvalueerd het kanaal van een MOSFET in termen van mobiliteitsverbetering middels device simulaties. Tenslotte werd de daadwerkelijke integratie van dots gedemonstreerd in een n-MOSFET onderzoeksproces van lage complexiteit, welk speciaal is aangepast voor deze toepassing, wat het onderwerp is van dit proefschrift.

De Dimes cleanrooms zijn niet toegerust om een state-of-the-art CMOS proces op te zetten om het D-DotFET concept te onderzoeken. Echter, de beschikbare expertise en apparatuur waren geschikt voor het realiseren van meer geavanceerd processtappen, zodat excimer laser gloeien kon worden geïmplementeerd om het conventioneel rapid thermal anneal te vervangen en de metalen gate een vervanging kon zijn voor de standaard polysilicium gate. Bovendien werd het schrijven van de ~100 nm gate patronen lithografie door uitgevoerd met e-beam de projectpartner Forschungszentrum Jülich. Om zoveel mogelijke nanoschaal lithografie stappen te voorkomen werd een geometrie met grote source-drain contactgebieden ontworpen, zodat slechts één processtap, namelijk de ~100 nm gate, uitgevoerd hoefde te worden met e-beam.

Omdat het doel in eerste instantie het verifiëren van de strain-verbeterde versterking geïnduceerd door de dot was, werd bovendien besloten om de transistor fabricage significant te versimpelen door de dot te behouden tijdens de gehele process. Een "DotFET" in plaats van een "D-DotFET" werd daarom gefabriceerd. Dit betekent dat alleen lage temperatuur fabricage stappen uitgevoerd konden worden na de fabricage van de dot, om het mixen van Si en Ge en de bijbehoorend minderen van de strain te voorkomen. Dit werd gerealiseerd in een speciale n-MOSFET proces waarin de temperatuur onder de 400 °C werd gehouden na epitaxie door gebruik van lage temperatuur gate diëlektrica en een metalen gate self-aligned op de gedoteerde en laser gegloeide source/drain regio's.

De gebruikte SiGe dots voor de DotFET fabricage werden gegroeid in een zelf assemblerende Stranski-Krastanow modus die het mogelijk maakt enkel-kristallijne dots van SiGe te groeien in drie dimensies op vooraf gedefinieerde seedholes. Onder passende condities is deze groei defectvrij en kan eenvoudig worden geschaald naar kleinere dimensies. De 3D groei van de SiGe staat een hogere concentratie van Ge toe in de dot voordat kristal dislocaties vormen dan de groei van 2D SiGe lagen met eenzelfde dikte. Des te kleiner de SiGe dot is, des te hoger is het Ge gehalte dat kan worden behouden zonder defect formatie, zodoende kan een grotere strain worden uitgeoefend op elke Si laag gegroeid over de dot. Voor de transistoren beschreven in dit proefschrift werden de dots gegroeid met MBE op een regelmatig seedhole patroon van submicron periodiciteit geëtst in het Si. De groei is in detail onderzocht om de optimale groei condities en seedhole patronen te bepalen om een dot-grootte en strain niveau geschikt zouden zijn voor het construeren van een MOSFET over het centrum van de dot, zodat de biaxiale strain gebruikt kon worden voor kanaal mobiliteitsverbetering.

Voor een uniforme en reproduceerbare SiGe dot groei werden uitstekende resultaten behaald met een locatie-gecontroleerde groei methode waarbij grote, regelmatige, reeksen van seedholes zijn aangebracht op een anders vlak Si-substraat. In dit werk werden zowel i-line als e-beam lithografie gebruikt om zulke gaten aan te brengen in (100) Si plakken. In het geval van e-beam lithografie is een erg goede controle over de seedhole posities en afmetingen behaald en de resulterende dots zijn extreem regelmatig. De huidige DotFET fabricage vereist een dot afmeting welk een gate met een lengte van ~100 nm kan accommoderen. Voor dit doel waren de meest geschikte seedhole reeksen degene met een periodiciteit van 800 nm die een maximale dot diameter van 230 nm leverde. EBL werd gebruikt voor deze configuratie in het device fabricage, terwijl analyse van de dot eigenschappen ook is uitgevoerd op monsters bewerkt met optische lithografie. Het groeien van de dots op het seedhole patroon begint met de depositie van een Si buffer laag welk het oppervlak gladder maakt. De dots werden dan gegroeid op 720 °C uit een puur Ge-bron.

In hoofdstuk 2 wordt een simpel, lage temperatuur fabricage methode voor het behalen van hoogwaardige zeer ondiepe n+p junctiediodes gedemonstreerd. Een 5 keV As+ implantatie is geaktiveren door middel van excimer laser annealen (ELA). Recent is veel onderzoek gedaan met ELA technieken omdat de extreem korte anneal tijden de potentieel transient enhanced diffusie effecten elimineren, hoge niveaus van dotering activatie behalen en abrupte juncties geven. Vergeleken met conventioneel snel thermisch anneal procedures biedt ELA het voordeel van een goede controle over junctie diepte. Een reductie van de verticale implantatie omvang kan dienen als een directe methode om ook de junctie diepte te verminderen. Het laser verwerkingsonderzoek in het verleden uitgevoerd bij Dimes is gedaan uit noodzaak voor het verkrijgen van goede kwaliteit diodes in integratie situaties waarbij alleen een lage temperatuur is toegestaan zoals het silicium-op-glas proces, in plaats van gefocust op de fabricage van source en drain gebieden voor CMOS.

Met respect tot het bulk lateraal-uniforme deel van de diode weg van de rand is het belangrijk dat het Si oppervlak dat gedoteerd moet worden glad is en vrij van natuurlijk oxide voor de implantatie. De dotering moet zo ondiep zijn dat het smelt gebied het gehele gedoteerde gebied omvat, maar diep genoeg om te voorkomen dat laser geïnduceerde Si-oppervlakte effecten het onderliggende metallische junctie gebied beïnvloeden. Gekantelde 5 keV implantaties kan de uiteindelijke junctiediepte reduceren tot minder dan 20 nm. Met respect tot de rand van de diode is de sleutel tot het behalen van diodes van goede kwaliteit de beëindiging van de metallurgische junctie op een oxide interface van goede kwaliteit. In de gepresenteerde experimenten wordt dit behaald door het gebruik van een dunne laag thermisch oxide om het Si te bedekken onder een dikkere lage temperatuur isolatielaag. Het oxide op de grens is een 30 nm dunne laag thermisch oxide, welk nog steeds dik genoeg is om excessieve verbreding van het contact gat te voorkomen gedurende de dip-etch die wordt gebruikt om het natuurlijk oxide te verwijderen voor metallisatie. Na het groeien van de isolatie oxide worden alle proces stappen uitgevoerd op temperaturen onder de 400 °C. Een reflecterend masker van Al wordt toegepast om het laser smelten van het silicium te lokaliseren tot het gewenste diode gebied en om de rand te beschermen. De gekantelde implantatie vergroot ook de overlap van de oxide isolatie met de diode rand wat het proces meer robuust maakt en rand lekkage vermindert. De volledigheid van de laser smelt aan de rand hang af van de thermische conductiviteit van de omgeving. Minder smelten aan de rand ten opzichte van de bulk is geïdentificeerd door middel van TEM analyse van de diodes. Dit kan een bron zijn van extra rand lekkage waarmee rekening moet worden gehouden. De beste resultaten zijn hier behaald met een implantatie van 2x1015 cm-2 bij een helling van 30°. Voor diodes met een oppervlak van 80 µm2 geeft dit een idealiteitsfactor van 1.04 en een speerstromslekkage bij 2 V van ~ 10-5 A/cm2.

De lage temperatuur fabricage benodigd voor de DotFET transistors stelt hoge eisen aan de fabricage temperatuur van het gate diëlektricum welk normaal een hoge kwaliteit thermisch oxide is, gegroeid bij temperaturen boven de 850 °C. In hoofdstuk 3 wordt een onderzoek gepresenteerd naar een aantal diëlektrische lagen gemaakt bij temperaturen lager dan 400 °C die potentieel gebruikt kunnen worden als DotFET gate materiaal. MIS capaciteiten werden gefabriceerd met verschillende gate-diëlektricum lagen en elektrisch gekarakteriseerd. Een vergelijking is gemaakt met capaciteiten met een SiO2 grenslaag thermisch gegroeid op \leq 700 $^{\circ}$ C. Er werd gekozen om atomic-layer-deposited (ALD) Al2O3 te onderzoeken omdat deze techniek een uitstekende uniformiteit, conformiteit, accurate controle over de dikte van de film levert, en het mogelijk is om hoge kwaliteit lagen op lage temperatuur te deponeren. Cycli van TMA en water werden gebruikt om Al2O3 lagen te deponeren bij een temperatuur van 300 °C. Ook SiOxNy lagen met een lage N-concentratie zijn gegroeid met een inductief gekoppeld plasma bij een temperatuur van 250 °C.

De resultaten van capaciteit-spanning en stroom-spanning metingen demonstreren dat ALD Al2O3 en ICP SiOxNy een diëlektrische constante van respectievelijk 8 en 4 vertonen. Met ICP SiOxNy werden capaciteiten gefabriceerd met een laag interface state dichtheid en een lage effectieve ladingsdichtheid, respectievelijk <1011 cm-2eV-1 en < 1011 cm-3eV-1, als ook een lage lekstroomdichtheid (< 10-7 A/cm2). Voor pure Al2O3 lagen was de interface kwaliteit naar Si slecht en om dit te verbeteren werd een hoge-kwaliteit grenslaag gegroeid of gedeponeerd tussen het aluminiumoxide en Si substraat. Dankzij de eenvoudige en snelle fabricage en goede kwaliteit van het ICP SiOxNy diëlektricum bij lage temperatuur werd deze uiteindelijk gekozen voor de fabricage van de MOSFETs en DotFETs.

De verwerkingstechnieken voor de fabricage van n+p diodes met zeer ondiepe juncties annealed met de excimer laser techniek en capaciteiten gebruik makend van Al2O3 en SiOxNy gate diëlektricums werden gecombineerd om een simpel MISFET device zoals gepresenteerd in Hoofdstuk 4 te creëren. De fabricage van n- en p-MISFET devices is gedemonstreerd voor verwerkingstemperaturen onder de 400 °C. Vier belangrijke processtappen moeten worden uitgevoerd om goede elektrische device prestaties te verkrijgen: (i) voor een goede groei kwaliteit van ICP SiOxNy moet het Si oppervlak direct voor de groei worden schoongemaakt, dit is behaald met een HF dip-ets; (ii) een onderdompeling in BHF wordt uitgevoerd direct voor de source/drain dotering om het natuurlijk oxide op het Si oppervlak te verwijderen en een uniforme dotering van de lage energie ionen te behalen; (iii) een RIE proces met laag RF vermogen wordt gebruikt voor het etsen van het oxide voor de source/drain contact openingen, om de schade aan het gedoteerde silicium oppervlak te verminderen; (iv) een HF dip-ets wordt gebruikt om het natuurlijk oxide te verwijderen voor de source/drain metallisatie om een laag ohms contact te verzekeren.

Zowel n- en p-MISFET devices vertonen goede karakteristikken, in het bijzonder met betrekking tot de drain stroom driving capabiliteit. Door middel van het verhogen van de laser energie wordt de sheet weerstand van de source/drain gebieden gereduceerd door de hogere doteringsactivatie. De source naar drain weerstand was ook geëxtraheerd uit de metingen en een toename was geobserveerd wanneer de kanaallengte toenam. Zeer ondiepe source/drain juncties zijn geactiveerd en de TEM beelden toonden juncties van 10-12 nm diep voor een laser energie van 1000 mJ/cm2. Het overlappen van de laser spot is bestudeerd voor 66% en 1% overlap. De drain stroom is hoger voor 66% overlap, opnieuw door de hogere doteringsactivatie, maar ten koste van wat extra verhitting.

In hoofdstuk 5 worden n-DotFET devices met goede prestaties, succesvol gefabriceerd door het aanpassen van het n-MISFET proces aan de dot structuur, gepresenteerd. Transistoren met een minimale gate-lengte van 50 nm gebruik makend van TiN/Al(1%Si) gates zijn gemaakt. Een SiGe dot gegroeid door middel van MBE is gebruikt als stress inducerend materiaal. De beste energie voor excimer laser annealen van deze structuren bleek tussen 850 mJ/cm2 en 900 mJ/cm2 te zijn. E-beam lithografie was gebruikt om de nanoschaal gate dimensies te definiëren in het centrale gebied van de dot, en een 1 µm brede gate vinger werd gedefinieerd om deze nauwe gate te contacteren. Op deze manier vloeit een deel van de stroom tussen source en drain om de dot structuur hen in plaats van door het silicium kanaal over de SiGe dot. Ondanks dit effect is het nog steeds mogelijk om de invloed van de strain op de drain stroom te bepalen. De elektrisch karakterisatie toont een drain stroom verbetering tussen de 2% en 35%. De simulaties tonen een verbetering door de strained Si laag van 20-22%. De kleine dimensies van het kanaal resulteren in een grote spreiding van de gemeten karakteristieken, maar toch kan de invloed van de strained Si worden Bij een testmonster was de SiGe dot verwijderd door geïdentificeerd. middel van ammoniumhydroxide, waterstofperoxide en gedeïoniseerd water, waaruit blijkt dat het mogelijk is om een D-DotFET device in de toekomst te fabriceren. Simulaties van D-DotFETs en DotFETs gefabriceerd op SOI substraten zijn uitgevoerd en de resultaten tonen een reductie van de zelfverhitting voor D-DotFET devices.

De conclusies van dit proefschrift worden gegeven in hoofdstuk 6. De twee belangrijkste resultaten van dit proefschrift zijn de demonstratie van de toepasbaarheid van (1) SiGe dots als stress inducerend materiaal en (2) volledige-smelt hoog-vermogen laser-annealing is een techniek om de source/drain serie weerstand te verlagen bij een self-aligned gate.

List of publications

Journal papers

- Hrauda, Nina; Zhang, Jianjun; Wintersberger, Eugen; Etzelstorfer, Tanja; Mandl, Bernhard; Stangl, Julian; Carbone, Dina; Holı, Václav; Jovanović, Vladimir; **Biasotto, Cleber**; Nanver, Lis; Moers, Juergen; Grützmacher, Detlev; Bauer, Günther. "*X-ray nanodiffraction on a single SiGe quantum dot inside a functioning field-effect transistor*" Nanoletters, 11, p. 2875-2880, 2011. (Paper featured in Nature Nanotechnology's research highlight section of July 2011)

- L.K. Nanver, V. Jovanović, <u>C. Biasotto</u>, J. Moers, D. Grützmacher, J.J. Zhang, N. Hrauda, M. Stoffel, F. Pezzoli, O.G. Schmidt, L. Miglio, H. Kosina, A. Marzegalli, G. Vastola, G. Mussler, J. Stangl, G. Bauer, J. van der Cingel and E. Bonera. "*Integration of MOSFETs with SiGe dots as stressor material*", Solid-State Electronics, Volume 60, Issue 1, p. 75-83, June 2011.

- V. Jovanović, <u>C. Biasotto</u>, L. K. Nanver, J. Moers, D. Grutzmacher, J. Gerharz, G. Mussler, J. van der Cingel, J. Zhang, G. Bauer, O. G. Schmidt, and L. Miglio *"N-Channel MOSFETs fabricated on SiGe dots for Strain-Enhanced Mobility"*, IEEE Electron Device Letters, vol. 99, p.1-3, August 2010.

- <u>Cleber Biasotto</u>, Viktor Gonda, Lis K. Nanver, Tom L. M. Scholtes, Johan van der Cingel, Daniel Vidal, Vladimir Javanović, "*Low-Complexity Full-Melt Laser-Anneal Process for Fabrication of Low-Leakage Implanted Ultrashallow Junctions*", Journal of Electronic Materials, (accepted for publication).

Conference proceedings

- Jovanović, V, <u>Biasotto, C</u>, Moers, J, Grutzmacher, D, Zhang, J, Schmidt, OG, Miglio, L, Kosina, H, Marzegalli, A, Vastola, G, Mussler, G, Stangl, J, Bauer, G, Cingel, J van der, Bonera, E & Nanver, LK, "*n-channel MOSFETs fabricated on self assembled SiGe dots for strain enhanced moblity*", STW-SAFE 2010 Conference Proceeding, Veldhoven, p. 101-104, 2010.

- Jovanović, V, <u>**Biasotto, C</u>**, Nanver, LK, Moers, J, Grutzmacher, D, Gerharz, J, Mussler, G, Cingel, J van der, Zhang, J, Jianjun, Z, Bauer, G, Schmidt, OG & Miglio, L, "*MOSFETS on self assembled SiGe dots with strain enhanced mobility*" 10th IEEE International Conference on Solid-State and Integrated Circuit Technology (ICSICT 2010), Shanghai, China, p 926928, 2010.</u>

- Nanver L.K., <u>Biasotto C.</u>, Jovanović V, Moers J., Gruetzmacher D., Zhang J., Bauer G., Schmidt O.G., Miglio L., Kosina H., Marzegalli A., Vastola G., Mussler G., Hrauda N., Stangl J., Cingel J. van der, Pezzoli F. & Bonera E., "*SiGe dots as stressor material for strained Si devices*", (invited paper) 5th International SiGe Technology and Device Meeting, Stockholm, Sweden. May 24-26 2010.

- Agata Šakić, Yann Civale, Lis K. Nanver, <u>Cleber Biasotto</u>, Vladimir Jovanović "*Al-mediated Solid-Phase Epitaxy of Silicon-On-Insulator*", 2010 MRS Spring Meeting, April 5-9, San Francisco, CA, 2010.

- Hrauda N, Etzelstorfer, T, Strangl, J, Carbone, D, Bauer, G., <u>Biasotto, C</u>, Jovanović, V, Nanver, LK, Moers, J & Gruetzmacher, D, "*Field effect transistor devices based on strained Si channels above buried 2D periodic SiGe quantum dots*", Materials Research Society (MRS) spring meeting, San Francisco, USA. April 5-9, 2010.

- <u>Cleber Biasotto</u>, Vladimir Jovanović, Viktor Gonda, Johan van der Cingel, Silvana Milosavljević, Lis K. Nanver "*Downscaling of Al/Si-gate MOSFETs with self-aligned laser-annealed source/drain junctions*", Workshop on Semiconductor Advances for Future Electronics and Sensors, p. 189-192, 26-27 November 2009.

- L. K. Nanver, V. Jovanović, <u>C. Biasotto</u>, J. van der Cingel, S. Milosavljević "*Application of Laser Annealing in the EU FP6 Project D-DotFET*", 17th IEEE International Conference on Advanced Thermal Processing of Semiconductors, September 29 - October 2, RTP 2009.

- <u>Cleber Biasotto</u>, Viktor Gonda, Lis K. Nanver, Johan van der Cingel, Vladimir Jovanović, "*Laser Annealing of self-Aligned As+ Implants in Contact Window for UltraShallow Junction Formation*", In: Symposium on Microelectronics Technology and Devices, 2009, Natal-RN, Brazil. Electrochemical Society Proceedings, p. 19-27, 2009.

- <u>Cleber Biasotto</u>, Vladimir Jovanović, Viktor Gonda, Johan van der Cingel, Silvana Milosavljević, Lis K. Nanver, "*Integration of Laser-Annealed Junctions in a Low-Temperature High-k Metal-Gate MISFET*", Ultimate Integration on Silicon Conference (ULIS-2009), Aachen – Germany . p. 181-184, 18-20 March 2009.

- Miloš Popadić, Lis K. Nanver, <u>Cleber Biasotto</u>, Viktor Gonda, and Johan van der Cingel, "*Ultrashallow Doping by Excimer Laser Drive-in of RPCVD Surface Deposited Arsenic Monolayers*", 16th IEEE International Conference on Advanced Thermal Processing of Semiconductors RTP 2008, Las Vegas-NV, USA. Proceedings, p. 141-146, October 2008.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express in these last pages of the book my gratitude to all who gave me the possibility to complete the three years of research on "Disponsable Dot Field Effect Transistor for High Speed Si Integrated Circuits (D-DotFET project)" at clean room facilities of the Delft Institute of Microsystems and Nanoelectronics (Dimes), Laboratory of Electronic Components Technology and Materials (ECTM) - Delft University of technology – TUDelft. I really have enjoyed my time here and many people have contributed to this.

First of all, very special thanks go to my wife Andrea and my daughter Stephanie. This thesis is dedicated to them. They have sacrificed their lives for myself and provided unconditional love and care. I love them so much, and I would not have finished this work without them. Thank you for all support, for constant inspiration and understanding that kept me focused and motivated during this time.

I express my gratitude to my promotor, Porf. Dr. Lis K. Nanver for giving me the opportunity to work on the D-DotFET project and to participate of the Silicon Device Integration group, for the constructive criticism during project evaluation, encouragement, for her daily supervision and fruitful discussions. I hope one day we can work together again.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Lina Sarro and Prof. Dr. Kees Beenakker for their effort in managing an excellent atmosphere at Dimes.

I am very grateful to all the staff and engineers of the Dimes: Bert Goudena, Johan van der Cingel, Charles de Boer, Alex van den Bogaard, Jan

Groeneweg, Koos van Hartingsveldt, Mario Laros, Hugo Schellevis, John Slabbekoorn, Loek Steenweg, Cassan Visser, Wim van der Vlist, Wim Wien, Robert Verhoeven, Wiebe de Boer, Johannes Wingerden, Ruud Klerks, Jan Cornelis Wolff, Dr. Henk van Zeijl.

To Silvana Milosavljevic and Tom Scholtes, I would like to express my special thanks for introducing me to work in the cleanroom and to believe in my work.

I want to thank Marian Roozenburg-de Bree, Marysia Lagendijk-Korzeniewski, Bianca Knot, Tamara den Hartog, Roob Peeters, and Rosario Salazar Lozano for the excellent administrative support.

I would like to thank my friends and colleagues at the TUDelft. My former office mates Dr. Jaber Derakhshandeh and Dr. Tunkay Alan. My current office mates Gianpaolo Lorito and Dr. Milos Popadic, as well as Daniel Vidal, Francesco Vitale, Amir Sammak, Dr. Luigi La Spina, Dr. Francesco Sarubbi, Dr. Lei Gu, Dr. Yann Civale, Dr. Viktor Gonda, Marko Mihailovic, Dr. Nobuyuki Matsuki, Bruno Morana, Dr. Gregory Pandraud, Dr. Hoa Pham, Fabio Santagata, Daniel Tajari Mofrad, Dr. Hamses van der Toorn, Theodoros Zoumpoulidis, Dr. Alessandro Baiano, Agata Sakic, Dr. Luigi Mele, Jia Wei, Parastoo Maleki, Vijayekumar Rajaraman, Sharma Mokkapati, Benjamin Mimoun, Dr. Samy Strola, Michael Wank, Weiman Chim, and Thomas Moh.

Dr. Vladimir Jovanovic, thank you so much for your help during the project and scientific discussions.

I am grateful to Peter Swart, Sebastiaan Maas, and again Dr. Francesco Sarubbi for the assistance in the measurement room.

I wish to thank Sten Vollebregt and Bert Goudena for translating the summary and the propositions of this thesis to Dutch.

For the successful completion of this thesis, I would like to thank the people involved on the D-DotFET project: Forschungszentrum Jülich (Germany), Leibniz Institute for Solid State and Materials Research Dresden (IFW Dresden - Germany), Johannes Kepler University Linz (Austria), University of Milano Bicocca (Italy), Technical University Wien (Austria), and STMicroelectronics (France). Thanks to "Disposable Dot Field Effect Transistor for High Speed Si Integrated Circuits" project in the Sixth Framework Programme of the European Community.

I would like to thank Prof. dr. ir. J. W. Slotboom, Prof. dr. Ir. R. Dekker, Prof. dr. D. Grützmacher, Prof. dr. Y. Zhuang, Prof. dr. J.A. Diniz, and Dr. ir. V. Jovanović for their participation in my promotion committee.

Thanks to Michel dos Santos Sores, Elisangela Kanacilo and van Leeuwen family to have welcomed me in Delft when I arrived.

I am thankful to my friends from Brazil especially Fabio Cavarsan, Andre Galhardo and Carlos Lima for the supporting me the whole way and encouragement.

I would like to thank and to my supervisor in Brazil, Prof. dr. José Alexandre Diniz for providing advice and support in so many areas.

A very special tank goes to my mom and my sister for their support and encouragement. My sister has been my best friend all my life. Thanks a lot for all help and to take care of my personal life in Brazil.

Finally, thank to all whom I may have forgotten. I hope you will forgive me if you do not find your name. I am really sorry!

About the author

Cleber Biasotto was born in Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil in 1976. He received the B.S. degree in electrical engineering from the Paulista University (UNIP), Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil in 2002 and M.Sc. degree in electrical engineering (Microelectronics) from the State University of Campinas (UNICAMP), Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil in 2005. His master thesis concerned in obtaining and characterization the nitride, oxide and silicon oxynitride thin films deposited by high density plasma for application in Microelectromechanical Systems (MEMS). Since 2003 he has been with the School of Electrical and Computer Engineering (FEEC), Department of Semiconductors, Instruments and Photonics (DSIF) and the Center of Semiconductor Components (CCS) at UNICAMP. In June 2005, he joined the CCS as a PhD candidate and in February 2007 he joined as a Researcher fellow the Laboratory of Electronic Components, Technology and Materials (ECTM) at the Delft University of Technology (TUDelft), Delft Institute of Microsystems and Nanoelectronics (Dimes), Delft, The Netherlands. In April 2009 he joined the Silicon Device Integration group of Prof. dr. Lis K. Nanver, as a PhD candidate. His research focused on low temperature processing of MOSFET devices, laser annealing and silicon germanium devices. This work was financed by European Sixth Framework Program FP6 project "Disposable Dot Field Effect Transistor for High Speed Si Integrated Circuits". Since December 2010, he joined the Semikron Semicondutores Ltda, São Paulo, Brazil as a Development Engineer responsible for Research & Development of power silicon devices.